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In what way then did it differ from a boarding
house, you ask. And I answer, in almost every
way. . . . When you came home at night instead of
sitting down to a grumpy boardinghouse table
surrounded by the usual boardinghouse types, you
ate your dinner seated between a Socialist and a
Single Tax man, the one perhaps a college
professor, the other a carpenter, or perhaps at
the elbow of an aspiring young writer, or beside
an artist who was getting ready to startle the
world.

Edith Summers Kelley

"Helicon Hall: An Experiment In Living"
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ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION
NOT YOUR USUAL BOARDINGHOUSE TYPES
UPTON SINCIAIR’S HELICON HOME COLONY

1906-1907

In October 1906 Upton Sinclair and twenty—thréé adults
and children established Helicon Home Colony in Englewood,
New Jersey as an experiment in "cooperative distribution."®
The purpose of this study is to reconstruct the history of
the colony and to appraise its impact on the lives of the
individuals involved as well as to provide a missing piece
in the history of American communes.

Pledged to solving "problems in domestic economy, " the
colony based its organization on Charlotte Perkins Gilman’s
critique of the isolated home. Colonists lived together in
a former boys school and hired servants to handle cooking,
laundry, and cleaning, striving to treat their employees as
professionals and equals. With the exception of the mothers
who jointly cared for the children, most members did not

work for the colony. Their ultimate goal was to build
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individual kitchenless cottages on the Englewood property.

For five months more than seventy-five men, women, and
children made Helicon their home for varying lengths of
time. Their efforts received wide press coverage and
attracted the attention of William James and John Dewey in
addition to numerous curiosity-seekers. On March 16, 1907 a
fire destroyed the main building, and the colony disbanded.

Because colony records were lost in the fire, this
history of Helicon Home Colony was produced from newspaper
and magazine reports, government records, and reminiscences
and personal papers of colonists and visitors. In addition
to a narrative history there is an appendix contaiﬁing
information on the lives of more than fifty adult colony
residents.

The major conclusions of this study are that Helicon
Home Colony is typical of colonies founded between 1860 and
1914 in its role as both mission and retreat; may be unique
in its attempts to structure a year-round colony based on
the writings of Charlotte Perkins Gilman; and most closely
resembles single tax colonies in its emphasis on individual
rights and responsibilities in the collective environment
and nurture of equality between husbands and wives.
Additionally, Sinclair’s interest in reordering the family
home--and particularly in communal child care--is shown to
remain consistent from early adulthood through his

California gubernatorial campaign in 1934.
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PREFACE

The 1990s career woman’s cry of "I need a wife!" may
bring a rueful smile to the faces of many overworked
parents, but it reflects a dilemma that has been plaguing
women since they stepped outside the family home: who takes
care of the children and the household responsibilities when
both father and mother have interests beyond the domestic
circle? The answer becomes especially crucial as more
mothers--especially those with preschool children--enter the
work force from necessity rather than choice.

As middle-class husbands and wives pursued new patterns
of living at the beginning of the twentieth century, they
often found themselves setting up house in cities
unsympathetic to their changing needs. Both uncomfortable
with hiring servants and diséévering the pool of
well-qualified people shrinking, some young couples were
open Fo new ways of living that eased their domestic burdens
whilé maintaining the well-run home they still desired for
themselves and their children.

Author Upton Sinclair faced such a dilemma as he tried

ix
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to manage a home, research and write, and care for an
unhappy wife and ill child. His solution was to gather
like-minded young professionals together to demonstrate the
practicality of what he called cooperative distribution. By
living cooperatively, he reasoned, one hundred families
could drastically reduce the expense of running separate
residences, thus ensuring that enough money was available to
hire scientifically-trained cooks and kindergarten teachers
who could be treated as equals. He described his dream of
home in a June 14, 1906 article in The Independent and
struck a responsive chord among other young men and women.
In fall 1906, flush with thirty thousand dollars frém sales
of The Jungle--his expose of the Chicago meatpacking
industry--Sinclair helped purchase Helicon Hall, a former
boys school in Englewood, New Jersey, for their "home
colony."

From October 1906 to March 16, 1907, more than seventy-
five people participated in a modified version of Sinclair’s
initial vision. The experiment ended abruptly when an'early
morning fire completely desfroyed Helicon Home Colony,
killing one employee and leaving the colonists without
clothes or belongings.

Despite its brief existence, Helicon Home Colony
provides an excellent opportunity to examine the ways in
which a group of educated professionals dealt with the

stresses facing middle-class America at the turn of the

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



century. Often overshadowed by Sinclair's newfound
celebrity, these writers, poets, and college professors,
many of whom went on to achieve their own success, struggled
with their own careers and families. For some, the
experience proved a brief exercise in nontraditional living;
for others, it marked a continuing search for community.

This dissertation presents a detailed history of
Helicon Home Colony, examining its policies, organization,
daily life, and membership and comparing it with other
American communitarian groups. Themes important to Helicon
are education and child care, domestic and sexual relations,
and the servant/master dichotomy. As colony impreéério,
Upton Sinclair becomes a primary focus of this study, his
activities demonstrating the difficulties of reconciling
personal and theoretical concerns.

Sinclair had a broad communitarian tradition from which
to draw as he searched for a solution tc his domestic
problems. Familiar with nineteenth-century colonies, he
however had no intention of establishing a separate, self-
sufficient colony. Nor did he view his efforts as
contributing to the development of the cooperative
commonwealth, although he believed society was heading in
that direction and admired the living arrangements projected
for the twenty-first century by Edward Bellamy in Looking
Backward, 2000-1887 (1888). Rather, his immediate

inspiration came from feminist-economist Charlotte Perkins

xi
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Gilman--herself an ardent supporter of Bellamy--who argued
against the tyranny of the isolated home.

Nevertheless, Helicon Home Colcny can be seen as part
of the continuum of American communal experiments. 1In
choosing to live communally, the Helicon colonists were not
unique among late nineteenth and early twentieth éentury
Americans. Across the country more communal ventures than
have previously been recognized were launched. Some, such
as Fairhope, Alabama, and Arden, Delaware, had roots in
definite political or religious philosophies--Henry George’s
single tax, in these two examples. Others, including
Helicon Home Colony, were without an overriding vié&point
other than the value of living cooperatively.

By the late 1800s, a few middle-class families had
experimented with cooperative dining and housecleaning
services that took advantage of growing household technology
while addressing the servant question and budgetary
concerns. Thus, while Helicon Home Colony members
established a separate physical entity outside the city,
their efforts were not completely removed from the solutions
attenmpted by others.

Helicon Home Colony described itself as a "home club,
or a hotel which is owned by its guests and run by them for

their own: benefit."' wWhat separated the colony from the

'Helicon Home Colony, illustrated brochure, January
1907, Upton Sinciair Collection, Lilly Library, Indiana
University, Bloomington, Ind.

xii
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standard boardinghouse, however, was the atmosphere and
sense of purpose that permeated its activities. As noted by
Laurence Vesey,

the step of creating an intentional community . . .

implies an effort to construct an alternative social
order from the ground up. Every aspect of life and

thought tends to become self-consciously re-examined in
such a venture. Community building is no less than an
act of internal secession. All forms of this act take
on a peculiar interest in a society which has so often
captured the loyalties of its members merely by
offering them a vision of individual economic reward.?
Moving away from the financial independence and
isolation that characterized many nineteenth century
communes, Helicon Home Colony provided an economic, social,
and intellectual haven without cutting off members’ ties to
the outside world. As such it closely resembles urban
communes established since the 1960s. Like their Helicon
counterparts, these new communalists value the financial
advantages of living together as much as "the opportunity
for forming deep and meaningful human relationships."3
Important to communal history, Helicon Home Colony also
is significant in and of itself. Initiated by an
author/reformer who recently had earned recognition

throughout the country, it served as a lightning rod for

those interested in issues ranging from vegetarianism and

?Laurence Vesey, The Communal Experience: Anarchist and

M §tica‘ ommunities in Twentieth-Century America (Chicago:
University of Chicago Press, 1978), 76-77.

3patricia Baum, Another Way of Life: The Story of

Communal Lijving (New York: G. P. Putnam’s Sons, 1973), 14.
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single tax to spiritualism and dress reform. Despite the
almost carnival-like atmosphere that permeated the early
planning meetings, the group that ultimately formed the
colony was surprisingly single-minded in its optimism and
commitment to Sinclair’s vision. Together they set in
motion an experiment that not only answered members’
financial concerns but enriched their emotional and social
lives. Their activities "confronted the Victorian world at
its center [and] . . . represented the Progressive challenge
in miniature." Rcbert Fogarty’s documentation of late
nineteenth and early twentieth century communal experiments
provides the framework for placing Helicon Home Coiény_
within communitarian history. His work also provides a
further rationale for the focus of this study. He writes
that communitarian leaders are "all too often . . . seen
only as fragments, as figures who emerged because there was
a communal society and then receded when the colony failed."
He asks:
how are we to assess these communities as embodiments
of new ideas, even though their life span may have been
short? Or, more important, what impact did such
colonies have on the lives of their members, even if

their stay was brief?®

Such questions must be asked of individual colony

‘qurence Kaplan, "A Utopia During the Progressive Era:
The Helicon Home Colony, 1906-1907," American Studies 25
(Fall 1984): 60.

Robert S. Fogarty, Dictionary of American Communal and

Utopian History (Westport, Conn.: Greenwood rress, 1980),
244.
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members, especially in ventures such as Helicon Home Colony
in which a number of strong personalities contributed to its
milieu.

First and foremost among the colonists was of course
Upton Sinclair. Initially known only for a literary hoax he
had perpetrated to sell The Journal of Arthur Stirling, the
twenty-eight-year-old author had "aimed for the public’s

heart, and by accident I hit it in the stomach" with The

‘Jungle.® The novel brought not only financial success but

notoriety to Sinclair, whose activities were scrutinized by
curiosity seekers and those ready to challenge his sincerity
in calling for reform. A prolific writer, he feltﬁétymied
by his home situation.

Eagerly at first, then with some reluctance as the
colony monopolized his attention, Sinclair served as the
unofficial leader and sage of Helicon Home Colony. Life
(and death) at the colcny taxed his energies and health.
Although he continued to search for the perfect living
arrangement during the next few years--staying for short
periods at Carmel, Fairhope, and Arden--a new wife and his
son’s maturity ended his personal involvement in communal

living. Sinclair retained "a strong utopian element" in his

‘Upton Sinclair, The Autobiography of Upton Sinclair

(New York: Harcourt, Brace & World, Inc., 1962), 126. See
chapter 1 of this dissertation for a discussion of The

Journal of Arthur Stirling.
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activities.” He spoke fondly of Helicon, championing its
child care arrangements. He explored utopian and
cooperative themes in The Millennium (1907?) and Co-Op
(1936) and promoted cooperative farm colonies in his 1934
EPIC campaign.

This study also examines how the colony experience
affected other residents.® For example, Ernest Eberlein
moved on to Free Acres, continuing a quest that had begun
several years earlier at Straight Edge in New York City.
John-Armistead Collier worked at April Farm, a free love
colony established by Charles Garland in the 1920s.
Professor William Montague abandoned his cooperati?é
lifestyle, settling for academic respectability over
communal scandal.

Because most of Helicon Home Colony’s records were
destroyed in the fire, its history must be reconstructed
through government records, newspaper and journal articles,
and the memoirs and correspondence of members and visitors.
Mortgage records, hospital reports, and police logs each
added small bits of information that contfibuted to a fuller
picture of the colony. After sifting through the published

reports of colony life and administration, I had collected

’Robert S. Fogarty, All Things New: American Communes

and Utopian Movements, 1860-1914 (Chicago: The University of

Chicago Press, 1990), 214.

8see the Appendix for biographical information on all
known Helicon residents.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



more than one hundred names of people who were connected
with the colony as members, benefactors, critics, or
visitors (or some combination thereof). This increased the
number of associates mentioned by Sinclair in his
autobiography by nearly tenfold and provided a launching pad
for this research project. Over and over again I played
detective, first checking standard biographical and archival
sources and later uncovering personal stories and
remembrances. Some individuals came into closer focus only
after reading correspondence of fellow colonists; others
remained in the shadows--active in colony life but lost to
history. Each step of this process increased my khéwledge
of Helicon Home Colony and the interconnections between
members. It has convinced me that no study of a specific
communitarian group can be considered complete until some
attempt has been made to examine colony life and its impact

from the standpoint of as many colonists as possible.

xvii
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CHAPTER ONE
THE COLONY ROOTS: RECONCILING ART AND RESPONSIBILITY

Huddled together under coats, blankets, and spare
clothing, Jurgis and his family struggle vainly to escape
the killing winter cold that easily invades their wooden
house at the edge of Chicago’s stockyards. These characters
from Upton Sinclair’s 1906 The Jungle soon realize that
their new home is not a peaceful retreat from dangerous
exhausting jobs in the meatpacking industry. Rather, it is
part of a system that cheats and enslaves its victims both
at work and at home, with no regard for those demoralized or
killed.

While the gut-churning descriptions of factory
procedures were the result of Sinclair’s meticulous on-site
research, the bone-chilling héme scenes also impress the

reader with their authenticity.! Sinclair knew both well.

'Louise Wade Carroll cautions against using The Jungle
as social history, pointing out its failings when compared
with reformers’ reports and government and scholarly
research. "The Problem with Classroom Use of Upton
Sinclair," American Studies (Fall 1991): 79-101.

1
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In his Autobiography, he wrote:

For three months I worked incessantly. I wrote with
tears and anquish, pouring into the pages all the pain
that life had meant to me. Externally the story had to
do with a family of stockyard workers but internally it
was the story of my own family. Did I wish to know how
the poor suffered in wintertime in Chicago? I had only
to recall the previous winter in the cabin when we had
had only cotton blankets, and had put rugs on top of
us, and cowered shivering in our separate beds. It was
the same with hunger, with illness, with fear. Ona was
Corydon [Sinclair’s literary name for his first wife
Meta], speaking Lithuanian but otherwise unchanged.

Our little boy was down with pneumonia that winter, and
nearly died, and the grief of that went into the

book.

Sinclair wrote The Jungle while living on a sixty-acre
farm outside Princeton.® The experience proved not"to be
the country idyll he had desired but a nightmare of poverty
and isolation. Life, he confided to Owen Wister in an
October 1904 letter, "almost drives me mad." 1In a May 17,
1906 Independent article, he answered charges regarding The

Jungle’s validity, noting that the two years spent producing

2Upton Sinclair, The Autobiography of Upton Sinclair

(New York: Harcourt, Brace & World, Inc., 1962), 1i12. Upton
used Corydon and Thrysis, his-nickname for himself, in his
Autobiography, which didé not reveal Meta’s real name. They
also are the main characters in the autobiographical love’s
Pilgrimage (1911) and Love’s Prcgress (unpublished) by Upton
and Corydon and Thrysis (unpublished) by Meta.

*an ad in the September 1907 issue of Wilshire’s lists
"The Maples" for sale for five thousand dollars. Identified
as the place where The Jungle was written, the property
included two houses and eight hundred fruit trees.

“Upton sinclair to Owen Wister, 10 October 1904, quoted

in Leon Harris, Upton Sinclair: American Rebel (New York:
Thomas Y. Crowell Co., 1975), 71.
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the book left him "more dead than alive."® A month later,
Sinclair proposed his home colony in the June 14
Independent. The Jungle’s sales had brought the author his
first taste of financial success, and he was eager to apply
his earnings to solving the domestic dilemma he was certain
all young professionals shared. Four months later Helicon
Home Colony opened in Englewood, New Jersey, eventually
attracting nearly eighty people befcre it was destroyed by
fire on March 16, 1907.

None of the desperation of Jurgis and Ona (or Upton and
Meta) is apparent in the colony prospectus. Rathef; it
presents the reasoned arguments of a middle-class
professional in search of others interested in a pleasant,
economical solution to the nagging problems of child care
and housework. With thirty thousand dollars in royalties
Sinclair could begin to cast off the demons that had left
Meta suicidal, their son David sickly, and his own soul
weakened.

Helicon Home Colony’s roots, however, reach back
further than The Jungle’s incubation and subsequent
financial success. Sinclair’s childhood and early career
helped form his vision of utopia, while his readings molded
a character convinced of its own genius and personal

mission. As a young adult he experimented with different

“Upton Sinclair, "Is The Jungle True?" Independent 60
(17 May 1906): 1133.
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living arrangements, trying to find the best system for
keeping both his personal muse and his family alive and
well. These experiences provide insights into why Sinclair
initially chose a communal solution to his troubled home and
ultimately rejected it as a continuing way of life.

While little is known about the early life of other
Helicon Home Colony members, it is apparent that their own
experiences led them to view Sinclair’s proposal favorably.
Familiar with the same economic frustrations and prevailing
solutions, they flocked to the colony with an eager
intensity. Their correspondence and autobiographiéé reveal
the same pain Sinclair faced when the creative impulse meets
the reality of day-to-day exigencies and family
responsibilities. By looking closely at Sinclair’s
philosophical heroes and financial problems, it is possible
to consider contemporary forces instrumental in other
colonists’ lives.

Upton Beall Sinclair was born September 28, 1878 in a
Baltimore boardinghouse. His mother, Priscilla Harden
Sinclair, was the daughter of -John S. Harden,
secretary-treasurer of the Western Maryland Railroad. His
father, Upton Beall Sinclair, Sr., was the youngest son of a
Virginia plantation owner and Confederate Navy captain
impoverished in the Civil War. Earning his living as a
salesman of whiskey, straw hats, and men’s clothing, Upton

Senior was also an alcoholic at a time when all Southern
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5

gentlemen drank, recalled his son. Upton Junior’s earliest
memories included searching for his inebriated father in
neighborhood saloons and dragging him home to
bedbug-~infested boarding rooms.® This experience left him
with a lifelong animosity toward alcoholics and even social
drinkers.

Sinclair wrote that his family paid their bills,
although not always on time, necessitating frequent searches
for boardinghouses where they were not known. He recalled,

Life was one endless and sordid struggle to make last

year’s clothing look like new and to find some.

boardinghouse that was cheaper and yet respectable.

There was endless wrangling and strife and worry over

money, and every year the task was harder, the

standards lower, the case more hopeless.
This search for home became a leitmotif for Sinclair, who
did net find a stable, predictable home environment until he
married Mary Craig Kimbrough in 1913 and gladly turned over
the task of running the house and managing their finances to
her steady, albeit parsimonious, control.

When money was especially tight, Sinclair’s parents
turned tec his maternal aunt for assistance. Maria Harden
had married John Randolph Blaﬁd, founder of the U.S.

Fidelity and Guaranty Company and destined to be one of the

richest men in Baltimore. In the Bland home Upton and his

®Biographical information is from Sinclair,

Autobiography, and Harris, Upton Sinclair.

Upton Sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage (New York: Mitchell,
Kennerley, 1911), 8-9.
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mother found the plentiful food and material possessions
they lacked, including--much to young Sinclair’s
amazement--beautifully bound volumes of Shakespeare and
Milton that had never been opened. Here he was forced to
confront alone the dichotomy of poverty and wealth that his
proud mother refused to or could not explain. This
childhood conundrum, Sinclair later recalled, accounted for
his lifelong quest for "social justice," a term he equated
with equal opportunity for everyone to develop his or her
full capacities.®

Books both comforted and challenged Sinclair..-He had
taught himself to read at age five and became a dreamer,
lost in a fantasy world of books. Their tales matched his
own "Cinderella transformation" from winters in an
ever-changing series of boardinghouses to holidays and
summers at various Bland residences: "One night I would be
sleeping on a vermin-ridden sofa in a lodging house and the
next under silken coverlets in a fashionable home."®

By his early teens, Sinclair had begun to immerse
himself in the literature that would shape his personal

philosophy. He credited Jesus, Shelley, and Hamlet with

®Upton sinclair, interview by Josef Kirigin, 15 Aug.
1962, Upton Sinclair Papers, Lilly Library, Indiana
University, Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Sinclair
Papers). Lilly Library houses the Sinclair Papers, which
include his personal papers, and the Sinclair Collection,
which includes printed works.

%sinclair, Autobiograph , 9.
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molding his character and contributing to his fundamentally
revolutionary outlook.” The Cry for Justice, Sinclair’s
1915 "anthology of the literature of social protest,"
demonstrates his fusion of childhood heroes and modern
proletarian thought. It excerpts Isaiah, Shakespeare, and
Shelley, as well as Karl Marx, Edward Bellamy, and Jack
London.

The teachings of Jesus were an especially potent force
in Sinclair’s life, although his love-hate relationship with
the church drove him away from organized religion. As a
child, Sinclair had been taken by his Methodist mofﬁer to
Episcopal services at whatever was the most fashionable
church in their current neighborhood. In his teenaged years
he became a devotee of Rev. William Wilmerding Moir, a
wealthy young minister who advised his young charges to
remain chaste and submit monthly reports of their sexual
temptations. Sinclair called Moir the most influential man
in his life--not only did Moir instill the rigorous
self-discipline that epitomized Sinclair’s character, he
also introduced the young man-to the Episcopalian
apologetics, whose refutation of anti-Christian views led to
his agnosticism rather than strengthening his regard for the
church. At the same time Sinclair considered himself deeply

religious--as he commented at age 85--not because he

%pton Sinclair, "What Life Means to Me," Cosmopolitan
41 (Octcker 1906): 592.
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followed any particular dogma but because of his belief in
the "ethical teachings of Jesus, the preaching of
brotherhood, mercy, kindness, love, gentleness, honor,
loyalty.""

The poetic vision of Shelley also was influential in
formirg Sinclair’s belief in nonviolent rebellion. The Cry
for Justice includes Shelley’s call for action, "The Mask of
Anarchy," and the highly critical "England in 1819."
Sinclair echoed Shelley’s condemnation of contemporary
society and shared his belief in an attainable ideal.®
Biographer Leon Harris emphasizes Shelley’s lifeloﬁé impact
on the reformer:

Even after Sinclair finally discovered Socialism and

read widely in it, he never lost his essentially

Shelleyan vision that the ideal society was a kind of

enlightened, middle-class utopia with poets, or at

least intelligent, right thinking gifted people, like
himself, leading mankind down a rational, healthy, and

"'upton Sinclair, interview by Ronald Gottesman,
January 1963, transcript, Columbia University Oral History
Project, New York, N.Y. Religion is seldom a dominant theme
in sinclair’s books, although several demonstrate his
identification with Jesus’ social message but rejection of
formal religion. For example, Our Lady (1938), his favorite
novel, follows Jesus’ mother into the future, where she
finds no connection between her son and the religion of a
young priest she encounters at a Notre Dame football game.
Sinclair’s strongest indictment of the church is The Profits
of Religion (1918), the first book in his six-volume Dead
Hand series analyzing capitalism’s impact on American
institutions. Methodically attacking the various
denominations he chides the churches for forgetting the
proletarian message of Jesus.

12George Santayana, Winds of Doctrine and Platonism and

the Spiritual Life (1913; reprint, Gloucester, Penn.: Peter
Smith, 1971), 158-61. '
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loving path of social virtue.®

The teenaged Sinclair was still many years away from
the comfort he would find in socialism’s explanation of the
economic inequities which distressed him. At age fourteen,
while pursuing a combined high school/baccalaureate program
at the College of the City of New York, he was duly
impressed when a classmate sold a short story to a
children’s magazine. Not to be outdone, he began selling
jokes, sketches, and short stories to various publications.
He was soon contributing to his family’s income and had
earned enough money at age seventeen to afford his'6wn
apartment.

Rejecting an opportunity to enter the Naval Academy at
Annapolis, Sinclair decided to pursue a law career, which he
believed woﬁld combine an "honorable living with devotion to
books. "% In fall 1897 he became a special student at
Columbia University, a status which allowed him to choose an
eclectic group of courses. At the same time Sinclair
continued his freelance writing.

While in graduate school- Sinclair began experiencing
feelings he would later identify as genius. Spending one
Christmas holiday at Uncle Bland’s home he devoured the

untouched volumes of Shakespeare and Milton. Walking in his

PHarris, Upton Sinclair, 22.

Y%upton Sinclair, unidentified writing, quoted in

Harris, Upton Sinclair, 24.
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uncle’s garden one night, he was overcome with an "ecstasy"
he characterized as almost mystical. Repeated episodes of
these great surges of happiness, which he associated with
music, poetry, and natural beauty, convinced him he was
meant to be a poet.

Such feelings soon made Sinclair’s successful
freelancing an anathema. He began to resent having to
support his mother through hackwork when he really wanted to
write something more important.!” Here was the start of
the dilemma that soon would spur his attempts to balance
work and home life, including the establishment of'ﬁelicon
Home Colony. Quite simply, how do you reconcile making a
living with following your creative muse, or, as he would
later express it, was there some way to save "original and
uncompromising talent" from "the brutalizing slavery of
‘Wnat the Public Wants’/"?%

As a young bachelor Sinclair thought he had the easy
answer. Nothing would take precedence over his art,
including the simple creature comforts. 1In early 1900 he
left New York for a log cabin-on Lake Massawippi in Quebec
and began writing Springtime and Harvest, overcome with a
desire to share his feelings with the rest of the world.

Living alone, Sinclair felt happy and contented. "My one

“Floyd Dell, Upton Sinclair. A Studv in Social Protest
(1927; reprint, New York: AMS Press, 1979), 49, 55.

“Upton Sinclair, "My Cause," Independent 55 (14 May
1903): 1124-25.
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desire," he later recalled, "was to be . . . far away,
somewhere in a forest, where the winds of ecstasy might
sweep through my spirit."™ He was convinced that his story
of a young woman "redeemed by high and noble love" would be
the great American novel.'

Spending her summer at a nearby resort, Sinclair’s
mother worried about his health. She shared her concern
with the Fuller family, whom the Sinclairs had known for ten
Years. The Fullers’ nineteen-year-old daughter Meta
volunteered to take food to Upton’s cabin. While Sinclair
initially resented the intrusion, he also enjoyed féading
his novel to the attractive and attentive young woman, and
she became a frequent visitor. He had thought her stupid
and easily dominated as a child, recalling that he had
forced her to carry the squirrels he had killed with a
slingshot.!® This same acquiescence presented a new
challenge; while he did not admire her submission, he saw
her as someone he could easily mold.'

Meta proved an eager student. When she complained that
she had been unable to attend-college because she did not

know how to prepare for entrance examinations, Sinclair

7sinclair, Autobiography, 71.
Bsinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 12.

. _Ysinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 12;: Harris, Upton
Sinclair, 38-40; Dell, Upton Sinclair, 65-68.
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assigned books and language study.® As their feelings
for each other developed during the summer, he told her:

Perhaps I am mad to say this, I do not love you, but I

love the woman you are to be--the woman I will make

you. I wonder if I am dreaming when I feel consumed
with the wonder of this ideal of a woman’s love, this

utter and complete surrender of herself to her lover. .

. « I give my life to you and I shall make you a

perfect woman--or else kill you.?2!

Meta and Upton’s growing relationship was sexually
charged, although thinly disguised by Sinclair’s claim of a
more noble and poetical passion.® Despite this
attraction, Upton continually warned Meta that he must live
like a hermit in order to retain his vision: "I can’t have
any country or home, I can’t have wife or children--I can
hardly even have friends."3

When Sinclair completed his novel and returned to New
York City in the fall, both sets of parents disapproved of
Upton and Meta’s continuing closeness: what had been
acceptable in an informal camp setting was objectionable in
city society. Sinclair never understood this double

standard. He would later defend Helicon Home Colony’s

communal arrangements by citing the common dining room and

®¥sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 57.
#Meta sinclair, Corydon and Thrysis, typescript-draft,
P. 25, Meta Fuller Stone Papers, Lilly Library, Indiana

University, Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Stone
Papers).

ZHarris, Upton Sinclair, 41.
Bsinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 70.
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recreational facilities characteristic of many summer
resorts, not recognizing that the rules were different.2

On October 18, 1900, Upton and Meta tired of their
parents’ repeated criticism and eloped. The seeming
casualness of their decisicn is portrayed in the
autobiographical Love’s Pilgrimage (1911); their marriage is
simply another errand to be completed while Thrysis has his
violin repaired.® Upton, and ostensibly Meta, married
only to escape their parents’ constant nagging; their
relationship had already confirmed their love. They
believed that marriage was unnecessary as they plaﬁﬁed to
live as brother and sister and not have children. Further,
they pledged to end the commitment if either ceased to love
the other.®

Still, the decision to marry was not easy for Sinclair,
convinced of the potential of marriage to strangle his
poetic vision. Love’s Pilgrimage reveals his growing sense
of entrapment. Although the book was dedicated to those
fighting for women’s emancipation, its chapter titles
catalog the beleaguered groom’s fate: the victim, the snare,
the bait is seized, the capture is completed, the captive in

leash, the torture-house, the treadmill. Sinclair later

uUpton Sinclair, The Brass Check: A Studv of American
Journalism (Pasadena, Calif.: By the Author, 1919; reprint,
New York: Arno and The New York Times, 1970), 62.

#sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 145-48.
%1bid., 74.
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characterized the novel as the story of "what happens when
marriage is entered into in utter ignorance of all its
practical problems."?’ It contains verbatim letters from
the couple’s courtship and marriage, as well as passages
rewritten by Meta when the "manuscript failed to give a
sufficiently vivid account of the hardheadness and
unreasonableness of Thrysis."?

Living frugally, Upton and Meta devoted themselves to
his work. He expected her to readily make the same
sacrifices he felt necessary for his genius to be recognized
and criticized her "childish" displays of affectioh; "God
made me for an artist, not a lover," he reminded her.®
They were shocked when his first novel, Springtime and
Harvest, was rejected by the five publishers to whom Upton
had submitted the manuscript and scraped together enough
money from relatives to publish one thousand copies
privately.

Sinclair was embittered by what he perceived as the
publishing world’s rejection of his genius. Trapped by his
feelings of responsibility toward Meta, he tried to return
to the hackwork that earlier had supported his mother:

He must go down to the editors, and fawn and cringe,
and try to get books to review; he must study the

¥sinclair, Autobiography, 75.

®Harris, Upton Sinclair, 120-21; Sinclair,
Autobiography, 75.

¥sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 96, 126.
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imbecilities of the magazines and watch out for topics
for articles; he must rack his brains for jokes and
jingles--he, the master of life, the bearer of a new
religion, the proud, the high-soaring eagle, whose foot
had never known a chain!
Despite Meta’s conviction that he could learn how to seek
his vision even while married, Upton felt his creativity
draining away.3!

Suffering from the stomach pains that would plague him
all his adult life, Upton visited a doctor and revealed that
he and Meta had a platonic relationship. Shocked, the
doctor warned that Upton was endangering Meta’s physical and
emotional health.’ The couple consummated their méfriage,
practicing the coitus interruptus the doctor had recommended
for birth control. By March 1901 Meta was pregnant, and
they felt "the grim hand of Fate closing down!"®

Both Upton and Meta sensed that a child would ruin
their relationship.3 They stopped trying to abort the
Pregnancy only after Funk and Wagnalls decided to reissue
Springtime and Harvest as King Midas. Sinclair hoped Meta’s

preoccupation with the baby would give him the solitude

301pid., 179.
1bid., 174, 342.
321bid., 184. With no reference to his source, Harris

called the Sinclairs’ wedding night a rape. Upton Sinclair,
42.

*¥sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 204.
%1pid., 210.
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which was "the very breath of life" for an artist.®

Convinced that King Midas would be a bestseller, Upton
and Meta moved to Thousand Islands in northern New York and
set up housekeeping in a platform tent.* Upton felt
elated by the novel’s sale but continued to view Meta’s
pregnancy as a further encroachment on his freedom. He
described life as "a cage, the bars being made not of steel
but of human beings; everybody he knew was a bar, and he
hurled himself against one after another, and found them
harder than steel."¥

On December 1, 1901 Meta, with Upton at her si&e, gave
birth to a son after a difficult fourteen-hour labor.
David’s birth added an even more urgent reason to reconcile
the independent writer’s life with supporting a family.
That he struggled with this dilemma at all demonstrated his
new maturity and "humanness," writes friend and biographer
Floyd Dell. He was learning that he could not subject his
wife and child to the same deprivations he had accepted for
art’s sake.® Wwith the poverty of his own childhood fresh
in his memory, Sinclair continued to ponder the still

unsolved equation of balancing artistic expression with

. ¥pell, Upton Sinclair, 76-77; Sinclair, Love’s
Pilgrimage, 226, 241.

3‘Si(ing Midas was not a bestseller. Harris, Upton
Sinclair, 47.

*sinclair, Autobiography, 80.
*®pell, Upton Sinclair, 80-85.
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market realities, a comfortable home life with the
uncertainties of éreative endeavor.

Meta’s father would not wait for Upton to resolve these
conflicts, marking the beginnings of the author’s
vituperative battles with his in-laws. He argued that a man
who refused to get a job did not deserve to be with his wife
and child. He stopped sending the twenty-five dollars a
month that had often been the Sinclairs’ sole means of
support, forcing Meta and David to move in with him and her
mother. They were allowed to stay only if she agreed not to
see Upton. B

Living alone again, Sinclair tried to write and
submitted his second novel,.Prince Hagen, to various
publishers. Twenty-two publishers and seventeen magazines
rejected the novel, uninterested in an author whose earlier
effort had not sold well. The experience proved
disheartening as Sinclair’s hopes were continually raised,
then dashed, by publishers who feigned interest but had not
yet read the novel. In late spring 1902, Sinclair assuaged
his pain by writing The Journal of Arthur Stirling, the
diary of a young poet whose magnum opus, "The Captive," had
undergone the same fate as Prince Hagen.

“Ihe Jourmal chronicles Arthur Stirling’s elation as he

pours his heart into his blank verse poem, noting that his
Sole purpose is to create beauty, which sets him above and

apart from others. It also details his careful financing of
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the project, as he determines to the exact penny how long he
can afford not to take a job. Completing "The Captive" with
four dollars to spare, Stirling becomes increasingly
desperate as publishers reject or ignore his submission. He
decides to commit suicide and send his journal to a
publisher so that the world will learn how young geniuses
suffer. The novel was Sinclair’s first public admission of
the private anguish of the impoverished artist. It also
marked his realization that a similar fate faced other
would-be artists, revealing the roots of Helicon Home
Colony’s group solution in its awareness of shared‘.
suffering.

In June 1902 Sinclair’s former stenographer submitted a
notice of Arthur Stirling’s suicide to the New York papers.
Aware of the hoax, D. Appleton and Company issued the bock
in February 1903, with an editor’s note explaining the
publisher had received the journal and poem on the day of
Stirling’s suicide. Readers were moved by the depiction of
artistic despair, and reviewers labeled Arthur Stirling
oversensitive but a genius.“’ .The hoax was short-lived
when a critic recognized Sinclair’s style from King Midas.

The Journal sold less than two thousand copies and

earned no royalties for Sinclair. According to Leon Harris,

. *¥cee Dell’s discussion of The Journal of Arthur
Stirling in Upton Sinclair, 86-96.

“pell, Upton Sinclair, 8s.
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the novel nevertheless proved vitally important for its

author’s career:

And so Upton Sinclair killed his self, because for most

of his life he had had no goal other than to be exactly

the kind of poet Arthur Stirling was. Only by killing

his Doppelganger was he able to save his own life, that

is, completely to change it.*
In the May 14, 1903 issue of The Independent, Sinclair
admitted that he was the journal’s éuthor but attested to
its basic authenticity: "‘The Journal of Arthur Stirling’ is
a record of my own sufferings and despairs; it is the
frenzied scream which the world wrung from my crushed and
maddened spirit."? The hoax and subsequent sensatién, he
wrote, were necessary to launch his personal cause--the
salvation of young artists from bowing to the mundane tastes
of the reading public in order to survive. Sinclair
proposed an American University of Literature to support
gifted young writers and announced his plan to establish the
Sinclair Press, which would publish new authors and charge
only living and production costs.

Rejecting the life of the starving poet, Sinclair
actively sought financial aid- for his next project: a
trilogy on the Civil War. 1In fall 1902 he met socialist
Leonard D. Abbott at the office of the Literary Digest.

Abbott soon peppered him with socialist publications and

introduced him to other socialists. Sinclair welcomed their

“Harris, Upton Sinclair, 49.

“sinclair, "My cause," 1121.
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message with open arms:

It was like the falling down of prison walls about my

mind; the amazing discovery, after all those years that

I did not have to carry the whole burden of humanity’s

future upon my two frail shoulders! There were

actually others who understood.®

Well-versed in the Bible, Shakespeare, Shelley, and
Milton, Sinclair integrated socialism into his personal
belief system, rather than rejecting long-held values.
Christine Scriabine maintains that Sinclair’s desire to see
his heroes’ visionary spirit pervade American society
uniquely molded his understanding of socialism. He was
committed less to socialist ideologies than to "thé~
preservation and extension of the American ideal." Thus he
functione@ as a "stern moralist constantly reminding
Americans of their failure to live up to their professed
beliefs in the American ideal and Christian creed."%

This fusicn of religious beliefs with socialist
doctrine placed Sinclair among those Christians attempting
to forge a new role for the church in the industrialized
age. While mainstream Protestant denominations promoted a
social gospel of outreach to .the poor and disaffected, the
more radical Christian Socialists insisted that Jesus’

teachings led directly to socialism.

‘Among the latter was George D. Herron, a Congregational

“*sinclair, Autobiography, 101.

) “christine Scriabine, "Upton Sinclair: Witness to
History" (Ph.D. diss., Brown University, 1973), 31, 2, 11.
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minister and Grinnell College professor, whom Sinclair
admired. Herron had created a national scandal by divorcing
his wife and marrying the daughter of a wealthy woman he had
converted to socialism. Sinclair appealed to Herron for
funds and received two hundred dollars, with the promise of
thirty dollars a month for two years. He hoped Herron’s
patronage would be the solution to his monetary concerns.

In May 1903 Upton collected Meta and David from her
parents and moved to a leaky tent in the woods near
Princeton in order to be close to the college’s reference
collection on the Civil War. Again they lived as bfother
and sister, Upton rejecting even the most innocent caress,
fearful of another unwanted pregnancy.

Despite socialism’s theoretical comfort and George
Herron’s financial support, Sinclair felt stifled once again
by his familial responsibilities:

Dearly as he loved the child the artist in him cried

out against these ties. Where now was the care free

outlook, that restlessness, that joy in a life as a

spectacle, which made up so much of the artist’s

attitude? When one had a wife and child one no longer
enjoyed tragedies--one lived them; and one got from
them, not Katharsis, but.exhaustion.%

Meta also felt trapped by David, not caring that other
women loved their children.® Neither parent knew much

about’ childraising and worried about David, who at

two-and-a-half years had still not learned to walk. After a

5Sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 372.
“%1bid., 463.
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specialist diagnosed rickets and "under-nourishment," Meta
followed an expensive and elaborate diet necessitating six
daily meals cooked on their camp stove.

The eventual sale of Prince Hagen, which had

precipitated The Journal of Arthur Stjirling, brought enough

money to build a sixteen feet by eighteen feet cabin.
Sinclair descéibed their new home in the June 1904 issue of
Country Life in America. The article’s tone is similar to
that of the later colony proposal; both represent Sinclair’s
sincere effort to suggest a new way of living. Calling
himself an "unpopular novelist," he outlines how oéﬁer
"poets, painters, musicians, and other would-be dwellers in
the land of the spirit" could build a cabin and live in the
country for much less than it costs in the city to rent a
boardinghouse room and buy meals in restaurants. For one
hundred and eighty one dollars, Sinclair helped three
carpenters build a three-room white pine éabin and separate
studio, furnished with homemade pine furniture.%®

"The article failed to report how the cabin had proved
ill-suited for the worst winter the area had seen in many

years. The wood-stove did not sufficiently heat the cabin

all night. When temperatures fell below zero, a nearby well

471pid., 446.

“ypton Sinclair, "A Country House Built and Furnished
for Only $156," Country Life in America 6 (June 1904): 178-
79. The $156 listed in the title refers only to the costs
of building the cabin.
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froze and bodies, dishes, and diapers went unwashed.4
While Sinclair read and wrote in his studio, Meta cared for
David and tried to make the cabin livable. The effort made
her depressed and brought on debilitating headaches. Soon
she was taking thé opium-laden Lydia Pinkham’s Vegetable
Compound a doctor had prescribed for unspecified "womb
troubles." One night Upton awoke to find Meta with a pistol
to her head, despondent that she lacked the courage to pull
the trigger.3"

Meta’s depressions forced Upton to take responsibility
for David’s care and the housework. He also triedAio help
her deal with the terrifying thoughts that plagued her.5!
Despite his own exhaustion, Sinclair refused a job offer
from his Uncle Bland. "Not caring for this," he wrote in
October 1906, "I had no alternative but to go away into the
woods, and live in ténts and shanties and wash the dishes

and tend the baby, and nurse an invalid wife, and write

“sinclair, lLove’s Pilgrimage, 469-70.

sinclair, Autobiography, 96. The patent medicine
industry portrayed menstruation as a serious illness
necessitating treatment. Lydia Pinkham’s Vegetable Compound
claimed to cure the "worst forms of Female Complaints. . . .
faintness, Excitability, Nervous Prostration, Exhaustion . .
- Headache, General Debility, Indigestion." Given its high
opium content, women probably did not feel any pain after
using it. Sheila Rothman, Woman’s Proper Place: A History
of Changing Ideals and Practices, 1870 to the Present (New
York: Basic Books, Inc., 1978), 25 and illustration
following page 147.

S1sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 468, 490.
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literature. "52

Immersing themselves in their newfound socialism, both
Upton and Meta read widely among the popular and theoretical
socialist authors. They were particularly impressed by
Edward Bellamy, Edward Carpenter, Peter Kropotkin, and
Charlotte Perkins Gilman. Each seemed to touch a responsive
chord in their personal lives.®

Of special interest to both Sinclairs were the
socialists’ delineation of women’s past and present position
in society and promise of a more fulfilling future. Upton
finally had historical precedent for what he claiméé had
been his "utopian drean" of women’s equality.’* He and
Meta eagerly read how capitalism had eliminated women’s past
economic role. Denied a physical relationship with her
husband, Meta responded to socialist Edward Carpenter’s
dictum in Love’s Coming-of-Age (1896). Covering such topics
as "Woman and her Place in a Free Society," Carpenter viewed

sexual activity as the highest expression of love rather

*sinclair, "What Life Means to Me," 592.

*In Love’s Pilgrimage Thrysis and Corydon read Robert
Blatchford’s Merrie England (1894), Edmond Kelly’s
Government or Human Evolution (1900), Jack London’s The

People of the Abyss (1903), and Peter Kropotkin’s An Appeal
to _the Young, among other works. Sinclair, love'’s

Pilgrimage, 536-37, 556.
®sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 561-62.
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than solely a means for procreation.

Sinclair felt a special affinity for the nationalized
society depicted in Edward. Bellamy’s utopian novel Looking
Backward, 2000-1887 (1888). Described by the protagonist as
a "paradise for womankind," Nationalism--Bellamy’s name for
his social system--made all men and women full participants
in the "industrialized army" that managed every aspect of
the country’s business in the year 2000. Throughout his
career Sinclair frequently referred to the novelist, whom he
credited with helping him consider the possibilities of a
society free from economic divisions. B

Like Bellamy, who wrote the introduction to the
American edition of the Fabian Essays, Sinclair believed in
the inevitable evolution toward socialism championed by
George Bernard Shaw and other British socialists.’ He was

not alone in his admiration for Bellamy. Looking Backward

Ssee Tony Brown, ed., Edward Carpenter and Late

Victorian Radicalism (Portland, Oreg.: Frank Cass, 1990),
102. When the Sinclairs’ marriage ended in scandal in 1912,
Meta claimed that Upton had forced her to read Carpenter,
then accused her of adultery when she followed through on
the author’s suggestions. .

*Upton Sinclair, interview by Ronald Gottesman,
January 1963, 174. Athough Sinclair discounted Bellamy’s
literary style, he praised the novelist’s message. Upton
Sinclair, Mammonart (Pasadena, Calif.: By the Author, 1925),
352. - Lanny Budd--hero of eleven Sinclair novels~-calls
Equality "the best thing that had come out of America" and
is saddened that no one reads the "great social prophet" who
depicts such a wonderful world. Upton Sinclair, Between Two
Worlds (New York: Viking Press, 1941), 292.

_ *"Upton Sinclair, "A Utopian Bookshelf," Saturday
Review of Literature 39 (7 December 1946): 20.
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"became all but universally known" as readers established
more than 150 clubs to promote its ideals.’® Sinclair’s
associates also were attracted to Bellamy. H. Gaylord
Wilshire, friend and chair of Helicon Home Colony’s planning
meetings, was a Nationalist organizer who ran unsuccessfully
as the Nationalist candidate for California’s Sixth
Congressional District in 1890.%° Forty-four years later
Richard S. Otto, president of a newly-revived Bellamy Club,
became manager of Sinclair’s unsuccessful End Poverty in
California (EPIC) campaign for governocr.®

Another Bellamy admirer who had a significant.impact on
the Sinclairs was Charlotte Perkins Stetson Gilman, whose
theories motivated Upton to propose his home colony.
Converted to socialism by Looking Backward, Gilman wrote and
lectured on Nationalism and Fabianism after her failed
marriage to her first husband Charles Stetson. During her

years with Stetson she had undergone Philadelphia doctor S.

*Robert E. Spiller and others, eds., Literary History
of the United States, 4th ed, rev. (New York: Macmillan,
1974), 991. ..

YEverett W. Macnair, Bellamy and the Nationalist

Movement, 1889 to 1894;: A Research Studv of Edward Bellamv’s
Work as a Social Reformer (Milwaukee: Fitzgerald Co., 1957),
237-39.

®¥sinclair, Autobiography 269-70. During the campaign
Sinclair corresponded with Bellamy’s widow Emma. She called
herself a "Sinclair admirer," to which Sinclair responded,
"I can’t think of anyone whose approval I would prefer to
have" (Emma Bellamy to Upton Sinclair, 21 November 1933, and
gpton ?inclair to Emma Bellamy, 28 November 1933, Sinclair
apers) .
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Weir Mitchell’s bed cure for neurasthenia--a malady that was
afflicting other middle~ and upper-class women who craved a
life outside the home.®! Gilman chronicled her desperation
in the short story "The Yellow Wallpaper" (18S2),
denmonstrating that Mitchell’s recommended confinement caused
rather than cured insanity.

In 1898 Gilman wrote Women and Economics, gaining

international renown for ﬁer treatise on the ways in which
wonmen’s economic dependence weakened their thought processes
and parental influence and how the home might be rearranged
to correct this problem. She advocated kitchenlesé'
apartments for professional women and their families, with
cooking, child care, and housekeeping conducted ecénomically
and collectively by experts.® 1In love’s Pilgrimage,

Corydon reads Women and Economics in one sitting and
excitedly shares the book with Thrysis, whose enthusiasm
matches hers.® Gilman’s writings offered the Sinclairs an

appreciative understanding of their situatidn--including

“Ann J. Lane, To Herland and Beyond: The Life and Work

of Charlotte Perkins Gilman (New York: Pantheon Books,

-

1990), 162, 66, 1l11.

®charlotte Perkins Gilman, Women and Economics: A
Study of the Economic Relation Between Men and Women as a
Factor in Social Evolution (Boston: Small, Maynard & Co.,
1898; reprint, New York: Source Book Press, 1970), 241-42.

®sinclair, Love’s Pilgrimage, 561.
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Meta’s anxieties--and a reasoned solution to their
problems.%

During summer 1904, Meta’s depression eased as she was
courted by several young men from Princeton. Upton
begrudgingly accepted these infatuations, viewing her
adventures as material for future novels. He also realized
that these young men gave his wife the affection and
attention she craved, freeing him to concentrate on his
writing.

In August 1904 Macmillan published Manassas, the first
volume of Sinclair’s planned Civil War trilogy. Aiéhough
the novel sold only two thousand copies, it attracted the
attention of Fred D. Warren, editor of the socialist weekly
Appeal to Reason. In September he published a manifesto
Sinclair addressed to striking Chicago stockyard workers.
Offering a five hundred dollar advance for serial rights,
Warren suggested Sinclair write a novel focusing on wage
slavery, much as Manassas had attacked chattel slavery.
Sinclair spent seven weeks in Chicago, researching every
facet of the meatpacking industry and its workers’ lives.

His shabby appearance and contacts within the socialist

®In The cry for Justice Sinclair called Gilman
"America’s most brilliant woman poet and critic" and
reprinted five of her poems and an excerpt from Women and
Economics. He referred tc her as a close friend, although
it is unclear when they met. She was among the 1905
Intercollegiate Socialist Society sponsors, and Sinclair
referred to Women and Economics in The Jungle. Sinclair,

c;g for Justice, 200; idem, The Jungle (1906; New York:
Airmont Publishing Company, 1965), 313.
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community allowed him to slip undetected into the stcckyards
and factories. '

Returning home, Sinclair realized that the family could
not spend another winter in the freezing cabin. He borrowed
one thousand dollars from the minister who had married him
and Meta and bought a sixty-acre farm with an eight-room
house. On December 25, 1904, Sinclair began writing The
Jungle.

The novel was destinéd to become a muckraking classic.
It focuses on Lithuanian immigrants Jurgis and Ona Rudkus
and their extended family as they attempt to make d.new life
for themselves in Chicago’s stockyards. Tragedy follows
tragedy as the family is swindled by a real estate agent and
injured and made ill by their various jobs. Their dreams of
a better future are destroyed as the children leave school
and home to sell newspapers and Ona and her aunt are forced
into prostitution. Ona dies in childbirth and Jurgis leaves
Chicago, finding work as a farm worker; returning to the
city he becomes a thief and later a strikebreaker at a
packing plant. Only when he hears a socialist speech does
he begin to feel optimistic again about his life.

Michael Folsom emphasizes that the psychic and
physical anguish to which Upton subjected Meta and David for

the sake of his art cannot be underestimated.®® To Leon

SSMichael B. Folsom, "Upton Sinclair’s Escape from the
Jung}e: The.Narratlve Strategy and Suppressed Conclusion of
America’s First Proletarian Novel," Prospects 4 (1979) : 240.
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Harris, Sinclair "was better at transmitting his family’s
sufferings into fiction and at describing his own anguish in
writing than he was at making Meta feel his concern for her
and David."® It was Sinclair’s personal economic and
literary desperation, Folsom maintains, that account for the
last third of the novel--especially the long socialist
speeches--which some readers criticized as too didactic and
unrealistic. Tracing Sinclair’s ongoing description of the
novel in The Appeal, Folsom finds that the author intended
The Jungle to be a heartbreaking tragedy that would make its
point through the characters’ story and not througﬁ.
socialist propaganda. He points to its complexity, which
forces readers to hold opposing views at the same time: to
perceive both the horror and power of industrialization and
to accept but be revolted by working class conditions.
As Sinclair conceded:
The last chapters were not up to standard, because both
my health and my money were gone, and a second trip to
Chicago, which I had hoped to make, was out of the
question. I did the best I could--and those critics
who didn’t like the ending ought to have seen it as it
was in manuscript!®®
Sinclair agonized over tﬁe novel’s ending. Like his

creator, Jurgis--the novel’s protagonist--soon realized that

life in the country was not the solution to his problems.

®Harris, Upton Sinclair, 74.
¢’Folsom, "Upton Sinclair’s Escape," 240, 245, 249.

®sinclair, Autobiography, 114.
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Sinclair’s search for a denouement was further complicated
when George P. Brett of the Macmillan Company, which had
given him a five hundred dollar advance for the novel,
demanded he remove "the blood and guts.”" An indication of
Sinclair’s desperate financial state is evident in his
consideration of Brett’s ultimatum. Sinclair proposed
making The Jungle into two separate novels: one concluding
with Ona’s death, the other focusing on Jurgis’s criminal
activities.

Disappointed in Macmillan’s refusal to publish two
separate novels or an unexpurgated The Jungle, Sinéiair
offered his own sustainer’s edition through The Appeal.

Jack London prepared a manifesto that called The Jungle "the
‘Uncle Tom’s Cabin’ of wage slavery" and promised that it
would be even greater than Edward Bellamy’s Looking
Backward, substituting real life for theory.® The Jungle

began running serially in The Appeal on February 25, 1905,
while Sinclair continued to work on the ending.

Taking a break from writing during summer 1905,
Sinclair turned his energies to establishing the
Intercollegiate Socialist Society (ISS). Dumbfounded by his
own past ignorance of modern socialism, he was determined

that other students would not be at the mercy of

69"A.ppeal by Jack London," leaflet, n.d., Upton
Sinclair Collection, Lilly Library, Indiana University,
Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Sinclair Collection).
See also Jack London notice, The Appeal, 18 November 1305,
quoted in Harris, Upton Sinclair, 81.
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conservative professors who avoided the subject. Instead,
they would form study clubs to teach each other about
socialism, which "they may reject . . . in theory and combat
. + . in practice."”™ sinclair and George Strobell, a
young jewelry manufacturer, issued a call for the society’s
formation to intellectuals throughout the United States,
collecting the signatures of Jack London, Charlotte Perkins
Gilman, millionaire socialist J. G. Phelps Stokes, and Arena
editor B. O. Flower, among others. On September 12, 1905,
fifty men and women met at Peck’s Restaurant in New York
City to launch formally the new group. They electéé Jack
London as president and Sinclair as first vice president.”
Sinclair’s ISS work convinced him that socialism’s
"educative and redemptive powers" would someday help workers
such as Jurgis and gave him the ending for his novel.?
London’s manifesto helped sell more than three thousand
sustainer’s editions of The Jungle at one dollar and twenty

cents each, bringing in four thousand dollars in two

®Mina Weisenberg, The L.I.D.: Fifty Years of

Democratic Education (New York: League for Industrial
Democracy, 1955), 11.

"'Weisenberg, The L.I.D., 50; Max Horn, The
Intercollegiate Socialist Societ: 1905-1921: Origins of the
Modern American Student Movement (Boulder, Colo.: Westview
Press, 1979), 9-10; Bernard K. Johnpoll and Mark K.
Yerburgh, comp., The Leaque fo ndustrial Democracy: A
Documentary History (Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press,
1980), 5. 1In 1921 the ISS became the League for Industrial
Democracy; its procommunist faction evolved into the
Students for a Democratic Society in the early 1960s.

. ™PHarris, Upton Sinclair, 7e.
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months--more than four times what Sinclair had earned in the
last six years combined. Sinclair published his edition in
February 1906 at the same time Doubleday, Page and Company
issued the book. He had approached five other publishers
before Doubleday agreed to publish The Jungle as is.
Doubleday’s plan to reject The Jungle changed only after it
learned its investigation of the novel’s validity had been
conducted by a meatpacker’s publicist, not the Chicago
Tribune reporter it had hired.

The Jungle became a best seller in the United States
and was quickly translated into seventeen languageél A New
York Evening World reviewer wrote, "Not since Byron awoke
one morning to find himself famous has there been such an
example of world-wide celebrity won in a day by a book as
has come to Upton Sinclair."” sinclair’s graphic
descriptions, combined with the public’s growing awareness
of impure drugs, led to the heightened reaction against the
meatpacking industry. Since 1883, Harvey Wilgy, chief
chemist for the U.S. Department of Agriculture, had battled
against useless and often dangerous patent medicines.
Muckraking journalists--most prominently Mark Sullivan in

Ladies Home Journal--had begun publicizing his findings.

Others were reviving the embalmed meat scandal that had

swept the country during the Spanish American War nine years

"New_York Evening World review, quoted in Sinclair,
Autobiography, 122.
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earlier.”™ sinclair ruefully admitted that he had "aimed
at the public’s heart, and by accident I hit it in the
stomach."” Readers were more concerned about what was
coming out of their own kitchens than about what was
happening in the workers’ lives.

While reviewers saw Emile Zola’s influence on The
Jungle, Sinclair gave conflicting reports on whether or not
he had read Zola, who coined the term naturalism, before
writing the novel. Sinclair’s literary appetite and
reportorial style suggest he was familiar with the French
naturalist, called "the master of documentation."“‘.His
raw presentation of slaughterhouse life moved beyond the
realism of William Dean Howells, deemed fit for "reading
aloud within the family circle."” The Jungle encompassed
Zola’s critical view of a corrupt and morally ambiguous
society and the underclasses’ fight for survival in this
oppressive environment. That he lacked Zola’s utter despair
was evident in his difficulty in finishing The Jungle and

decision to offer a better future to Jurgis through

___ T™see "The Poison Trust" and "The Jungle" in Louis
Filler, The Muckrakers, rev. ed. (University Park:
Pennsylvania State University, 1976), 142-70.

Psinclair, Autobiography, 126.

Van Wyck Brooks, The Confident Years, 1885-1915 (New
York: E. P. Dutton & Co., 1955), 213.

™Marcus Cunliffe, The Literature of the United States,
4th ed. (New York: Penguin Books, 1986), 228.
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socialism.”™

With the publication of The Jungle, life for the
Sinclairs had taken a decided upturn. While pressing for
legislation to protect the public’s health, Sinclair
assessed his own family’s situation. Underlying Love’s
Pilgrimage’s trials and tribulations is the consistent
message that there has to be a better way to arrange
familial relations. Sinclair had tried to interest
philanthropists in supporting young geniuses and had himself
won the lifesaving aid of George Herron. Such endownents,
he had learned, were better suited to the young siﬁéle
artist, content to live in his austere garrett. The family
man has larger responsibilities and must look out for the
lonely wife who craves comforts and companionship and the
growing child who needs proper care and supervision.
Likewise, life in the country had not proven satisfactory.

Sinclair now had the personal resources and reputation
to attempt something entirely new. His growing kinship with
fellow socialists and the struggling authors who had
identified with Arthur Stirling, emboldened him to seek a
communal solution. In the June 14, 1906 Inde endent,
Sinclair proposed his home colony.

The immediate inspiration for the home colony’s
arrangements was Charlotte Perkins Gilman, whose insights

and theories had captured the imaginations of both Upton and

®Harris, Upton Sinclair, 75.
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Meta. Between Women and Economics in 1898 and Sinclair’s
colony prospectus, Gilman (now married to her first cousin,
lawyer George Houghton Gilman) expanded and elaborated her
original argument in books and articles. In The Home
(1903), she restated her thesis in less theoretical terms,
emphasizing that the home could become a true haven of
familial affection and relaxation only when it was no longer
a mother’s sole environment. She advised looking beyond
domestic duties to satisfy women’s craving for life, not
just love.” 1In a series of Independent articles, Gilman
described city blocks rearranged around central coﬁftyards
with one scientifically-designed kitchen and laundry serving
every hundred families. Rooftops could be converted into
safe, clean playgrounds and nurseries for children. Such
arrangements, she pledged, would be both economical and
hygienic.® sinclair enthusiastically embraced Gilman’s
kitchenless homes as the rational solution to the struggling

young artist’s search for comfort and economy.®

PCharlotte Perkins Stetson Gilman, "All the World to
Her," Independent 55 (9 July 1903): 1613-16.

8charlotte Perkins Gilman, "Domestic Economy,"
Independent 56 (16 June 1904): 1359-63; idem, "The Beauty of
a Block," Independent 57 (14 July 1904): 67-72; idenm,
"Housing for Children," Independent 57 (25 August 1904):
434-38; idem, "Kitchen Dirt and Civic Health," Independent
57 (8 December 1904): 1296-99.

81¢ilman was familiar with his efforts as her husband
hgndled legal matters related to Helicon Home Colony’s
dissolution. As discussed in chapter four, she later
disavowed any connection between her theories and the
colony’s orientation.
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Given both Sinclair and Gilman’s admiration for Edward
Bellamy, it is not surprising to find significant aspects of
Looking Backward’s grand scheme in the more modest colony
proposal. Similarities include the individual kitchenless
homes, common dining facilities with private accommodations,
elimination of the servant class, and employment of college
students in service positions.

Several critics have noted similarities between
Bellamy’s industrialized army--changed to industrialized
service in Looking Backward’s sequel Equality (1898)--and
Sinclair’s social proposals. William Bloodworth fiﬂds a
Bellamy-inspired scciety in Herr Doctor Schlieman’s
description of the coming socialist utopia in The Jungle.®
Likewise, George F. Ashton and David Mark Chalmers see

similarities to Bellamy’s future world in The Industrial

Republic (1907).%¥ 1In both books Sinclair portends federal
ownership of all services and manufacturing, much like the

arrangements under Bellamy’s Nationalism. In The Industrial

Republic Sinclair goes so far as to predict that the
Democratic candidate for president in 1912--most likely

William Randolph Hearst--would win, thus initiating the

¥William A. Bloodworth, Jr., Upton Sinclair (Boston:
Twayne Publishers, 1977), 56.

83George F. Ashton, "Bellamy, Judd and the Industrial
Republic: Some Sources of the EPIC Plan," Upton Sinclair
Quarterly 9 (Summer 1985): 6; David Mark Chalmers, The
Social and Political Ideas of the Muckrakers (1964;
Freeport, N.Y.: Books for Libraries, 1970), 92.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



38

peaceful revolution toward Americanism, and carefully
avoiding the stigma attached to the term socialism.®

Sinclair, however, steered clear of the exacting detail
of Bellamy’s novels, which outline the career patterns of
individual citizens and picture such amazing inventions as
sidewalks covered with automatic umbrellas. He identified
Bellamy with the utopian socialists of the past "who could
tell you the very colour of postage-stamps [in the ideal
future]," claiming that the scientific socialists of his day
could not foretell such details, as no one knew the exact
outcome of "the interaction of innumerable forces.“é
Sinclair nevertheless was comfortable claiming that Helicon
Home Colony epitomized the cooperative lifestyle everyone
would "have to" share in the future.®

In his search for satisfactory domestic arrangements,
Sinclair had rejected endowments and the simple country
life. He eagerly championed the communal home (or
cooperative distribution, as he cailed the arrangement) as
the answer to financial worries and, hence, the solution to
balancing familial responsibilities with the uncertain
rewards of artistic labor. Sinclair’s proposed home colony

combined the luxuries of Uncle Bland’s home with the close

%Upton sinclair, The Industrial Republic: A Studv of
the America of Ten Years Hence (New York: Doubleday, Page &
Co., 1907), 209. '

81bid., 215.

81bid., 280.
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quarters of his childhood boardinghouses. Curiously, he
ignored the painful memories associated with both, as well
as his own need to work alone and uninterrupted.

Sinclair was convinced that his own problems lay not
with his personality or strained relations with Meta but
with their outmoded living arrangements. Many years later
he recognized "that not every home might be as unhappy as
his own [was at the time]; if anyone had suggested the idea
to him, he would have said that no one should be happy in a
backward way of life, and he would have tried to make them
unhappy by his arguments."® But in the summer of 1906
Sinclair’s readings and past experiences brought him to
champion Charlotte Perkins Gilman’s social proposals and try
once again to establish a satisfying home life for his own
family. That others shared this longing and its theoretical
premise was evident by their response to his colony

proposal.

#sinclair, Autobiography, 127-28.
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CHAPTER TWO
COLONY PROPOSAL AND INITIAL ORGANIZATION

Sales of The Jungle were brisk, and gave Upton Sinclair
the funds to experiment again with living arrangements.!
Unfamiliar with investments, he was determined to use the
money to solve his personal problems and at the same time
"uplift . . . mankind" by his example.?

Increasingly adept at generating publicity, Sinclair
outlined his colony idea in an eight-page article in the
June 14, 1906 issue of The Independent. A "great and often
brilliant periodical," the weekly journal had begun as a
Congregational newspaper in 1848 but had become nonsectarian

by 1900.3 It chronicled the social political milieu for a

'In six months one hundred thousand copies were sold,
with an estimated American readership of one million.
Christine Scriabine, "Upton Sinclair and the Writing of The

Jungle," Chicago History 10 (Spring 1981): 31.

2Upton Sinclair, The Autobiography of Upton Sinclai
(New York: Harcourt, Brace & World, Inc., 1962), 127.

*Frank Luther Mott, A History of American Magazines,
vol. 4, 1885-1905 (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University,
1957), 292.
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"relatively small but influential audience." Sinclair’s

article opened with a two-page editor’s note and an excerpt
from "My Cause," The Independent article in which he had

admitted authorship of The Journal of Arthur stirling--his

1903 novel that had chronicled the growing desperation and
subsequent suicide of a gifted, but poor, poet and called
for support of young geniuses such as himself. Editor
William Hayes Ward congratulated the journal for having
recognized the novelist’s brilliance early on--listing the
seven Sinclair articles it had previously published--now
confirmed by the influential and successful Ihg_ggﬁélg. He
called the colony proposal another facet of Sinclair’s
cause.

Although the proposal represented Sinclair’s latest
attempt to improve his home situation, it echoed earlier
pPieces in its analysis of the problem and conviction that
this was the best and most appropriate solution. Further,
it is classic Sinclair: at once personal--"I have a problem
to solve"--but at the same time objectively researched,
quoting facts and figures. The tendency to both personalize
and document is a Sinclair trait. He apologized in his
Autobiography that it was primarily the story of books, as

his life was shaped by his publications.® At the same

. “Edwin Emery, The Press and America: An Inte retive
Histo of the Mass Media, 3d ed. (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.:
Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1972), 290, 403.

5Sinclair, Autobiography, 284.
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time, he could have said his books were the story of his
life. Personal experiences permeate both his fictional and
nonfictional works. Arthur Stirling and Jurgis share
Thrysis’s penchant for calculating their dwindling resources
down to the last penny. The Brass Check, Sinclair’s
condemnation of American journalism, includes two chapters
on Helicon Home Colony’s treatment by the press. The colony
proposal reflects this style.

To Sinclair, the detailing of his own home problems was
justified because others shared his dilemma. Such "private
affairs," he wrote, ". . . constitute the most impdftant
public affair now existing."® He identified the "servant
problem" as the cause of the troubles and recounted personal
calamities with this apparently deceitful breed: one girl
left a hollowed-out fruitcake for Christmas dinner, another
stole the Thanksgiving turkey, a third hid eggs so she would
not have to cook them. By beginning his article with these
tales, Sinclair immediately established a dichotomy between
us--the beleaguered middle class--and them--the foreign
females who made our lives miserable. It was clear that his
colony proposal was not directed at the Jurgises and Onas of
the world.

The servant problem had been a continual focus of

discussion for several decades. Americans yearned for a

6Upton Sinclair, "2A Home Colony," The Independent 60
(14 June 1906): 1402.
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fading "golden age of service" when loyal and qualified
servants were plentiful. Actually, such a time had never
existed in this country, writes Daniel Sutherland in his
study of nineteenth and early twentieth century domestic
service. Since the early 1800s, Americans had complained
about the quality and quantity of domestic employees
available, a fact Sutherland attributes to the golden age
myth, the anachronistic master/servant relationship
perpetuated in domestic service, and the stigma attached to
the work and exacerbated by American prejudices against the
blacks and immigrants who held such positions. Sufﬁerland
discovered that there never was a shortage of available
workers but rather a shortage of what employers considered
qualified, respectable people whom they were willing to have
in their homes.”

This situation was complicated at the turn of the
century when middle-class women, who had supervised their
domestiq servants, pursued education, careers, and
activities outside the home. Further, new employment
opportunities in offices and department stores opened for
young women who previously might have considered domestic
service their only option.

To Sinclair and thousands of other middle-class

"Daniel E. Sutherland, Americans and Their Servants:
Domestic Service in the United States from 1800 to 1920
(Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1981), 2,
25.
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families the servant problem was real and immediate. He
recited his son David’s misadventures as further proof of
the need to set up an efficiently-run home, complete with
someone to handle cooking, housekeeping, and child care.
Country life had not proven the ideal environment for
raising a child. Not only had the unsupervised four-year-
old copied the stutter of the sole available playmate, he
had stuffed himself with pears in the orchard, dunked his
shoes in the washtub, and mixed "a pudding of pepper cruets,
candlesticks and miik."® sinclair recalled that a city
home was no better: in two weeks his active son had'nearly
driven four adults insane. Such reminiscences confirm
Charlotte Perkins Gilman’s definition of mischief as "the
natural interaction of a child and a home." Sinclair’s
lighthearted account of David’s activities is belied by a
reference he made to this period fifteen years later, when
he recalled deliberately burning his son’s finger with a

match to teach him to stay away from the open fireplace.1°

8sinclair, "A Home Colony," 1403.

Charlotte Perkins Gilman, The Home: Its Work and
Influence (1903; reprint, Chicago: University of Illinois
Press, 1972), 247.

sinclair’s recollection appears in a child care book
that advises parents to refrain from physically punishing
ghi}dren. Asked to comment on the manuscript, he had
insisted that it was necessary sometimes to punish children
for dangerous behavior in order to train them to avoid
potential injury. B. Liber, The Child and the Home: Essays

on the Rational Upbringing of Children (New York: Vanguard

Press, 1927), 198-200.
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Sinclair’s reminiscences establish a common ground
between him and his readers. Although he continuously
attested to his own socialism, he placed his current
predicament outside its purview:

I am a member of the Socialist party, and all the hopes

of my life are there . . . what I am making here is a

simple business profession [sic--proposition?] for an

association of people who may possess a moderate
income, to secure the benefits of the application of
the machine process in their domestic affairs.M
Most socialists viewed separate colonies as impediments
toward the cooperative commonwealth. They did not actively
pursue cooperative living arrangements or organize socialist
communities within the capitalist society.

However, it was his socialism, Sinclair maintained,
that made him uncomfortable with the servant/master
relationship. He belittled the accepted view that marriage
necessitated servants, thus without servants one cannot
marry:

And if authors, artists, scientists, and philosophers

are to reproduce their kind, what is to be done? Shall

they have to marry their housekeepers? I have made
many sacrifices for my art, but I confess that one
would have staggered me.R2

Sinclair contended that David was not the only Sinclair
who needed proper care, i.e., hired help. He claimed that
his and Meta’s health would no longer allow them to actively

assume the roles of cook and housekeeper. Further, his

Ysinclair, "A Home Colony," 1404.

21pid., 1403.
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investigation of the meatpacking industry had made them wary
of store-bought bread, milk, and canned fruits and
vegetables, in addition to meat. They also were no longer
willing to forgo such pleasures as travel and the theater
just because his income was modest.

Sinclair admitted that his initial idea had been to pay
whatever was necessary to hire good servants to run his home
and then set up a separate house nearby where the family
could escape their unwanted interference. The idea of
establishing such separate spaces was not new for Sinclair.
He had frequently lived and worked in a tent or cabin apart
from Meta and David whenever his creative energy required
complete solitude. In The Independent article he rejected
this notion, as well as the more traditional single family
home, labeling the latter an example of irrational and
unscientific "isolated housekeeping." Rather than hiring "a
hundred cooks to prepare a hundred meals badly," he
counseled, "[hire] twenty cooks . . . [to] prepare one meal
for a hundred families, and do it perfectly" through modern,
hygienic appliances affordable in large-scale
application.’ such a principle could be extended to child
care, laundry, and housekeeping, he maintained.

‘Sinclair referred readers to Charlotte Perkins Gilman’s

Ihe Home for further discussion of the rationale for sharing

such services; he was ready "to move to action those already

Bibid., 1404.
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persuaded.®' His example of one hundred cooks preparing
one hundred meals clearly drew from Gilman’s chapter on home
cooking. In turn, in an 1889 Good Housekeeping article,
Edward Bellamy had described how one hundred women could
hire workers to cooperatively handle cooking, laundry, and
housekeeping.®

Having summarized the solution, Sinclair next offered a
detailed picture of his "home colony." It would be
administered by a democratically-elected board of directors,
which would oversee the salaried experts who managed the
various departments. Some members would be stockhélders in
the community and receive dividends on their investments.
He envisioned the residents to be much like himself:

authors, artists, musicians, editors and teachers

and professional men, who abhor boarding houses

and apartment hotels and yet shrink from managing

servants, who have lonely and peevish children

like my own and are no fonder of eating poisons or

of wasting their time and strength than I am.'
This list is nearly identical to the group who was supposed

to have benefitted from the country life he described two

years earlier in "A Country House Built and Furnished for

%1pbid., 1405.

.“Edward Bellamy, "A Vital Domestic Problem. Household
Service Reform," Good Housekeeping 10 (21 December 1889):
74-77.

“sinclair, "A Home Colony," 1405.
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Only $156."1

Sinclair estimated that a colony of one hundred
families would have one million dollars to invest in
buildings and two hundred thousand dollars for annual living
expenses, based on the average professional’s current
outlay. In "a co-operative home" the families could live
like millionaires on half this amount.

By using the term "“co-operative," Sinclair immediately
suggested a specific living arrangement to many of his
readers. As defined by W. D. P. Bliss in 1910, cooperation
is "the voluntary union of persons, in joint produéfion,
distribution, purchase, or consumption, apart from
government, on equitable principles and for their mutual
benefit."® In the same volume, Sinclair wrote that
Helicon Home Colony had been a successful experiment in
"cooperative distribution," proving "that, by means of
cooperation, the introduction of system and labor-saving
machinery, household labor could be lifted to the rank of a
profession and tkat people could be found to do such labor

and, at the same time, be admitted to the colony as

Yupton sinclair, "a Country House Built and Furnished

for Only $156," Country Life in America 6 (June 1904): 178-
79.

%¥william Dwight Porter Bliss and Randolph M. Binder,
eds., The New Encyclopedia of Social Reform (New York: Funk
& Wagnalls Company, 1910; reprint, New York: Arno Press,
1970), 294.
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members.""” However, according to Bliss, cooperative
distribution dealt with the purchase and distribution of
goods by a group interested in lowering prices for its
members, such as the early Rochdale stores.

Bliss conceded that in the United States the word
cooperation had been applied "even by responsible writers"
to so many different activities that it had become "almost
meaningless."® The standard communitarian histories of
the period defined cooperation in much the same way as
Bliss. In The History of American Socialisms (1870), John
Humphrey Noyes cautioned that cooperation was not éécialism,
which implied combined domestic arrangements, but was
instead combined purchase and distribution of goods--a view
also implied in Charles Nordhoff’s The Communistic jeties

of the United States (1875). Neither saw cooperation

succeeding although Noyes admitted that cooperation could
lead to socialism.
A little more than thirty years later, in American

Communities and Co-Operative Colonies (1908), William Hinds

identified a number of cooperative groups that he believed

were beginning to illustrate the concept’s potential
Success. Although Hinds did not define cooperation, he
viewed colonists’ continued autonomy as its prime advantage

over communism: they could leave a cooperative colony

¥I1bid., 569-70.

21pbid., 303.
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"without great loss"™ because they had maintained their
outside interests.?’ The term cooperative also referred to
specific real estate arrangements. For example, an article
in the February 19, 1881 issue of American Architect and
Building News used "cooperative" to describe apartment
houses in which residents owned the building in common and
leased their individual full-service apartments.®? 2a May
21, 1908 Independent article employed the term in a similar
manner, describing apartment buildings owned by stock-
holder/residents who received a percentage of the rent from
noncooperating residents.?® )
Charlotte Perkins Gilman specifically stated in Women
and Economics that her kitchenless homes did not involve
cooperation, which she defined as "the union of families for
the better performance of their supposed functions" and
viewed as theoretically unsound. Cooking and cleaning, she
maintained, were not family functions, but social functions

best performed by trained professionals. Families who

2i30hn Humphrey Noyes, History of American Socialisms

(Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott & Co., 1870; reprint, New
York: Dover Publications, Inc., 1966), 564; Charles
Nordhoff, The Communistic Societies of the United States
(1875; reprint, New York: Schocken Books, 1965), 17; William
Alfred Hinds, American Communijtijes and Co-Operative Colonies
(Chicago: C. H. Kerr, 1908; reprint, Philadelphia: Porcupine
Press, 1975), 597-98.

Znco-operative Apartment-Houses," American Architect
and Buildinag News 9 (19 February 1881): 88-89.

. BFlorence Finch Kelly, "Co-Operative Apartment Houses
in New York," The Independent 22 (21 May 1908): 1139~-42.
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utilized the same cook were not cooperating any more than
those who patronized the same tailor or baker.2

It is clear from The Independent article that Sinclair
did not intend for all members to work solely for the
colony. For the most part, he wanted to ensure that those
who did hold colony jobs were the social equals of the other
residents, although he sometimes implied a distinction
between employees and members. For example, he assured
readers that day laborers need not receive community
privileges but assumed his audience would share his respect
for honest labor. He added to the confusion by caiiing for
"men and women who are willing to contribute their labor"
(emphasis added). He also depicted such tasks as hoeing the
garden and picking fruit as welcome substitutes for the
weightlifting many businessmen used for exercise and hoped
participation in gardening and harvesting would become
customary. As detailed in chapter 4, the colony’s demise
did not end Sinclair’s need to clarify what exactly he meant
by cooperative distribution.

Sinclair hoped to establish the colony within commuting
distance of New York City. Its three to four hundred acres
would be near water and include a power plant, garden, and
farm.” Modern amenities would include telephones, electric
lights, and hot water or electric heat. Separate buildings

would accommodate the children’s dormitory, social

%Gilman, Women and Economics, 240.
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activities, gymnasium, dining hall, kitchen, and laundry.
Families would build their own kitchenless homes according
to their own specifications, and single people would live in
dormitories or apartments.

Sinclair planned to build a four- or five-room rustic
cottage for his family. Colony life, he declared, would not
force him to abandon his hermit ways. Likewise, others
would have no difficulty associating only with those they
chose. Familial and social relations would be maintained in
the individual homes, with contact in the dining and
recreational halls no different than seeing acquaiﬂfances in
restaurants or theaters. At the same time, he was convinced
that the colony would attract only congenial people with
whom one would want to associate. They might not be
socialists, but they would believe in brotherhood and
democracy and "plain living and high thinking."®

By focusing on the privacy afforded by single-family
dwellings and separate tables in the common dining roomn,
Sinclair successfully circumvented concern over the sanctity
of home. He appears to be assuring his readers that this
was not primarily a commuﬂal experiment but rather an
exercise in practical economics. While Sinclair listed
social amenities--reading rooms, lectures, dances--he did
not mention the potential for new friendships or

companionship. Members might be congenial but they

#sinclair, "A Home Colony," 1407.
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apparently wotld maintain their distance.

This tact emphasizes Upton’s primary concerns--privacy,
expenses, David’s care--but patently ignores Meta’s. After
barely surviving the isolated country life outside
Princeton, she could hardly be looking forward to another
small rustic cabin. Upton appears to have assumed that
Meta’s personal problems would somehow take care of
themselves once his concerns were resolved.

The children’s facilities and care received the most
attention in Sinclair’s proposal, reflecting how problematic
David’s care had been and the sensitive nature of fﬁis area.
It called for:

floors for babies to crawl where there is no dirt for

them to eat, with playgrounds for children where there

are no stoves and no boiling water, no staircases and
wells, no cats and dogs, no workbaskets, lamps, pianos,
seyiqg machinesk jam closets, inkstands, and authors’
writing tables.
Sinclair recommended separate facilities for "infants, who
like to sleep"™ and "children, who like to run and shout," as
well as for i1l children. Buildings would be hygienic,
well-ventilated, and protected by fire extinguishers,
automatic sprinkling systems,Jand a night watchman. Large
indoor and outdoor pPlay areas would make the colony "a
child;en's heaven" whatever the weather conditions. Mothers

would be allowed to visit their children and take them home

as often as they liked.

%1bid., 1406.
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Sinclair proposed that servants have nothing to do with
the children’s care. Rather, it would be handled by
professionals, such as nurses and kindergarten teachers.
Sinclair thus distinguished the colony’s services from those
of the day nurseries that had gained popularity in the
United states in the 1880s and 1890s and were run by well-
to-do matrons, rather than trained educators, for the
children of working mothers. Kindergartens provided
educational activities for young children, following the
teachings of Friedrich Froebel, who had put his theories
into practice in Germany in the 1840s, while day nﬁfseries,
modeled after French creches, looked after the children’s
physical well-being.? Clearly Sinclair was concerned with
David’s safety, but he wanted more than just supervision,
complaining that he could not afford to place his son in a
kindergarten.

Kindergarten teachers viewed themselves as educated
professionals with more than mere experience and sentimental
interest in child care; typically training schools required

one year of study in Froebelian principles and two years of

’While nurseries might offer some kindergarten
activities, their basic services were a safe environment,
adequate health care, and good nutrition. Concerned middle-
class women established the charity nurseries so that poor
mothers could earn enough money to support their families
rather than being forced to place children in orphanages.
Margaret O’Brien Steinfels, Who’s Minding the Children: The
History and Politics of Day Care in America (New York: Simon
and Schuster, 1973), 37, 57, 40.
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practice teaching.® similarly nurses considered
themselves more professional than the nursemaids who usually
cared for children. Nurses had at least a high school
education or its equivalent plus two to three years
specialized course work, while nursemaids needed no training
for their jobs.?

Supervised by a women’s board of directors, the nurses
and kindergarten teachers at Sinclair’s proposed colony
would be welcome as members and friends. Sinclair failed to
recognize that mothers might also be trained experts in the
field, noting that they might earn their living taking care
of the children as long as they followed the colony’s child
care principles.

Sinclair identified food preparation as the other
primary colony industry. His discussion of "the co-
operative preparation of food" noted the simple, high-
quality fare that would be served but did not indicate
exactly who would do the cooking. He did observe "if I am

not willing to shake a man’s hand or sit next to him in a

#Elizabeth Dale Ross, The Kindergarten Crusade: The
Establishment of PreSchool Education in the United States
(Athens: Ohio University Press, 1976), 52, 60.

®A 1910 New York Times article outlined further
differences between the two positions: "The nurse is not a
servant, nor does she eat with the servants. . . . Moreover,
the nurse wears an apron that does not reach above the
waist, the nursemaid’s apron extends up to and includes the
shoulders. And finally, every nurse is addressed as ‘Miss’-
== or ‘Mrs.---’/ while the nursemaid is addressed simply as
‘Mary’ or ‘Jennie’" ("Hospital Getting on Without Any
Titles," New York Times, 12 January 1910, p. 4).
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reading room, I do not see why I should be willing to eat
what he has cooked."3® He suggested hiring college
students as waiters to ensure the appropriétevdining room
ambiance.

Sinclair invited interested persons to write him. He
wanted to hear from potential stockholders and members and
those interested in working as waiters, cooks, nurses, and
teéchers. When hé had heard from at least twenty families,
he would contact architects, contractors, and other experts
to work out the details and draw up a definite operational
plan. B

Within a month Sinclair received 125 inquiries about
his colony proposal. On July 14, 1906, he wrote to the New
York City newspapers, announcing he had rented the Berkeley
Lyceum for the evening of July 17 to discuss his home colony
Plan. The majority of people who had responded to his
Independent article were concerned about their children’s
upbringing, reported Sinclair, who emphasized the benefits
of cooperative child care in his letter.”:

Three hundred people, equally divided between ﬁen and
women, attended the July 17, 1906 meeting. According to a

New York Times reporter, Sinclair was obviously pleased with

the turnout, "smiling almost ecstatically" as he walked on

®sinclair, "A Home Colony," 1407.

SwMr. sinclair’s Colony," New York Daily Tribune, 16

July 1906, p. 7.
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stage.® Later he would realize that a dozen people could
have worked out the colony details without the squabbles and
delays endemic to such a large group.33 Not knowing many
people, hg claimed it had been necessary for him to
advertise: of the three hundred people who attended the
initial meeting, he had previously met three and knew only
one well. Further, he was busy dramatizing The Jungle and
thought the colony could operate without his close
attention.3

Sinclair characterized some attendees as serious, some
as cranks, and some as both--including a few who w&iked out
of the meeting when they decided he was a crank.’® The New
York Times reported that many appeared to be socialists,
with a large proportion foreign born.* Wwhile this latter
observation may have been correct, it is obvious Sinclair
and most others were not interested in opening the colony to
everyone.

Sinclair’s enthusiasm ran high at the meeting. With

*wnginclair Explains His Home Colony," New York Times,
18 July 1906, p. 7.

33Upton Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After,"
The Independent 62 (7 February 1907): 306.

3upton Sinclair, "The Cooperative Home," Times

Magazine 1 (December 1906): 97; iden, Autobjography, 128;
idem, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 306.

¥sinclair, Autobiography, 128.

Y%uginclair Explains His Home Colony," New York Times,
18 July 1906, p. 7.
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more than fifty thousand dollars in pledges, he predicted
that the colony would be a showplace of New York City,
ranking fourth in tourist attractions behind Ellis Island,
the Statue of Liberty, and the Brooklyn Bridge.¥ Its most
important feature would be the nursery where children would
be scientificallylraised.

At the meeting Sinclair reviewed the 125 letters
generated by his Independent article. He had sent out
questionnaires to one hundred people and had forty-four
responses one week later. Questions dealt with child care,
location, meals, servants, and costs. A question 6ﬁ child
care was typical in its detail: "Would it be your wish that
your children should be taken care of cooperatively,
provided that you had access to the establishment at all
times, and that its policy and the personnel of its
management, determined by vote of all the parents, proved in
practice to be satisfactory to you?" Twenty-four of twenty-
five parents answered yes.®

The majority of respondents wanted the colony to be
within one mile of New York City, and most were amenable to
initially purchasing a summer hotel rather than waiting to
build their own homes. There was less agreement over meals.

Half voted for simple home cooking, others desired a la

¥wanxious to Colonize," New York Dail Tribune, 18
July 1906, p. 14.

Buginclair Explains His Home Colony," New York Times,
18 July 1906, p. 7.
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carte meals, vegetarian diets, hotel fare, or French food.
They were almost evenly divided over the acceptability of
light meals~--"fruit, cereals, eggs, salads, cold meats,
etc."--for breakfast and lunch.¥

Additional disagreements arose over servants. Sinclair
reported differing responses to the question of which
positions should be considered equal to colony members: some
respondents disapproved of kitchen workers, others farmers.
The New York Times observed "trouble over the race
question." Applause and hisses erupted when Sinclair
revealed that five respondents objected to racial i
restrictions.

At the conclusion of the two-hour meeting the attendees
elected H. Gaylord Wilshire, who had chaired the gathering,
temporary treasurer of the proposed colony after he was
nominated by Sinclair. The self-proclaimed "millionaire
socialist" was most likely the one close friend Sinclair had
reported in attendance. They had met soon after Sinclair’s
conversion to socialism when he became a faithful reader of
Wilshire’s Magazine.*

Sinclair established committees to deal with labor,

¥1bid.

“Owilshire was not a millionaire, although he had
earned several hundred thousand dollars in Los Angeles real
estate development--Wilshire Boulevard is named for him--and
by monopolizing the Los Angeles billboard industry. Howard
Quint, "Upton Sinclair’s Quest for Artistic Independence, "

American Literature 29 (May 1957): 194-202.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



61
planning, organization, site, and children. Newspapers
identified interested persons, including several who became
colonists and, in many cases, stockholders: Ellis O. Jones,
socialist journalist; Charles Castle, doctor; Edwin S.
Potter, editor, Universal News Bureau; and William Noyes,
professor, Teachers College. Other committee members’
occupations illustrate the attraction the colony held for a
variety of professionals: banker, real estate broker,
importer, insurance company manager, illustrator.

Throughout the summer the committees met to thrash out
colony policies and procedures. At times they retféated to
Sinclair’s Princeton farm or took moonlit sailboat rides on
Barnegat Bay off the New Jersey coast, forging the close
friendships conducive to sustaining their initial
enthusiasm.*!  sinclair admired the thirty men and women
who formed the colony committees, delighted both by their
individual perceptions of colony life and their ability to
good-naturedly resolve differences. They felt like
pioneers, showing future generations how to survive when
servants became a thing of the past.%

In mid-August the Colony Executive Committee announced
a series of public meetings to be held at the West 57th

Street YMCA to discuss committee recommendations in

“lypton Sinclair, "A Co-Operative Home Colony," World’s
Work 9 (March 1907): 383; idem, "The Home Colony: Six Months
After," 30s6.

“sinclair, "The Cooperative Home," 98.
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preparation for writing the colony constitution. Attendees
paid ten dollars each to demonstrate their interest in the
colony. William Noyes served as chairman of the meetings.

The Committee on Organization emphasized the colony’s
purpose of simplifying the "domestic problem"™ through
efficiency and economy. Further, colonists desired to be
left alone to pursue their individual intellgctual and
social lives. Proposing that the Board of Directors be
given "the power to prohibit nuisances," the committee
initiated the first serious protest. According to newspaper
accounts, the listeners focused on the term "nuisahée."
Sinclair suggested bare feet in the dining room as an
example of unacceptable behavior:; others debated whether the
recommendation’s intent was on moral or legal nuisances. In
a tongue-in-cheek article the New York Sun claimed the
meeting deteriorated into a comical forum on which
idiosyncracies would be allowed, with questions raised about
frying onions or playing "Waiting at the Church" on a
gramophone at midnight.4

Other newspapers recounted more serious discussion.
Several attendees criticized the recommendation to limit.
colony control to stockhdlders, who would receive one vote
for each thousand-dollar share they purchaséd. Sinclair

explained the policy was necessary to attract investors.

“wlLiberty in the Home Colony," New York Sun, 13 August
1906, p. 6.
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The gathering decided residents could have a voice at
meetings but could not vote.

The Committee on Planning and Scope presented a
detailed assessment of expenses. Basing their calculations
on one hundred families, most with two adults and one child,
the members determined the colony would need one hundred
acres with sixty cottages, sixty rooms for members, and
sixty rooms for workers. They estimated a capital outlay of
$275,000 for acquiring and improving a hotel and property,
constructing a children’s building, and setting up a laundry
and dairy, although they estimated that with $82,066 in cash
the colony could begin operations with one main building.
Relying on the Harvard Dining Association’s annual report,
the committee calculated that annual board would run $200
per member.%

The "children’s heaven" depicted by Sinclair would be
separate from the adult environment, according to the
Committee on Children. They decided to deal only with
issues concerning children over age three as no consensus
could be reached on infant care. Response to their
recommendations was based on whether or not prospective

members had children, according to a New York Times article.

Childless couples wanted the children’s diet to be

“4wginclair Colony Plan: Cost of Institution Project
Estimated to Be $275,000," New York Tribune, 14 August 1906,
P. 4; "Sinclair Colonists Discuss Future Cares," New York
Iimes, 14 August 1906, p. 12.
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determined by the colony doctor, while parents believed that
too much authority was being given to the professional care-
givers. A recommendation on returning unruly children to
their parents was changed to firing the unfit teacher who
had allowed the insurrection. The issue of candy and
pickles was reserved for a future meeting.®

"Equality of all mankind" was the goal of the Committee
on Labor. It recommended that all domestic work be done by
persons who could be accepted as colony members since "the
presence of servants in the household implies
irresponsibility and indifference." Further, all ﬁémbers
should earn some money through household labor in order to
eliminate the stigma associated with domestic service.%

Apparently, the Committee on Site Selection did not
meet in mid-August as they had not yet located an
appropriate property. Earlier articles reported that the
future colonists were studying the real estate market and
visiting sites. Reporters assumed New Jersey would be the
most likely location as it met Sinclair’s requirements of
being near water and within commuting distance of New

York.4

_ ®msinclair Colonists Discuss Future Cares," New York
Iimes, 14 August 1906, p. 12.

. “%wpentative Plans Ready for Sinclair Colony," New York
Times, 10 August 1906, p. 5.

“mupton Sinclair’s Cooperative Colony to Locate in New
Jersey," Newark Advertiser, 19 July 1906, p. 2.
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Sinclair admitted there was little modification of his
original prospectus.® an examination of an article he
wrote between the June 14, 1906 Independent article and the
colony’s inauguration four months later indicate that his
association with prospective colonists subtlely altered his
perceptions of colony life and reinforced his middle-class
prejudices. "The Cooperative Home" appeared in the December
1906 issue of Times Magazine, although Sinclair states in
the article that it was written in September.

Here at last was some attention, albeit indirectly, to
Meta’s (and other wives’) concerns. Sinclair acknd&ledged
the plight of the young woman trapped by domestic
responsibilities in the single-family home. She was forced
to become "a household drudge and a nursery steward" when
all she had ever really wanted was "to think, and to go on
with her music, and to share in her husband’s professional
life."@ while Sinclair’s condescending remarks ignored
the career woman juggling home and work responsibilities,
they at least brought some female perspective into the home
colony equation. Newspaper reports indicate that both men
and women took an active interest in the colony.

Sinclair also clarified how the master/servant
dichotomy would be eliminated in colony relations. A cook,

for example, would be the members’ equal not because they

“sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 306.

“sinclair, "The Cooperative Home," 95-96.
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would perceive her as such but because she really was one of
them--she would not be a lowly servant "not clever enough to
be a factory girl, nor attractive enough to be a prostitute"
but "a graduate of a school of domestic science"! 1In
exchange for several hours of menial labor each day she
would have the freedom to pursue her intellectual interests
without economic worry. Sinclair further intoned that it
would only be good manners for everyone to do some "honest
drudgery" for pay in order to reduce "the purely artificial
sentiment of humiliation which attaches to it in the cruel
world."® should any of the educated and refined persons
hired prove objectionable as colleagues, they would be
fired.

Sinclair gave less attention to colony child care in
the Times article but made revealing changes in its
administration. He made no mention of child care experts
but insisted that "it should hardly be necessary to say that
as much as possible . . . [child care] will be done by the
mothers."! He did not anticipate any disagreementé over
policies as they would be based on twenty years of child
care science. Further, their work would be supervised by
parents--a change from just mothers--elected by other
parents. Gone also was the litany of David’s misbehavior,

replaced with the claim that Upton and Meta would spend all

1bid., 95, 99.

SIbid., 100.
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their spare time helping out with the children.

While the decision to employ mothers as caregivers was
necessitated by the realization of how much it would cost to
hire professionals, it also reflected the growing "mother’s
movement" spurred by the declining availability of well-
qualified servants. This trend allowed women to combine
maternal responsibility with college education, producing
mothers who could apply child psychology’s new developmental
theories to their children’s nurturance.® It also
signaled society’s rejection of Charlotte Perkins Gilman’s
demand for professional child care. Agreeing with'ﬁer
assessment that women were not natural mothers, i.e., able
care givers, such groups as psychologist G. Stanley Hall'’s
Child study Institute and the AMA’s American Association for
the Study and Prevention of Infant Mortality, championed
training women to be mothers rather than employing child
care professionals.®® Gilman was one of the few feminists
in the early twentieth century who realized that such

practices doomed women to holding two, ultimately

2see Sheila Rothman, Woman’s Proper Place: A Histo
of Changing Ideals and Practices, 1870 to the Present (New
York: Basic Books, Inc., 1978), 106-12; Steven Mintz and
Susan Kellogg, Domestic Revolutions: A Social History of

Amerjcan Famjly Life (New York: Free Press, 1988), 119, 121,

124.

Bwilliam D. Jenkins, "Housewifery and Motherhood: the
Question of Role Change in the Progressive Era," in Woman’s
ej Woman’s Place: Female Identity and Vocation in
Amerjcan Hjistory, ed. Mary Kelley (Boston: G. K. Hall,
1979), 142-43.
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unsatisfactory, jobs: by forgoing hired help, women could
never "have careers equivalent to men’s without giving up
the joys and satisfactions of marriage and family. "

Editorial response to the colony remained consistent
throughout the summer. For the most part newspapers looked
on the experiment with interest and wished the colonists
well. They often described the effort as more impractical
than radical, indicating Sinclair’s ideas were not new but
did not have much support. The New York Daily Tribune
reminded readers that the colony roots could be found in
Brook Farm and the Fourier experiments. It suggesféd that
despite The Jungle’s notoriety, Sinclair had a "likelier bid
for lasting fame as the founder of a ‘co-operative home
colony.’" The paper labeled summer resort hotels,
centralized housekeeping in apartment houses, and the
Waldorf-Astoria’s kindergarten as cooperative in everything
but name and stated purpose.>®

While the proposals were accurately reported in the
press, a bemused tone permeated many of the comments. The
Literary Digest was one of the first to respond to
Sinclair’s Independent article, writing in its June 23, 1906

issue that Sinclair had turned his attention from

écarl Degler, dds: Wo and the Family i erica
om t evo ion to the es (New York: Oxford
University Press, 1980), 345.

"Mr. sinclair’s Colony. Plan for Co-Operative
Settlement Has Had Many Predecessors," New York Daily
Iribune, 12 August 1906, p. 8.
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millionaires to the "merely well to do": "those beef-packing
millionaires and their destinies are, after all, of small
importance compared with the economic problem and the
servant question in the households of most of us."™ The New
York Times hoped the colony would be successful "for it
might be a good thing, both for them and for the community,
that people possessing Mr. Sinclair’s qualiifications should
flock by themselves." A ﬁrooklzg Daily Eagle reporter found
it both amusing and admirable that Sinclair--a man--would
confront the servant problem. The New York Times later
doubted that the colony could find appropriate proéérty for
under three thousand dollars an acre.5

The issue of women’s suffrage and leadership at the
colony generated additional levity for journalists. The New
York Times predicted that watching the directors and
mothers’ board in operation would "be more fun . . . for
outsiders . . . than in the traditional barrel of
monkeys."S’ Two days later the paper could not resist
further comment; it did not believe colony affairs could run
smoothly with one hundred women voting but allowed it would

be overrun with eager applicants should they somehow

36wgpton Sinclair’s Dream of Home," The Literary Digest

32 (23 June 1906): 931; "The Sinclair Colony," New York
Iimes, 24 June 1906, p. 8; "Co-Operative Colony, Mr.

Sinclair’s Utopia,"™ Brooklyn Daily Eagle, 22 July 1906, p.
1.

S’"A Co-Operative Home," New York Times, 17 July 1906,
p. 6.
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succeed.® such merrymaking at women’s expense was nothing
new; anti-suffragists had long employed humor to goad their
opponents.”’ By 1906 6n1y four states had given women the
vote, and the ratification of the Nineteenth Amendment was
thirteen years away.

In response to Sinclair’s criticism of press coverage,
the New York Times reminded the future colonists that they
must expect some comment on their activities since their
meetings were public; they were not trying to discourage the
colony, as its "aim is one that corresponds to a real need."
A month later the New York Times again recognized ﬁﬁe appeal
of a cooperative plan but doubted the prospective colonists’
ability to run such an operation.%

The radical press gave scant attention to Sinclair’s
proposal. The July 1906 issue of the International

Socialist Review discussed the twenty-three-page brochure

that reprinted Sinclair’s June 14 Independent article. It
conceded that while the colony could not solve the servant
problem in a capitalist society, it could "make living a

little more endurable for those who are lucky enough to be

8nplanning the Home," New York Times, 19 July 1906, p.
6.

Robert H. Walker, The Poet and the Gilded Age: Socia
emes in Late 19 Century Amerjcan Verse (Philadelphia:
University of Pennsylvania Press, 1963), 157-58.

60"?1anning the Home," New York Times, 19 July 1906, p.
6; "Topics of the Times. Novelties that are Familiar," New

York Times, 11 August 1906, p. 4.
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able to co-operate as suggested."' A notice in Wilshire’s
also indicated that the colony was directed at the
"immediate personal problem," not the "future social
problem." It identified the colony’s potential residents as
"New Yorkers of limited incomes."® aApparently Wilshire

did not see himself among this target group; after the
initial colony meeting there is no record of his direct
involvement with the colony.

While most socialist periodicals ignored the colony,
one comrade vehemently disavowed any affiliation between the
socialist movement and Sinclair’s domestic proposai; In a
letter to the editor in the July 22, 1906 New York Times,
John Spargo attacked Sinclair’s "wvulgar" self-promotion and
misguided and murderous plans for communal childraising.
Spargo had known Sinclair since his conversion to socialism
and considered him a good friend. His research for Bitter
Cry of the Children (1906), a study of how poverty affects
children, had convinced him of the dangers of separating
children from their mothers. His letter listed the
mortality rates for communal child care facilities in New
York City, Massachusetts, Australia, and Italy and concluded

that children were better off in a tenement house than a

*'Review of A Home Colony (brochure) by Upton Sinclair,

in International Socialist Review 7 (July 1906): 60.
®wsinclair’s Colony," Wilshire’s Magazine 10 (July

1906): 9.
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scientifically-run cooperative nursery.®

Gaylord Wilshire quickly responded to Spargo’s charges
in a letter in the July 26, 1906 New York Times. He
insisted Spargo’s infant mortalify statistics had nothing to
do with the care of the older children for whom the colony’s
Plans were designed. Further, the colony would not
eliminate maternal care but "augment it." Wilshire also
wondered if Spargo’s letter was motivated by professional
jealousy over The Jungle’s success.®® sSinclair did not
directly defend himself or the colony against Spargo’s
charges but made a pointed reference to criticism 6§er their
supposed "imitation infant asylum" in his Times article.®®

As the press looked on the colony preparations with--
for the most part--good humor, additional families and
individuals committed themselves to the experiment. Twenty-

four people, including seven children, helped launch the

®nFacts for Mr. Sinclair. Fatal Results of Efforts to
Raise Babies on the Co-Operative Plan," John Spargo to the
editor, 20 July 1906 in New York Times, 22 July 1906, p. 6.
Spargo apparently disliked any form of cooperative domestic
arrangements. He later wrote that there was no need for
communal dwellings because labor-saving devices were making
housework "a light, agreeable, and recreative occupation for
a normal, healthy woman" (Spargo, Applied Socialism; A Study
of the ication o ialisti rinci s_to the Stat
[New York: B. W. Huebsch, 1912], 268).

®nMr. sinclair’s Colony. Children Not Infants to be
Co-Operatively Raised--Literary Rivalry." Gaylord Wilshire
to the editor, 26 July 1906 in New York Times, 28 July 1906,
p. 60

®*sinclair, "The Cooperative Home," 100.
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colony when it opened its doors in October 1906. By the
time of its demise on March 16, 1907, sixty-one adults and
eighteen children had lived at the colony. Newspapers
identified sixty-seven survivors of the colony fire,
indicating residence was not static. Some biographical
information has been located on sixty-six of the members and
forms the basis for the following observations on who was
attracted to the colony. For specific biographical details
and a comparison of the colonists with the general United
States population, see the Appendix.

Colony residents included eight families with.éne or
two children each, two married couples without children, and
four single women with children (the average family size in
1910 was 4.54).% Two married men with children--physician
Charles Castle and businessman Stephen Randall--lived at the
colony while their families stayed at home, in Ohio and
Rhode Island, respectively.

Seventeen single men and sixteen single women also
resided at the colony at some point. Of these individuals,
three men and five women clearly appear to be servants hired
specifically to handle colony duties rather than committed
colonists who joined the colony and assumed particular

responsibilities (although employees did participate in the

) %y.s. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census,

storjcal Statistics of the United States Colonia imes
fo 1970 (White Plains, New York: Kraus International
Publications, 1989), 41.
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colony social life). For example, the colbny hired
Englewood resident Michael Marvin to tend the furnace after
the departure of Yale students Sinclair Lewis and Allan
Updegraff. Similarly, Cornell graduate Lillian Davis was
replaced by Leonie Fichtenberg as colony cook. The
destruction of colony records makes it impossible to
distinguish between colony members, residents, and servants.

The oldest known colony residents were 58-year-old
engineer James McNiff and 56-year-old poet B. H. Nadal.®
The majority of adult male residents were between 28 and 44
years old; the average male age'was 36. Women resiéents
ranged in age from 19 (waitress Margaret Hogue) to 48
(writer Alice‘nacGowan). The majority of women were between
26 and 35, with the average female age being just over 31
Years old. Children ranged in age from 1ll-year-old Helen
Cooke to l-year-old Lisbeth Eberlein.

The majority of known adult residents were not native
Easterners but had been born in the northcentral states.®8
Nine known colony residents were born outside the United
States; of these, four appear- to be hired servants. Colony
trustee William Noyes was born in India, where his father
served as a missionary. Other residents had immigrated from

Canada, England, France, Germany, Scotland, Ireland, and

“’The exact age of 49 residents is known.
®%The birthplace of 37 residents is known, including

;zo for whom the specific United States location is not
own -
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Sweden. Anecdotal information suggests that at least one
other servant also was an immigrant.

The majority of known adult colonists were born into
Protestant families, although it is difficult to determine
the extent to which religion continued to be an integral
part of their lives.® Denominations included
Congregational, Disciples of Christ, Episcopal, Methodist,
Presbyterian, and Unitarian; at least three colonists became
Unitarians later in life. Engineer James McNiff was
Catholic, as was writer Michael Williams, who had abandoned
his faith by the time of the colony but had a spiriéual
awakening several years later and founded the Commonweal, a
Catholic journal of opinion. Before becoming a teacher of
manual arts at Teachers College, William Noyes had served as
a Congregational minister and missionary in Japan. Writer
John Collier and physician James Gwathmey also had studied
briefly for the ministry.

Helicon Hall residents were Clearly part of mainstream
American religion, unlike those attracted to some of the
nineteenth century religious colonies. Religion, in fact,
Played no part in Helicon Home Colony activities and was
purely a matter of personal preference. Undena Eberlein,
for example, was a devout member of the Disciples of Christ,

while her husband Ernest was an atheist who scoffed at

®The religion of 22 residents is known.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



76

organized religion.”™

In contrast, child care was a colony priority.
Colonists were knowledgeable about the latest theories on
raising children and valued discussions with colony visitor
John Dewey. The residents themselves were well-educated.
Twenty-three of the twenty-six residents for whom
educational achievement is known completed high school.
This includes four men and five women ﬁho attended college,
two men and three women who received undergraduate degrees,
and five men who earned graduate or professional degrees.
These figures reflect educational status at the tim; of the
colony; Anna Noyes later completed a master’s degree in
education, and Helen Montague became a psychiatrist.

The colonists’ occupations reflected their educational
background. The forty-three known occupations fall into two
groups: professional/editorial and domestic/skilled labor.
The latter group can be divided among those who were
regularly employed as laborers and those who pursued these
occupations as part of their colony commitments. Thus,
stockholder Anna Noyes’s time-as colony housekeeper most
likely involved different emphases than did that of German
immigrant Helen Knoll. Similarly, Cora Potter, Emma
Williams, and Frances Maule were not servants hired to look
after the children but rather committed colonists with a

keen interest in child care. The domestic/skilled laborers

MErnestine Benninger to author, 21 December 1991.
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included cooks, nightwatchmen, furnace keepers, handymen,
chambermaids, and waitresses, as well as carpenters and
engineers involved in the upkeep and improvement of the
physical plant.

Many of the professionally-employed colonists pursued
independent livelihoods as writers and journalists,
including Upton Sinclair, Michael Williams, Grace MacGowan
Cooke, Frances Maule, and Ellis Jones. Twelve colonists
worked directly in the editorial field as either writers,
reporters, or editors. In addition, Edith Summers and Grace
Seymour provided secretarial assistance to Sinclaif'and
Cooke, respectively; Henrietta Kimball worked as an
illustrator; and Ernest Eberlein was an
artist/lithographer. Including student writers Sinclair
Lewis and Allan Updegraff, eighteen people were connected to
the communications field. Other represented occupations
were physician, metalsmith/jeweler, actress, store owner,
and college professor.

It was possible to identify the occupations of twenty-
one colonists’ fathers. The fathers of eight colonists were
lawyers; John Collier’s father also was publisher of the
Memphjs Appeal and Alice MacGowan and Grace Cooke’s father
also edited the Chattanooga Timec. Freeman Tilden’s father
edited the Malden [Massachusetts] Times and gave his son his
first writing job. Ernest Eberlein and Peggy Williams’s

fathers farmed, although the former was forced to go to work
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with his son in a safe factory when he fell on hard times.
Michael Williams’s father had the romantic job of sea
captain but died when his son was fourteen. More mundane
positions as salesman, postal clerk, and carpenter were held
by the fathers of Upton Sinclair, Janet Bowles, and Cora
Potter, respectively.

There was no typical Helicon Hall colonist, although
certain.characteristics were shared by a majority of
residents. The Sinclairs fit the profile of the average
Helicon family. Like the majority of colonists, they were
white Protestants between 20 and 33 years of age (ﬁbton was
28, and Meta, 26). Both had graduated from high school, and
the husband had pursued further education. Upton worked as
a writer while Meta helped take care of the children.

Unlike most Helicon families, they only had one child, and
David was one year older than the majority of known
children.

The known Helicon Home Colony residents shared many of
the traits of the older 230 nationally-recognized social
reformers identified by W. D.- P. Bliss in 1908 and analyzed
by Henry J. Silverman. While none of the colonists achieved
national status as reformers (with the exception of
Sinclair, who was identified in‘Bliss's book), their
interests mirrored those of the leading advocates of early

twentieth century reform causes and reflected the same
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middle-class, native-born, Anglo-Saxon backgrounds.’!

It is also interesting to compare the Helicon Hall
colonists with the members of Brook Farm, the North American
Phalanx, and the Wisconsin Phalanx, nineteenth century
Fourierists with whom they were often likened.”™ As with
the Bliss reformers, the Fourierists primarily were white,
native-born Americans from the Northeastern region of the
United states. Twenty-five to forty percent of the phalanx
members had held professional and semi-professional
occupations, compared to nearly three-fourths of the Helicon
residents. In contrast, craftsmen and artisans madé up a
sizable portion (approximately forty-five to sixty-seven
percent of the Fourierists), a phenomenon attributable to
both economic conditions and recruitment of persons who
could directly contribute to community life.?

Throughout the summer the prospective colonists exam-
ined various properties, searching for the right combination
of price and location. Willing to begin with a summer

resort or other large single building, the group heard from

Mlsilverman’s study drew from W. D. P. Bliss’ 1908
Encyclopedia of Social Reform. Henry J. Silverman,
"American Social Reformers in the Late Nineteenth and Early
Twentieth Century" (Ph.D. dissertation, University of
Pennsylvania, 1963).

2see chapter 5 for a discussion of the accuracies of
these comparisons.

Bsee carl Guarneri, "Who Were the Utopian Socialists?
Patterns of Membership in American Fourierist Communities, "
Communal Societies 5 (Fall 1985): 65-81.
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countless real-estate agents anxious to unload broken-down
hotels in nearby towns.

Edith Summers remembered that Sinclair himself finally
located an appropriate site in Englewood, New Jersey in
early September 1906. In his Autobiography, Sinclair
credited committee members with finding Helicon Hall, a
former boys school in the northeastern town.” Colony
lawyer Leon Malkiel also may have been instrumental in
discovering the property. He specialized in real estate law
and offered his services in locating property near New York
in an advertisement on the back of Woman and Freedéﬁ, a
socialist pamphlet by his wife Theresa Serber Malkiel.”

Real estate advertisements in the Newark Advertiser
barely scratched the surface of Helicon Hall’s many charms.
The August 27, 1906 classified advertisement did not even
tell interested buyers how to contact the seller:

Englewood, N.J.--Helicon Hall, for a number of years

used as a private school for boys, is now offered for

sale or rent; it is well adapted for an inn or private
sanitariuf [sic]. Englewood, N.J.®
Nine days later the real estate agent added some enticements
to the listing: ”

Englewood--For sale, the property known as Helicon

*sinclair, Autobiography, 129.

Padvertisement, quoted in Francoise Basch,

introduction to Diary of a Shirtwaist Striker by Theresa

Serber Malkiel (1910; Ithaca, N.Y.: ILR Press, 1990).

" Real Estate for Sale, Newark Advertiser, 27 August
1906, p. 4.
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Hall; large building, beautifully situated in highest

part of Englewood; would make splendid hotel or

sanitarium; large, valuable acreage. H. Witherby [sic]

& Co., 271 Broadway, New York.”’

In Helicon Hall, the prospective colonists had found
both a site for their experiment in domestic economy and a
name for themselves. In mid-October 1906 Helicon Home

Colony began operations.

"Real Estate for Sale, Newark Advertiser, 5 September
1906, p. 4. Based on other advertisements, the agent was

probably H. Weatherby, misspelled in the Helicon Hall ad as
Witherby.
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Fig. 4. Helicon Hall Courtyard. Reprinted from
L. R. E. Paulin, "Simplified Housekeeping," Indoors
and out 3 (March 1907): 289.
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CHAPTER THREE
LIFE AT HELICON HOME COLONY
OCTOBER 1906-MARCH 16, 1907
Colonist Edith Summers remembered with vivid clarity
her first impression of Helicon Home Colony, even twenty-
seven years after its demise. Escaping the cool oéiober
air, Upton Sinclair’s secretary had stepped inside her new
home and walked through a short hallway to discover the
building’s most spectacular feature: a three-story glass-
covered courtyard filled with flowers, tropical ferns,
palms, and rubber trees, with a large fireplace at the far
end. Gazing in wonderment, she had thought, "This vision of
exotic beauty, this Persian garden out of some Arabian
nights, this [is] to be my home!"!
Twenty-three colonists, including seven children,
joined Summers in the early weeks of her new adventure at

the former boys school in Englewood, New Jersey. Others

L 'Edith Summers Kelley, "Helicon Hall: An Experiment in
Living," 1934, Edith Summers Kelley Papers, Morris Library,
Southern Illinois University, Carbondale, Ill.; ed., Mary

Byrd Davis, The Kentucky Review 1 (Spring 1980): 32.
85
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would soon follow. Like Sinclair, most were writers, or
aspired to be, actively pursuing their chosen calling with
determination. In Helicon Home Colony they found an
economical solution to high rents and child care--problems
exacerbated by the uncertain financial rewards of their
careers.

Summers identified the following colony pioneers: Upton
and Meta Sinclair and five-year-old David; writer Michael
Williams, his wife Peggy, four-year-old Margaret, and two-
year-old Philip; veteran newspaper journalists Edwin and
Frances Bjorkman; novelist Grace MacGowan Cooke, eiéven-
year-old Helen, and eight-year-old Katherine; Grace’s sister
Alice MacGowan, also a writer:; newspaper reporter Freeman
Tilden; Columbia University professor William Pepperell
Montague, his wife Helen, a medical student, and seven-year-
old William, Jr. and three-year-old Robin; Teachers College
instructor William Noyes and his wife Anna; socialist
activist Stella Cominsky; and Yale juniors Sinclair ILewis
and Allan Updegraff.2

The eager colonists’ new-home was a far cry from the
rustic cottage Sinclair had imagined for himself, although
its indoor swimming pool, bowling alley, theater, and pipe
organ matched the promised community amenities. His vision

of four hundred wooded acres had quickly given way to the

] 2see the Appendix for biographical information on the
Helicon Home Colony residents.
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realities of the real estate market. While Sinclair
insisted that such property could be found for ten to one
hundred dollars an acre within an hour’s commute of New York
City, the site committee soon learned otherwise. After
looking for two months they found Helicon Hall, which
satisfied initial requirements of size, acreage, and
location. Colonists had agreed that an already existing
building would allow them to quickly establish the colony
and plan for later expansion. Families anticipated building
their own small kitchenless homes on the surrounding
property in the spring. The colonists paid thirty;éix
thousand dollars for Helicon Hall, including three thousand
dollars for nine-and-a-half acres.? A half mile from the
Hudson River, the site adjoined fifteen miles of forest and
was situated in the Northern Valley section of the
thirty-mile ridge of basalt in northeastern New Jersey
called the Palisades of the Hudson.* In addition to the
main house, the property included a barn and a small

building that may have been used as a playhouse.?

*Upton Sinclair, The Autobiography of Upton Sinclair
(New York: Harcourt, Brace & World, Inc., 1962), 123.

‘Arthur C. Mack, The Palisades of the Hudson
(Edgevater, N.J.: The Palisades Press, 1909), 1.

>The current owner of Helicon Hall (a new building was
constructed on the site in 1909 and has continued to be
called Helicon Hall), Mrs. Theodore Baum, believes the tiny
house, which is still standing and is one of the original
buildings, was used by the school as a recitation hall;
however, it is not the recitation building pictured in the
1905 school catalog. 1Its diminutive size and scaled-down
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Commenting on the building’s opulence, a New York Times
editorialist wrote:

The unappreciative world may have a notion that when

the social reformer cuts loose from the ordlngry modes

of living and takes of the True Life he goes into bare

barracks, pitches his tent in a desert, sleeps in a

cave, or otherwise deports himself like an all-arounq

ascetic. The world, however, as frequently_hgppens in

such matters, is quite wrong in this supposition.®

The three-story stucco structure had eight thousand
square feet on the ground floor alone, including the 50 feet
by 20 feet courtyard. Devoted to "social purposes," the
ground floor included a billiard room, dining room, parlor,
and reading room.” Thirty-five bedrooms were accessible
from the second and third floor balconies that surrounded
the courtyard. While Sinclair worried about the expense of
maintaining such a large building--he estimated coal for
heating alone would cost one thousand dollars a year--he was
convinced that its size would better demonstrate the

advantages of household cooperation.® The colony also

boasted a dairy, which furnished its own milk and cheese,

cabinetry appear to indicate it was intended as a play area
rather than as a classroom.

6"Uptop Sinclair’s Colony to Live at Helicon Hall,"®
New York Times, 7 October 1906, pt. 3, p. 2.

7ﬁpton Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After,"
The Independent 62 (7 February 1907): 310; L. R. E. Paulin,

"Simplified Housekeeping," Indoors and Out 3 (March 1907):
288.

8Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 306.
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and a poultry yard.®
To colonist and visitor alike, the plant-£illeg

courtyard was the most prominent and memorable feature of
the building. To Meta Sinclair, it "gave an impression of
space and freedom, which was in keeping with the character
of the residents."'’ curving paths led over rustic bridges
and around a dancing fountain andAa six-feet by three-feet,
eight-inch deep fish pond filled with water lilies and
goldfish.' Quickly labeled "the jungle" by colonists, the
courtyard’s grass and ferns were supposedly off-limits.™
At least two children, however, found the greeneryifo be an
ideal play spot. Writing to Sinclair years later, Mary
Tayloe Gwathmey confessed, "You never guessed what imminent

danger you were in from all the orangs and beasts my brother

®Paulin, "Simplified Housekeeping," 292.

'Meta Sinclair, "One of the Characters at H.H.,"
handwritten description of Helicon Hall, Corydon and Thrysis
box, Meta Fuller Stone Papers, Lilly Library, Indiana
University, Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Stone
Papers). Corydon and Thyrsis is Meta’s unpublished
autobiographical novel; some sections are written in
fictional form while others are summaries of the action she
intended to write.

“Relley, "Helicon Hall," 32; Rose Woodallen Chapman,
"Upton Sinclair’s Experiment," Good Health (April 1907):
170; Upton Sinclair, The Cup of Fury (Great Neck, N.Y.:
Channel Press, 1956), 70.

2colony customs, broadside, December 1906, Upton
Sinclair Collection, Lilly Library, Indiana University,
Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Sinclair Collection).
Lilly Library houses the Sinclair Papers, which include his

personal papers, and the Sinclair Collection, which includes
printed works.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



90

and I filled it with."™ A large four-sided fireplace,
around which fifty to sixty people could gather, further
enhanced the courtyard.

Helicon Hall’s "tropical paradise" and other amenities
were the legacy of John W. Craig, an Episcopal minister who
had founded and built the school in 1894. Obsessed with
"the education of boys in aristocracy," Craig had "some
rather vague, neo-Nietzschean notions of gentility and
individualism,” which explained the building’s grand
appointments, according to colonist Michael Williams.'®
Edith Summers believed it was modeled after a building the
schoolmaster had seen in Egypt.'® A 1905 school catalog
shows the lush greenery of both the main buildings and
grounds. "The exterior of the building is of unique design
and impresses one as being in perfect harmony with its
surroundings," according to the catalog. "The interior is
unusually attractive. It was planned as an environment that

would stimulate to noble purposes in the daily life of the

13Mary Tayloe Gwathmey to Upton Sinclair, 28 October
1932, Upton Sinclair Papers, Lilly Library, Indiana
University, Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Sinclair
Papers).

. Y“Michael Williams, The Book of the Hiqh Romance: .\
Spiritual Autobiography (New York: Macmillan Co., 1918),
143.

BIbid., 141.

'Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 33.
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student."'” The thirty residential and day students
followed individualized tutorial programs designed to
prepare them for college, technical, or professional
schools. Apparently not enough people shared the
schoolmaster’s vision to keep the school in business,
although no reports of its closing could be located.

While the building was not what Sinclair had pictured,
the location was well-suited to his purposes. He
diplomatically called Englewood the "most beautiful suburban
town near New York."'® New York City was accessible by
railroad and ferry. Colonist and manager Anna Noyéé,
interviewed by the Englewood Press, also praised the
community, noting the suitability of the house, as well as

its "healthful location" and "good neighborhood.""

Helicon Hall, School Catalog, 1905, New Jersey
Historical Society, Newark, N.J. Researchers interested in
Helicon Home Colony should familiarize themselves with the
photographs contained in the 1905 catalog, available at the
New Jersey Historical Society and Lilly Library, Indiana
University, Bloomington, Ind. These same photographs appear
in a number of later articles about the colony. While they

rovide excellent views of the building, at least one
contradicts written descriptions of the colony. The school
catalog pictures a dining room arranged with rows of small
tables set for two people each. According to Edith Summers
(Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 33), the colony dining room
featured a U-shaped arrangement of tables--an important
facet of mealtime camaraderie and efficiency. A photograph
matching this description appears in Chapman, "Upton
Sinclair’s Experiment,"™ 171. Additional views of Helicon
Hall may be found in "Helicon Hall, Englewood, N.J.,"
Architectural Record 5 (January/March 1896): 303-06.

18Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 306.

¥nUpton Sinclair’s Colony As It Really Is," Englewood
Press, 3 November 1906, p. 3.
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Englewood was initially willing to return the
colonists’ compliments and wish them well:

The colony is to be congratulated upon the wise
selection of such a desirable place for the initial
launching of their plan. Both from its location and
its ideal setting, in the heart of the most prosperous,
healthful and substantial residential suburb of New
York; it forms a strong element towards assuring that
success which the effort warrants.®

Englewood also may have been trying to make the best of what
was considered a distasteful situation. Under the heading,
"An Outside Opinion," the Englewood Press published the
playful comments of a neighboring town’s paper:
The residents of a number of small communities in the
metropolitan radius have been standing ready to say
*ouch!’ or words to that effect, in case Upton
Sinclair’s co-op colony should decide to light in their
midst, but their apprehensions may now subside. Upton
has 1lit. . . . When the news percolated down the
hillside at Englewood the people wondered what they had
done to catch this new thing, and they decided that
they had in an evil day entertained the lost idea and
had acquired an Evening Posty habit of complaining of

the isness of the is and mentally reorganizing the
universe.?!

Given the vituperative comments later aimed at the
colony by Englewood residents, Michael Williams’s assessment
of the situation may come closer to reality: "Safe, sane,
conservative; average, normal; suave, smooth, conventional:
all the words and phrases of this ilk belong to Englewood.

On the other hand, Helicon Hall, stranded in the midst of

®Editorial, Englewood Press, 3 November 1906, p. 2.

21"Happy Englewood! It Has Caught the Co-Op, " Jersey

cit§ Journal, reprinted in Englewood Press, 6 October 1906,
p. -
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all this, like a gypsy van stopping in a Methodist
camp-meeting, and throbbing with a perpetual brain-storm of
radicalitis! %2

In mid-October 1906, the first eager colonists moved
in, after less than a week to prepare for their arrival,
with the result that there was no furniture, heat, food, or
cook.® The initial assignment for Yale University
runaways Sinclair Lewis and Allan Updegraff was to move
boxes and beds piled in the courtyard to the upstairs
bedrooms.® cColonists kept them busy rearranging the
furniture as rooms were calcimined and neighbors wifh
congenial hours were located.®

Helicon Hall was connected to the Englewood sewer,
water, and gas mains, and had a heating system that produced
enough power to furnish the building’s electricity. A fan

drew in fresh air, which was then heated through a

2williams, Book of the High Romance, 140.

Bypton Sinclair, "A New Colony. (Personal and
Confidential)," [1909?], John and Phyllis Collier
Collection, Archives of Labor and Urban Affairs, Wayne State
University, Detroit, Mich. (hereafter cited as Collier
Collection). Collier, a Helicon Home Colony resident,
included the text of this pamphlet in his unpublished
autobiography, The Search, in Volume III, "Experimental
Living," 292-306. Lilly Library has a similar but shorter
version of this pamphlet: Upton Sinclair, "A Plan for a Co-
Operative Group (Personal and Confidential)," September
1908, Sinclair Collection.

_“sinclair Lewis and Allan Updegraff, "Two Yale Men in
Utopia," New York Sun, 16 December 1906, p. 4.

ZSKel_ley, "Helicon Hall," 35-36: Sinclair, "The Home
Colony: Six Months After," 306.
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3,000~feet coil of steampipe.® Colonists soon discovered
the furnace was not working and huddled around the fireplace
for warmth. According to one published report, among the
few initial changes in the building was the addition of
sanitary plumbing.?

Despite the lack of heat and a diet of crackers and
milk, the colonists "had a jolly good time" in their first
weeks, declared Anna Noyes.® Decisions on colony
organization and administration, as well as its physical
setup and day-to-day management, kept Sinclair and others
busy. Three years later, in a "personal and confidéntial"
statement to those who might be interested in a new colony,
Sinclair cited the attempt at getting Helicon Hall
immediately in full operation as one of his chief mistakes.
Outlining the steps he would take to ensure a more orderly
establishment in the future, he noted "it may be years
before we have anything that the world will find it
worthwhile to take note of."® At the same time, Sinclair

and the others found their early days at Helicon Hall to be

%The Helicon Home Colon Englewood, N.J., one-page
sheet, n.d., Oneida Community Records, Special Collections
Department, Syracuse University, Syracuse, N.Y. (hereafter
cited as Oneida Community Records) .

#Paulin, "Simplified Housekeeping," 288.

#sinclair, "The Home Colony," 306; "Upton Sinclair’s
Colony As It Really Is," Englewood Press, 3 November 1906,
p- 3. .

Bsinclair, "A New Colony. (Personal and
Confidential)," Collier Collection.
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especially thrilling. In his unpublished autobiographical
novel, Love’s Progress, a sequel tc the published Love’s
Pilgrimage, the production of a proletarian opera parallels
the experiences of the colony. Describing early rehearsals,
Sinclair writes,
So day by day the work grew. It was like a great piece
of sculpture which they were helping to shape, and
every hour they got a new vision of the power and
beauty of it. A most inspiring thing it was to see a
group of people thus swayed by a common purpose, so
that for the time they forgot all about themselves and
their egotisms.3
In setting up the colony, the committees had settled on
a two-tier structure. They established the Home Colony
Company, a joint stock company, to raise the capital
necessary to purchase the property. The company in turn
rented the land and buildings to Helicon Home Colony, a
membership organization. By establishing two separate
entities the colonists could control membership; otherwise,
all stockholders would have been able to live at the
colony.3! Both entities were incorporated on October 22,
1906; the company under the provisions of the State Of New
Jersey Act Concerning Corporations (Revision of 1896), the

colony under the State of New Jersey Act of Incorporate

Associations Not for Pecuniary Profit (Approved April 21,

30Sinclair, Love’s Progress, Carbon of Later Draft, p.
294, Sinclair Papers.

*lUpton Sinclair, The Brass Check: A Study of American

Journalism (Pasadena, Calif.: By the Author, 1919; reprint,
New York: Arno and the New York Times, 1970), 69.
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1898). In each case Sinclair is named as the "registered
agent . . . upon whom process against the corporation may be
served."? The stock company was authorized to issue one
hundred thousand dollars worth of stock, divided into one
thousand shares at one hundred dollars each. At the time of
its incorporation, 103 shares had been sold: one hundred to
Sinclair and one each to colonists Edwin Bjorkman, Anna
Noyes, and Percy Russell.® A promotional flier pledged
that the company’s board of directors--Edwin S. Potter,
William Noyes, S. L. Randall, Sinclair, and Charles H.
Castle--would "all be resident in the Colony this Qinter,
and in close touch with its affairs." It further called the
investment an exceptional real estate opportunity "in one of
the finest suburban residence districts of New York, within
one hour of either Chambers, Twenty-third or 130th Street."
Investors would receive eight percent dividends on their
stock, guaranteed by Helicon Home Colony.* A letter sent
to persons placing bulk orders of the paperback edition of

The Jungle suggested that "comrades" also might be

*certificate of Incorporation of The Helicon Hall
Colony, Recorded 22 October 1906, Clerk of the County of
Bergen, Hackensack, New Jersey; Certificate of Incorporation
of The Home Colony Company, Recorded 22 October, 1906, Clerk
of the County of Bergen, Hackensack, New Jersey. aAlthough
the colony was officially incorporated as Helicon Hall
Coiony, the constitution identifies it as Helicon Home
Colony.

B1pid.

34'_rhe Home Colony Company, one-page sheet, n.d., Oneida
Community Records.
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interested in an investment "secured by gilt-edged real
estate,™ noting that the eight percent interest was
"guaranteed by Comrade Sinclair personally. "

Although the company’s accounting books were burned in
the fire that ended the colony, Sinclair quickly put
together a list of names and stock purchases in order to
reimburse the investors. On March 22, 1907 he recalled that
235 shares had been sold: himself, 160 shares; Edmond Relly,
20 shares; Charles Castle, 12 shares; Frederick W. Sparks,
10 shares; Mrs. Alfred J. Boulton, 10 shares; Lee Bernhein,
10 shares; Anna Noyes, 5 shares; A. G. Craig, 5 sh&fes;
Percy Russell, 2 shares; and S. L. Randall, 1 share. Edwin
Bjorkman, listed as a stockholder on the company’s
incorporation papers, is not mentioned.3

Among the six largest stockholders, apparently only
Sinclair and Castle lived at the colony, and it is unclear
whether the others ever visited Helicon. Little is known
about stockholder Frederick W. Sparks, who was most likely
F. W. Sparks, a lawyer active in the summer planning

meetings.¥ Edmond Kelly (1851-1909), who had a “great

*pear Comrade, n.d., Sinclair Collectjion.

36'U’pton Sinclair to the Holders of the Stock of the
Home Colony Company, 22 March 1907, Sinclair Papers.

37A 1943 New York Times obituary identified a Frederick
W. Sparks (1877-1943), a bachelor, who had graduated from
New York University Law School and been a member of the New
York bar since 1898. He had worked as a partner in two law
firms until recently establishing a private practice. The
obituary lists membership in several country clubs as well
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interest" in Helicon Hall, was introduced to Sinclair by
journalist Ray Stannard Baker. A successful lawyer who had
practiced in Paris for many years, Kelly was the author of
Government or Human Evolution (1900), which Sinclair
considered the best refutation of Herbert Spencer he had
read. Aristocratically born and bred, Kelly was looked upon
with suspicion when he became a socialist late in life.
Kelly recently had returned to the United States to found a
Fabian Socialist Society, after having been told that he
only had a few years to live.3®

Frances S. Boulton (1874-1954) purchased ten éﬁares of
stock but never lived at the colony, according to her
children Schroeder Boulton and Margaret Feher. Boulton was
the youngest child of Frederick A. Schroeder, who served as
mayor of Brooklyn from 1875 to 1877 and made a fortune from
Standard 0il stock. Feher characterized her mother as a
romantic socialist greatly influenced by Jacob Riis’s
description of New York poverty, who often invested her
substantial inheritance in idealistic causes. She was
active in a number of reform organizations, including the

Social Reform Club, where she met her husband, Alfred J.

as service in the New York National Guard. "Frederick W.
Sparks," New York Times, 27 June 1943, p. 32.

*yUpton Sinclair, "Two Notable Books," Wilshire’s
Magazine, September 1910, p. 15. For more information on
Kelly, see James Gilbert, Designing the Industrial State:

the Inte%lectual Pursuit of Collectivism in America, 1880-
1940 (Chicago: Quadrangle Books, 1972), 125-58.
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Boulton (1858-1944), a Canadian-born typesetter and labor
leader who promoted Henry George’s theories. According to
her children, Frances wanted to live at Helicon Home Colony,
which she hoped would become a "light of the world," but her
husband saw no need to move from their home and activities
in Brooklyn. The Boultons later joked that the colony was
one of the best investments Frances had ever made--at least
she received two-thirds of her money back after it burned
down. In the 1920s the Boultons fell on hard times when
Alfred lost his eyesight. Frances continued to admire
Sinclair, offering in the 1930s to sell EPIC brochﬁfes in
Brooklyn.3®

Stockholder Leon Solomon Bernheim (1875-1923), called
Lee, also came from a wealthy family. His father, Isaac W.
Bernheim, had emigrated from Germany in 1867 and became a
millionaire after founding the Bernheim Brothers Distilling
Company in Kentucky. Father and son did not get along;
apparently Lee’s sensitivity and independence clashed with
his father’s autocratic nature. Lee Bernheim tried at
various times to work with his father’s company but often
would leave to pursue drama, his first love. In 1905 he

sold his interest in the company to his father and uncle,

¥Schroeder Boulton, telephone interview with author, 7
December 1990; Margaret Feher, telephone interview with
author, 28 January 1991; "Mrs. A. J. Boulton Dies," New York
Times, 28 January 1954, p. 27; "Alfreéd J. Boulton, A Labor
Leader, 86." New York Times, 2 March 1944, p. 17; Frances S.
goulton to Upton Sinclair, 19 December 1935, Sinclair

apers.
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receiving a "comfortable fortune." In 1918 lee was still in
touch with Sinclair, sending him twenty-five dollars to help
distribute Upton Sinclair’s. According to his nephew, Lee
Bernheim did not live at the colony because he was vice
president of B. T. Babbitt Company in Albany, N.Y. at the
time.40

Helicon Home Colony, which had rented the property for
three years from the Home Colony Company, also was
responsible for paying mortgage interest, insurance, and
taxes and for setting aside $750 a year for répairs.
According to the colony’s certificate of incorporafion, its
purpose was "the study and practical solution of probiems in
domestic economy."*! This solution, as stated in a
promotional piece, was "co-operation in household
industry."? a colony constitution confirmed the
recommendations written by the planning committees during
the summer. The colony was to be governed by five trustees

elected annually, later changed to semi-annually, by secret

“Isaac Wolfe Bernheim, The Story of the Bernheinm

Family (Louisville, Ky: J. P. Morton & Co., Inc., 1910), 67-
68, 73; idem, The Closing Chapters of a Busv Life (Denver:
Welch-Huffner Printing Co., 1929), 55; I. W. Burnham II to
author, 29 May 1991; Lee S. Bernheim to Upton Sinclair, 23
March 1918, Sinclair Papers; Dan G. Stone, April Fools: An
Insider’s Account of the Rise and Colla se of Drexel Burnham
(New York: D. I. Fine, 1990), 11. The family later changed
their name to Burnham, and Lee’s nephew--I. W. Burnham II--
founded the company that became Drexel Burnham Lambert.

“Icertificate of Incorporation of the Helicon Hall
Colony.

““The Helicon Home Colony, Oneida Community Records.
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ballot of the entire membership.’ The certificate of
incorporation listed Sinclair, Ellis 0. Jones, Edwin Potter,
Charles Castle, and William Noyes as the first trustees.
Membership itself required one month’s residence at the
colony, approval by four-fifths of the current membership,
and a twenty-five dollar initiation fee, payable by an
initial payment of five dollars, with subsequent weekly
installments of fifty cents each.

The Committee on Organization had recommended in August
that "any white person of good moral character who is free
from communicable disease" could apply for membersﬁip.
However they also recognized that there were "exceptionable
individuals whose habits and ideas would render them
uncongenial®™ and called for a membership committee to screen
applicants.® Few whites in the early 1900s, including
radicals outraged by lynching and disenfranchisement, were

free of racist beliefs.® Although the colony constitution

“3The Helicon Home Colony Constitution, n.d., Butler

Library, Columbia University, New York, N.Y.:; Sinclair, "The
Home Colony: Six Months After," 311.

_ %wrentative Plans Ready for Sinclair Colony," New York
Iimes, 10 August 1906, p. 5.

“socialists had debated the condition of blacks at the
founding of the U.S. Socialist Party in 1901. Deferring to
the Southern contingent, the delegates passed a resolution
recognizing the former slaves’ unique position in society
but eliminated a clause condemning violence against African
Americans. Delegates to the 1904 convention did not
reaffirm the resolution, which was not even discussed.
Gaylord Wilshire was one of the Socialist Party’s white
supremacists, and Appeal to Reason editor J. a, Wayland
envisioned separate communities for whites and blacks under

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



102

eliminated the committee’s reference to "white person of
good moral character," no African Americans lived or worked
at the colony.

One applicant charged that Jews were not allowed to
join--an allegation that Sinclair denied, stating that both
Gentiles and Jews had been excluded. In a letter to the New
York Tigeé, D. C. Serber, who was not allowed to join, was
especially disgruntled as he claimed to have been involved
in four organizational committees and helping scout possible
sites at his own expense. (An October 6, 1906 article in
the Englewood Press listed him among the prospectiéé
members:“) Serber wrote that Anna Noyes had informed him
that residents and members must be "congenial®™ and
"selected."’ ILeon Malkiel, Sinclair’s Jewish lawyer, who
had drawn up the colony papers, told reporters he and his
wife, Theresa Serber Malkiel, planned to move into the

colony in the spring.%®

socialism. The Jungle’s racist portrayal of black strike
breakers contributed to white fears of black sexuality and
brutality. See Herbert Shapiro, "The Muckrakers and
Negroes," Phylon 31 (1970): 80; Philip S. Foner, American
Socialism and Black Americans: From the Age of Jackson to
World War IT (Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press, 1977), 103,
106, 142-43.

“nHelicon Hall Colony Club," Englewood Press, 6
October 1906, p. 5.

_ “mHebrews at Helicon Hall," D. C. Serber to the
Editor, New York Times, 12 November 1906, p. 6.

“"Uptpn Sinclair’s Colony to Live at Helicon Hall,"
New York Times, 7 October 1906, pt. 3, p. 2.
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By March 1907 George H. Gilman, Charlotte Perkins
Gilman’s husband, had replaced Malkiel as the colony lawyer.
The change may have been provoked by the exclusion of
Serbef, who was most likely Theresa Serber Malkiel’s
brother. 1In 1932 Sinclair recalled it was not Serber--whom
he found very agreeable--but Malkin (probably Malkiel), a
relative of Serber’s, who had been refused admission because
some "fastidious" colonists considered him "noisy" and
"invasive."¥ such a description could easily fit the
Russian Malkiel, who was portrayed in a New York Times
article about the colony as eccentric and nervous,.-
confiding, "I can tell you some great things about the
Japanese war, something secret--but not now."?® Sinclair
claimed personally to have no objections to Malkin [sic),
whose rejection by the colony executive committee was out of
his hands. Although Sinclair recalled that there were two
to three Jewish colonists, none has been identified by name,
although non-resident stockholder lLee Bernheim came from a
Jewish family.

Women could join the colony and share in both its
administrative and directorial duties. The ever-capable
Anna Noyes wielded much authority over daily operations in

her role as manager. She may have relinquished some of this

_ _“upton sinclair to Eugene B. Williams, 20 May 1932,
Sinclair Papers.

*"Upton Sinclair’s Colony to Live at Helicon Hall,"
New York Times, 7 October 1906, pt. 3, p. 2.
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power when she became head of the children’s department, and
Frances Maule Bjorkman took her place. Bertha Wilkins and
Meta Sinclair served on the Home Colony Company’s Board of
Directors.

During its existence, the population at Helicon Home
Colony ranged from approximately twenty-four to sixty-seven
men and women, including at times seven to eighteen children
and eight to fifteen servants. Newspaper and journal
articles identify at least seventy-five individuals as
colonists or residents, indicating that membership was not
static. B

Although membership was not required for residence,
only colony members could vote on the many decisions that
had to be made as the colony defined itself. To Sinclair,
this faith in "democratic institutions" was one of the
colony’s strengths. (Among its rules were also provisions
for initiative, referendum, and recall.) Recalling long,
anxious committee meetings, Edith Summers wrote that the
most serious colonists were those with children, who felt
they had to "prov[e] something to themselves and to the
world [and] felt . . . responsibility for the success of
their venture."”! wWhile votes were initially taken on all
decisions, later issues were resolved through discussion

alone.>?

>'Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 39.

*2sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 308.
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Reporting on the colony’s progress in a February 1907
Independent article, Sinclair carefully outlined its
revenues and expenses. The colony based its budget on a
full occupancy of sixty-two individuals (forty-seven
residents and fifteen workers), providing $6,240 in rent and
$12,220 in board, with an additional $1,500 profit generated
by the colony’s private laundry, for a total annual income
of $19,960. Sinclair listed fixed expenses as $1,800 for
mortgage interest; $1,600 for company stock; $750 for
depreciation of equipment; $500 for building repairs; $600
for taxes; $200 for insurance; $1,000 for coal; ana-ssoo for
water, gas, sewer, and telephone. Added to this were $6,400
for food for sixty-two persons and $5,260 in salaries, for a
total of $18,850 in annual expenses. This left a margin of
$1,110.%

Adults paid monthly costs of twenty-five dollars for
board, twelve dollars to rent a twelve-feet by fourteen-feet
room, and twenty-five dollars for board and care of each
child.%* Although not mentioned in promotional literature,

colonists were able to rent more than one room or even a

31bid., 311-12.

The Helicon Home Colon + Oneida Community Records.
According to a September 1906 New York Sun article, five-
room apartments in the West Side rented for forty to
seventy-five dollars a month, or approximately eight to
twelve dollars per room. The article noted that rents had
not risen recently and that upgrades required by new laws
had improved the rental scene. "Apartments To Suit All
Men," New York Sun, 2 September 1906, p. 9.
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"suite" of rooms. Writing to his wife in late September
1906, John Dewey diagrammed and described six rooms he had
tentatively arranged for the family to move into when they
followed him from Chicago to his new job teaching at
Columbia University. The "corner suite," as he called it,
featured a fourteen-feet by fourteen-feet corner room
connected with twelve-feet by seven-feet dressing rooms on
either side; the latter could be used by two of their
children. 2 twelve-feet by seven-feet and three twelve-feet
by ten-feet rooms were located next to one dressing room,
along one side of the courtyard balcony. Next to fﬁe other
room was a public parlor, which could serve as Mrs. Dewey’s
receiving room. Dewey suggested that two of the rooms could
be for themselves, the third could be her study, and the
fourth reserved for guests, such as their daughter Evelyn,
who was studying in New York city. Dewey wrote that the six
rooms were available for eighty-two dollars, thus requiring
them to economize on their éity apartment, although they
would not have to pay storage costs as there was ample room
in the building. He noted that his Columbia University
colleague William Pepperell Montague and his wife were
renting only two rooms as their two boys would be sleeping
in the children’s dormitory.’® The family later decided

not to move to the colony, although Dewey continued to

*John Dewey to Alice Dewey, 27 September 1906, John
Dewey Papers, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale, I11l.
Microfilm (hereafter cited as Dewey Papers).
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visit.%

A salaried manager handled day-to-day operations at the
colony, although a frustrated Sinclair soon found that he
could not ignore the daily crises that are the fate of any
innkeeper, especially one whose name, reputation, and
fortune were so closely aligned with the effort. One month
into the experiment, he told a reporter, "I’m not doing any
literary work now, I’m running a colony."s He would
continually remark on this situation, admitting in 1909, "I
personally failed to realize that a thing such as Helicon
Hall, which all the world needed, would insist upoﬁ.growing,
and required at its head a practical businessman, who would
give his entire time to it, without stopping to worry about
the books and plays he was not getting a chance to
write."® A workaholic, Sinclair did not limit his

activities to Helicon Home Colony’s operations. In October

after seeing the colony, Dewey’s wife declined to
join. Although there is no record of Alice Dewey’s exact
comments, her son’s reaction indicates her displeasure: "I
am awfully sorry to hear that Helicon Hall is such a mess.
Hurray for socialism and enthusiasm I would say, unless it
is going to fall upon Mama. Have you gone too far to back
out--Mama’s description is quite ludicrous, or at least
amusing, but I am afraid it may seem like the Icon left off
before you got there" (Frederick Dewey to John and Alice
Dewey, 8 October 1906, Dewey Papers). The November 3, 1906
issue of Charities and the Commons lists Dewey as a colony
director. "The Household Experiment on the Palisades," 185.

™A Deserter From Utopia," New York Sun, 20 November
1906, p. 6.

.sasinglair, "A New Colony. (Personal and
Confidential)," Collier Collection.
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1906 he became a socialist candidate for Congress from New
Jersey’s Fourth District. Although he freely admitted that
he would not actively campaign for office, having accepted
the nomination only out of a sense of responsibility as a
socialist, he did attend various political meetings at the
time; he lost by nearly seventeen thousand votes to the
Republican candidate.®® At Helicon Sinclair wrote The
Industrial Republic as well as several articles about the
colony. In addition, he continued his affiliation with the
Interccllegiate Socialist Society, complaining to J. G.
Phelps Stokes that much of the work and responsibiiity for
the organization had fallen on his shoulders.®® sinclair
confided to Jack London that his wife Meta also was weighed
down with colony responsibilities.®!

Calling Sinclair the nominal "Czar of Helicon Hall,"
Grace Seymour, colonist Grace Cooke’s secretary, claimed the
practical head was William Grinnell, the carpenter in charge
of the building remodeling. Rather than unseating Sinclair,
he worked behind the scenes through colonist-trustee William

Noyes. If not for Noyes, Grinnell, and Charles Hilliker,

¥nsinclair Socialists’ Choice for Congress," Daily

Irue American, 28 July 1906, p. 1; "N.J. Storm Centered on

Upton’ Sinclair," Newark Sunday News, S July 1964, p. 22.

$ypton Sinclair to J. G. Phelps Stokes, 17 August
1906, Sinclair Papers.

$lupton Sinclair to Jack London, 6 March 1907, Jack
go?qgn Papers, Henry E. Huntington Library, San Marino,
alif.
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the colony engineer, Helicon Hall would have been a
financial disaster, according to Seymour. "No one among the
low-brows (I mean the practical people in the colony) blamed
the visionaries, because they knew that people of a
philosophic cult are far removed from the vulgar
contemplation of ways and means," she told a reporter after
the fire.®? Unfortunately, no colony records exist to
verify her claim of Grinnell’s maneuverings.

A primary concern in the colony’s operations was the
question of who would perform the necessary tasks of
cooking, cleaning, and child care. The colony disﬁfibuted
two application blanks: one for residents, and one for
"families who wish to support themselves entirely by labor
in the Colony." The latter inquired about the applicants’
health, occupation, and current salary.® as noted by
Sinclair in his June 14, 1906 Independent article, the
"servant problem" was a continuing concern to persons such
as himself and one that the colony would address. For
Sinclair, the issue was not centered on the master-servant
relationship but more simply on freeing himself from the
mundane tasks that left little time for writing. He judged
this to be the equal concern of his fellows:

They were literary people, who could not afford hotel

62wsays Helicon Hall Fire Only Hurried Impending

Crash," New York American, 20 March 1907, p. 3.

®application Blank for Residents and Application Blank
for Workers, n.d., Oneida Community Records.
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life and were too sensitive for boarding house life.
The novelty of Helicon Hall and its social ]
opportunities attracted them; but more than anything
else, they wanted their three meals cooked and the
dishes washed, without their having to bother.%
Having grown up moving back and forth, if not smoothly at
least regularly, from his family’s rented boarding rooms to
his successful uncle’s opulent homes, Sinclair had
experience living with and without household employees. He
and his wife Meta had employed a housekeeper and secretary,
even when his income was barely above subsistence level. He
appeared to treat them as family members, writing and
supporting them long after their employ.®®
Colonists were forthright about the young
professionals’ discomfort with hired help. Edith Summers
recalled that these
were the sort of people who do not like the idea of a
servant class, the sort of people who believe that a
little physical labor, even the most menial sort, is
not beneath the dignity of anybody, and who look
forward to the time--perhaps not so very far away from
now--when we will be no longer master and servants, but
all just human beings, free to seek out our salvation,
each in his own way.

A sympathetic reporter also viewed the colony arrangements

%Upton Sinclair, "A New Helicon Hall," The Independent
67 (9 September 1909): 580.

$sinclair was especially fond of Edith Summers, his
secretary at the time of Helicon Home Colony. He supported
her when she began freelancing in New York City after the
fire (Meta Sinclair to John Collier, 30 November 1907,

Collier Collection) and promoted her novel Weeds in the
1920s.

®Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 36.
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with a liberal eye: "[as] experts in their own lines [the
colony workers are] just as worthy of respect and social
position as the expert musician or artist. The standard
should be the excellence of the work performed, not the kind
of work done."&

It is clear, however, that Sinclair and the other
colonists did see themselves as different and distinct from
persons who were regularly employed in household labor.
They had initially hoped to hire college students as
servants, but soon discovered "the cooking was too hard a
job for the college girl who had undertaken it, and.. . .
the college boys who agreed to scrape the pots and bottles
did not scrape half as vigorously as they should have, "%
Summers reported that most workers did not come from
employment agencies. She described the chambermaid, a Miss
W., as a "philosophical anarchist" and strict vegetarian.
This was most likely Bertha Wilkins, whom Grace Seymour
reported had served as Sinclair’s assistant during his
investigation of the Chicago stockyards.® cColonist and
trustee Edwin S. Potter was especially blunt:

We are not certain at this moment that we can find

enough of these people who are our equals in
culture and refinement to undertake all of what

$’Chapman, "Upton Sinclair’s Experiment," 171.
®%sinclair, "A New Helicon Hall," 580.
“Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 37; "Says Helicon Hall Fire

Only Hurried Impending Crash," New York American, 20 March
1907, p. 3.
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you might vulgarly describe as the menial tasks

involved in running Helicon Hall. . . . For

instance, Michael, the hired coachman, is still on

the place, and we may be compelled to keep him

until one of our own members, whom we consider_our

social equal in every respect, qualifies for his

position. Or possibly, Michael himself may become
cultured and co-operative, solving the problem in

that way.”

In the final outcome, child care was the only
occupation that was handled by what all could agree were the
colonists’ "social equals"--the mothers themselves.

Sinclair reported that four of the five colony mothers (the
fifth, Helen Montague, was pursuing a medical degree in New
York City) cared for the children in place of the promised
nurse and kindergarten teacher, who proved too expensive for
the small number of children initially living at the
colony.” Thus the area that had received the most damning
criticism in the cclony’s early stages--the separation of
children from their mothers--was resolved in a practical
manner that avoided the use of servants but still came under
attack for being outside the norm.

Deciding that "educated and refined" (but hardworking)
workers were not readily available, the colonists settled

for those who might not have college diplomas but were

Mnypton Sinclair’s Colony to Live at Helicon Hall,™"
New York Times, 7 October 1906, pt. 3, p. 2.

Nlsinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After,"
309-10. Between October 1906 and March 1907 at least ten
mothers with children lived at the colony.
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honest, clean, and courteous.” In writing about the
colony, Sinclair and others often made distinctions between
adults, children, and servants when reporting the number of
colony occupants. Many of the servants slept in a
third-floor dormitory created by erecting ten-foot high
partitions in a large studio. The colony planned to raise
the roof and convert the studio into separate bedrooms as
soon as they had enough money to hire extra carpenters. On
the advice of an architect, they used the lumber for the
planned project to construct the partitions, attaching
curtains in the doorways. Sinclair later wrote théf the
colony did not treat servants as "a separate class of
inferior animals whom we put off by themselves in the
basement of the building."” While this is true, their
third-floor dormitory was a far cry from the colonists’
private suites.

Newspaper reports of the colony fire list persons
identified as housekeepers, cooks, and engineers among the
survivors. Colony rules included a proviso that workers
were not to be given tips as this "would violate the spirit
of the place which is no class divisions."? According to

one early report, colonists and workers received the same

21pid., 311.

B“Helicop Hall’s Morals Good," New York Sun, 23 March
1907, p. 3; sinclair, The Brass Check, 69, 64-65.

"colony customs, Sinclair Collection.
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wages they would have earned elsewhere for similar work. In
addition, all workers, including those who did not live at
the colony (which at the time was two women hired to help
out in the dining room), could participate in all colony
social activities as equals.” Dewey reported to his wife
in late September 1906 that the manager had "practically
hired" the Montague family servant for the colony.’

Although he continued to insist that cooperation and
labor-saving devices raised the status of workers from hired
hand to potential colony member, Sinclair’s later statements
display a condescending attitude toward Helicon Haii
employees. For example, he claimed that staff participated
in dances and parties as social equals but still chided
former colonists Sinclair Lewis and Allan Updegraff for
reporting to the outside world that Columbia University
professor William Montague had danced with Minnie Campbell,
the Irish servant girl.” Describing Helicon Home Colony
in 1928, sinclair wrote, "I cannot recall having heard that

any of our ‘colony workers’ ever abused the consideration we

BPaulin, "simplified Housekeeping," 291.

6John Dewey to Alice Dewey, 27 September 1906, Dewey
Papers.

7sinclair grouped Lewis and Updegraff with other
reporters who were attempting to titillate the public.
According to Sinclair, they failed to mention that Minnie
had danced with everyone and that Montague’s wife was
present or to recognize the difficulties Montague might
encounter from the dean at Barnard College, where he also
taught. sSinclair, Autobiography, 131.
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showed. They were always quiet and courteous, and possessed
by the spirit of jolly and simple democracy that is a
feature of my private Utopia."™

With the basic administrative structure in place, life
at Helicon Home Colony took on its own rhythm. For the most
serious co-operator, there were weekly colony meetings at
which decisions were made, disagreements settled, and future
plans debated. oOthers simply adapted their former routines
to colony living: working during the day and enjoying each
other and the colony’s recreational activities in their
off-hours. Young people, such as Edith Summers ana.sinclair
Lewis, viewed the experience more as a lark--working only as
much as they had to and reveling in each other’s company and
in the freedom from economic deprivation.

There was no one "type" at the colony but rather as
many "types" as there were residents.” Although Sinclair
claimed that the cooperative experience soon changed
residents to socialists, visitors and colonists recalled "a
mixed assemblage of socialists, ‘intellectual anarchists, ’
single taxers, vegetarians, spiritualists, mental
scientists, Free Lovers, suffragist;, and other varieties of

Ism-ites" vying for attention at meetings, dinner, and

"upton Sinclair, "My Private Utopia,™ The Nation 127
(11 July 1928): 39.

®nsays Helicon Hall Fire Only Hurried Impending
Crash,"™ New York American, 20 March 1907, p. 3.
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around the courtyard fireplace.® along with what many
outsiders considered a radical clientele, there were also
said to be Southern women whose "standards of ladyhood are
rigid" and "business people . . . who have old-fashioned
conservative ideas."®' The Appendix details colonists’
backgrounds, affiliations, employment, and future
activities.

To a critical reporter, the only common bond between
the colonists was agreement on "the desirability of getting
rid of family responsibilities."® while Sinclair and the
other colonists would not have stated their raison'é'etre in
quite this manner, the opportunity to experiment with an
economical alternative to traditional family life in the
city--rather than any particular philosophical or political
viewpoint--was an obvious attraction to many colonists.

Despite the charges that colony life was an affront to
familial standards--especially as it concerned the
children--some colonists considered themselves to be a
family, with no apologies for any members who might be

labeled cranks by the outside -world. "One of the great

®ypton sinclair, The Industrial Republic: A Study of
the America o en _Years Hence (New York: Doubleday, Page &

Co., 1907), 281; Williams, Book of the High Romance, 142.

.mSinclair, Brass Check, 66; "Upton Sinclair’s Colony
to Live at Helicon Hall," New York Times, 7 October 1906,
pt. 3, p. 2.

82A:}van F. Sanborn, "At Upton Sinclair’s.n Boston
Transcript, 30 January 1907, p. 16.
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charms of the colony was the easy camaraderie, the pleasant
casualness, void of strain or pretense that made up its
social atmosphere," wrote Edith Summers. "It sounds banal
to say that we were like one big family, but we actually
were--without the endless petty friction that goes on in
most families."®® Even Grace Seymour, critical of much she
had experienced, admitted, "Anyone with a sense of humor
could have enjoyed 1ife at Helicon Hall. . . . [H]umor began
in the morning and lasted throughout the day. It extended
late the night. "%

No where is this mixture of serious purpose,
camaraderie, and familial crankiness better shown than in
the thirty-one house rules or "Colony Customs." Prepared in
December 1906, the list begins with a caveat: "aAs the
conditions of life in Helicon Hall are necessarily different
from those of other places where standards of conduct have
been established, it has been deemed best to give, for the
benefit of new arrivals, a statement of the customs which
have been evolved from the practical experience of the Home
Colony." Many of the rules are identical to those proposed
by the various colony committees during the summer meetings.
Some appear to reflect personal pet peeves, including those

of Sinclair, while others are intended to keep peace among

®Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 40.

8wsays Helicon Hall Fire Only Hurried Impending
Crash," New York American, 20 March 1907, p. 3.
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the hardworking colonists earning their living at home.
Among the former were no smoking in the parlor, reading
room, and dining room; no piano playing after 9:00 p.m.,
except on Saturdays; and "Comfortable [clothes] are in order
at all times . . . . we dislike only unsightly objects, such
as suspenders."™ (Although not specifically mentioned in the
rules, most women usually wore bloomers--finding them
especially suitable for dancing and walks in the
woods-~except when visiting Englewood proper.) Rule 25
warned that private items left in the bathroom or common
areas would be impounded, redeemable only after a five-cent
penalty was paid. Sinclair’s troubling memory of his own
precocity seems apparent in rule 21: "The children’s
department requests assistance in its efforts to treat
children as playmates and equals, rather than as playthings
and pets. We do not admire and discuss our children when
they are present."®

Practical rules included marking laundry with the
owner’s initials, turning down the gas when leaving a room,

and helping keep the pool clean by showering before

®colony customs, Sinclair Collection. In 1963
Sinclair recalled how he had overheard his mother bragging
to others about how he had taught himself to read using
alphabet blocks. "We talk about children, and we don’t
realize that they’re listening and absorbing every word. I
learned that I was smart, and that it was extraordinary that
I should teach myself. . . . After that I didn’t want to do
anything but read. My mother had to put me outdoors and
tell me to run and play for awhile, and then I’d come back
and read" (Upton Sinclair, interview by Ronald Gottesman,
January 1963, Columbia University Oral History Project).
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swimming. Administrators requested that bills be paid
promptly and any problems be brought directly to their
attention rather than coming to them secondhand. No credit
would be extended.

The final rule seems to reflect Sinclair’s trust that
the "right people will find us in the end."® whether it
was written by Sinclair alone or by some animated committee,
it reveals a utopian side of the colony that owed more to
William Morris’s pastoral idyll than Edward Bellamy’s
technocracy:

And after all these things have been attended to there

remains the Spirit of the Colony; a thing which has

grown unsought and unthought of, but which has become
very precious to every Colonist. Having put our
economic life upon a basis of justice and equality, we
are free from most of the occasions of bitterness and
strife which exist elsewhere. We treat each other with
courtesy and kindliness; we are busy and out of
mischief; and, having the best of motives ourselves, we
attribute them to all who enter our doors. We help out
in all emergencies, and when the spirit moves us, we
turn and play together like children.®

Out of economic necessity, play time for most colonists
was reserved for meals and evenings. Rules recognized that
many colonists were pursuing their livelihoods at home, or
at least needed quiet to commune with their personal muses.
Colony membership at one time or another included fourteen
persons identified as artists, writers, or editors.

Sinclair reported that no musicians lived at the colony

86Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 312.

8colony customs, Sinclair Collection.
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because the writers did not want any noise.® Privacy was
paramount among the residents, who were reminded that "in
their intellectual and spiritual lives the Colonists desire
to be let alone. They impose no social obligations and
respect each other’s right to privacy."® sinclair himself
retreated to a small tower study accessible only by ladder
whenever he felt the urgent need for solitude.® others
had to be content with their own quarters or the colony’s
common rooms. Unfortunately, remembered Michael Williams,
the building’s thin walls could not keep out the sounds of
the typewriters found in every other room, childreﬁ.yelling,
the MacGowan sisters dictating their novels, Edwin Bjorkman
philosophizing, and Sinclair Lewis and Allan Updegraff
swapping stories.?’ Nevertheless, rules cautioned
colonists against whistling and tramping in the halls.

As much as they valued their privacy, colonists also
reveled in their time together. "Among the joys we realized
was the opportunity of being alone when you wanted to be

alone, and of having friends when you wanted friends,"

_ ®ypton sinclair, interview by Josef Kirigin, Monrovia,
Calif., 15 August 1962, Sinclair Collection.

®colony customs, Sinclair Collection.
%Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 39; "The Story of Upton

Sinclair, as told to a Record reporter," Los Angeles Record,
11 September 1929.

"'Williams, Book of the High Romance, 144.
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recalled Sinclair.” oOne place they could not avoid each
other was the communal dining room, where three meals were
served daily. Dinner especially became a time for both
serious and lighthearted discussion of current events and
personal philoscphies, as members regrouped after busy days
working in New York City or their private chambers.

Lillian Davis, a Cornell graduate who had visited
schools of domestic science, served as the colony’s first
cook. Employing the latest efficiency methods, the colony
barred tablecloths and linen napkins and relied on Aladdin
ovens and fireless cookers.” 1In recognition of Siﬁelair's
research for The Jungle, the colony forbade canned foods.%
When the work proved too difficult for Davis to handle,
other colonists tried their hand at cooking. "The thought
of a brawny-armed cook from an employment agency just did

not fit in with colony ideas," wrote Edith Summers.”® out

®sinclair, "My Private Utopia,"™ 39.

PwUpton Sinclair’s Colony As It Really Is," Englewood
Press, 3 November 1906, p. 3. The Aladdin Oven had been
invented in the late 1880s by:Edward Atkinson, a successful
fire insurance entrepreneur. Made of wood or fiberboarad
lined with tin, its primary advantage was its ability to
contain heat, unlike standard metal ovens. Middle-class
reformers and gadget-lovers were more interested in the oven
than the working class for whom it was designed. Harvey A.
Levenstein, Revolution at the Table: The Transformation of
the American Diet (New York: Oxford University Press, 1988),
47-48.

9""Upton Sinclair’s Colony to Live at Helicon Hall,"
New York Times, 7 October 1906, pt. 3, p. 2.

®Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 36.
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of desperation, the colony finally put aside its aversion to
hired cooks, although Sinclair continued to assure potential
colonists that meals were prepared by "members of our big
family, whose cleanliness and honesty are matters of common
knowledge to us."%

Colonists and visitors alike recognized the importance
of meal time at the colony, thus the food and accompanying
conversation received considerable attention in their
writings. For the most part, the colony diet apparently
disturbed only those who had other reservations about
Helicon Hall. Much of the criticism may have been.éublic
backlash to Sinclair’s indictment of the meatpacking
industry.¥ Additionally, the colonists’ diet was an easy
target for parody and may have reflected the reporters’
recognition that it was one area they could safely assume

would be of interest to readers without being offensive.

¥sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 310.

Lawrence Kaplan, "A Utopia During the Progressive
Era: The Helicon Hall Colony, 1906-07," Lecture presented at
the Englewood Public Library, - Englewood, N.J., 12 April
1988. Videotape. No reporters made a direct comparison
between the colony’s diet and Sinclair’s expose on the
meatpacking industry. However, after the fire, some did see
a connection between The Jungle’s revelations and what they
viewed as Sinclair’s negligence at the colony. An editorial
in Amerjcan Magazine was typical: "I can’t help believing
that if Mr. sinclair in his researches on the beef trust had
found that it had ever crowded fifty-five of its empioyees
together in a house at the Chicago stockyards and had been
as negligent of their lives and property as Mr. Sinclair was
of the lives and property of those whom he had drawn about
him, he would have made another thrilling chapter of The
Jungle" (American Magazine, June 1907, pP. 220).
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In a 1909 article touting his newfound devotion to
fasting and vegetarianism, Sinclair recalled that both meat
and vegetables were served at the colony, although it is not
known how regularly each appeared on the menu.® He would
later write that "the food habits of the average civilized
man" were among the reasons he hesitated to resurrect the
colony after the fire. Any future colony, he pledged, would
be vegetarian, not from any sense of moral outrage but
because of its convenience and economy. "Three-fourths of
the energy of those who were running Helicon Hall was given
to ordering food, and cooking and serving it, and éieaning
up the wreckage three times a day. We used to have long and
anxious debates as to whether people could exist without
soft-boiled eggs on Sunday morning."%

Grace Seymour, who felt she had been treated poorly by
some colonists, reported that "the staple food products
consist[ed] of samp (a sort of hominy), educators (a
saltless cracker) and prunes. Of course we had other things
to eat like sweet potatces, codfish, and onions."

Commenting on a colony dinner; Boston Transcript reporter
Alvan F. Sanborn wrote that "beans, potatoes, turnips,
peanuts, prunes, ‘educators,’ and cocoa . . . hardly

constitute what the average man returning from a hard day’s

®sinclair, "New Helicon Hall," 580.

.”Singlair, "A New Colony. (Personal and
Confidential)," Collier Collection.
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work in the city (unsustained by zeal for reform), would
denominate a ‘square meal’--however ‘rational and
scientific’ a meal it may be."™ 1In fairness to his hosts,
the satirist added, "The Colony had just got a new
cook--alas, the familiar phrase!--and it is barely possible
that an accident happened to the roast." Colony guest Mrs.
L. H. Harris criticized sinclair’s pirating of Gilman’s
ideas but conceded that the food was healthy and plentiful:;
she believed, however, that everyone must have had "a bag of
things injurious to eat in his closet [because] there is
something mean and contradictory in every man’s stéﬁach
which makes him crave an occasional indigestion." Even the
usually optimistic Edith Summers recalled that before a
regular cook was hired, the "diet was rather hard on
stomachs and tempers," reflecting the personal tastes of
whatever female colonist was in charge. Thus, the strict
vegetarian served lentil loaf and unsalted vegetables, while
the southerner stuffed them with fried chicken and candied
sweet potatoes. Identified by Summers as Mrs. P., the
former was most likely Cora Potter, while the latter, Mrs.
G., was probably Margaret Gwathmey.'%

Even when the colonists’ diet consisted of more usual

fare,’ journalists found a way to give it a humorous twist.

"®nsays Helicon Hall Fire Only Hurried Impending
Crash," New York American, 20 March 1907, p. 3; Sanborn, "At
Upton Sinclair’s;" Mrs. L. H. Harris, "Upton Sinclair and
Helicon Hall," The Independent 62 (28 March 1907): 12;
Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 36.
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A New York Sun writer reported that overindulgence on
Thanksgiving turkey had made colonists lazy and neglectful.
While most had wanted lentils, the children’s vote had been
the deciding factor in going with the more traditional fare.
Sinclair’s dog, "a vegetarian," had been so offended by the
entree that he had run away.!”! Clearly, heavy meals were
not the order of the day. Sinclair blamed the Christmas
celebration for the "colds and sore throats and disordered
livers" that befell everyone the next day.!®

Ultimately, food was merely an accompaniment to the
real importance of dinner: the shared camaraderie 6f fellows
experimenting with an alternative lifestyle. Rectangular
tables were arranged in a U-formation that facilitated
serving and conversation (colonists had rejected a proposal
for individual tables). Sinclair sat in the middle of the
table opposite the open side.'™ one photograph of the
dining room shows a small table with three chairs positioned

in the opening between the other tables. This most likely

Vlnsioth Rules Helicon Hall," New York Sun, 30 November
1906, p. 4. According to Sinclair, a New York Sun
reporter’s weekly assignment was to visit the colony every
Sunday to find a story that would serve as a lighter piece
among the usual Monday fare of reprinted Sunday sermons.

The desperate but supposedly honest reporter asked for an
anecdote that "won’t do any harm,” and Sinclair told him
that his collie had run away three times. Brass Check, p.
63.

%sinclair, "A New Colony. (Personal and
Confidential)," Collier Collection.

®Relley, "Helicon Hall," 33.
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was the "literary table" which Edith Summers, Sinclair
Lewis, and Allan Updegraff had received permission to
establish. Sinclair later wrote, "I am not by nature
personal, and it never occurred to me that something other
than literature was being discussed at that table in Helicon
Hall; that Edie and Hal [Lewis] were falling in love and
getting engaged. . . . [Although] Edith soon afterwards
married Updegraff.ni%®

The dinner hour was never dull, recalled Summers, whose
memories were not limited to the "literary table." "When
you came home at night, instead of sitting down to.é grumpy
boardinghouse table surrounded by the usual boardinghouse
types, you ate your dinner seated between a Socialist and a
Single Tax man, the one perhaps a college professor, the
other a carpenter, or perhaps at the elbow of an aspiring
young writer, or beside an artist who is getting ready to
startle the world." Grace Seymour called dinner the
"culmination" of the day’s fun: "Here would start
discussions on socialism, atheism, agnosticism, altruism,
utopianism, theosophy, philosephy, and everything under the
sun from pessimism and optimism to Upton Sinclairism." At
the same time, she felt a sense of class distinction in the
dining room. When Edwin Bjorkman discovered she was not

conversant on Nietzsche and Schopenhauer, she claimed he had

. 1°fChapman, "Upton Sinclair’s Experiment," 171; Upton
Sinclair, My Lifetime in Letters (Columbia: University of
Missouri Press, 1960), xi-xii.
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her seat moved from the "high-brows"™ near Sinclair to the
resident section where she was placed between the colony’s
Russian anarchist dressmaker and the chief engineer, who
espoused individualism and a mild socialism.'®

After dinner activities ranged from billiards in the
palatial billiard room--"for the best had been considered
none toc good for the young gentlemen of Helicon Hall"--and
dancing in the big reception hall to talk and more talk
around the courtyard fireplace. Adults enjoyed weekly
masquerade parties, which scandalized at least one visitor.
Anna Noyes, who had dressed as a cowboy in her husﬁénd's
clothes, maintained that such activities were not improper
and were certainly not considered shocking by the colonists.
She admitted that "a Baptist minister for instance, wouldn’t
feel at home here, nor would a prim old lady" and would soon
leave. sSinclair banished dances, sing-alongs, and musical
recitals to the barn when a group of young people singing
college songs in the second floor parlor disturbed other
residents.'™ sinclair insisted that liquor was never
served or drunk at the colony, with the possible exception

of its last night when carpenter Lester Briggs could not be

’“Ké}ley, "Helicon Hall," 38; "Says Helicon Hall Fire
Only Hurried Impending Crash," New York American, 20 March
1907, p. 3. :

%Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 38; "Helicon Hall Has Taken
to Bloomers," New York Times, 14 February 1907, p. 16; "says
Helicon Hall Fire Only Hurried Impending Crash," New York
American, 20 March 1907, p. 3.
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aroused from a deep sleep and died in the fire.'?”

Seances were held regularly, with "nearly the whole
population of the place . . . assembled to watch a table
frantically galloping about, with Upton Sinclair clinging to
its top, his justly famous legs waving in the air." William
James attended one of these seances but, reports Michael
Williams, was disappointed that "the spooks" chose not to
compete with the noisy plumbers working in the basement.
Sinclair recalls that he and James did witness a successful
ouija board demonstration. When the board spelled out
"Providence child has been carried to bed," colonist Stephen
Randall called his wife in Providence where he owned a
business and learned their child had pneumonia. In Love’s
Progress, Sinclair portrays Thrysis, his name for himself,
as initially skeptical during a exhibition of table tipping
until he discovered that when he touched the heavy table to
ascertain what had made it move, its movement became more

violent.108

"Wsinclair, Cup of Fury, .70.

%williams, Book of the High Romance, 252-53; Sinclair,
Autobiography, 133; Love’s Pro ress, Early Draft, p. 333,

Sinclair Papers. Sinclair’s characters exhibited an
increasing interest in spiritualism and psychic phenomenon
over the years, as did the author himself (Harris, Upton
Sinclair, 259~-61). This interest became a personal crusade
in the 1920s when his second wife, Mary Craig, sought
answers to the telepathic incidences she had been
experiencing since childhood. In Mental Radio (1930),
Sinclair recounts 210 successful and partially success
experiments in which he and others telepathically "sent"
pictures to Craig, which she was then able to sketch.
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Late into the night the fireplace drew colonists
interested in quiet companionship or lively discussions. As
with the dinner table, it was a focal point for the ongoing
conversations that epitomized colony relations. According
to Michael Williams, "Everybody [at the colony] was more or
less of the ‘advanced,’ or ‘radical’ order of chemical
make-up, or of soul development; and it is a scientific fact
that this type is continually effervescing in monologue,
sizzling in conversation, detonating in debate, fuming in
argument, flashing in expression of opinion, and exploding
in many theories." Colonists formed separate grouéé around
the fireplace’s four sides, nicknamed Philosophy, Philology,
Philanthropy, and Philander. Recalled Edith Summers: "You
could take your choice. Only if you happened to get on the
Philander side at the wrong time you might not be so very
welcome. "10°

In their humorous report of colony life, Sinclair Lewis
and Allan Updegraff claimed that the fireplace was really
dedicated to loafing and business as "the arts and sciences
are in their rooms pinkling (Helicon term for typewriting)."
The three members of the "Loafers’ Club"--mostly likely
themselves and Edith Summers--sat on one side
"congratulating ourselves on knowing the science of

contentedly doing nothing, lolling in our big wicker chairs

109'Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 310:;

Williams, Book of the High Romance, 142-43; Kelley, "Helicon
Hall," 38.
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and staring intc the fire." They reported that on other
sides the housekeeper talked over accounts and purchases
while the remnants of a mothers meeting continued the debate
on how often children should be allowed beverages.'!®

The fireplace radiated a special charm that ultimately
transcended conversation. Michael Williams’s description
conveys the emotional impact that others similarly ascribe
to its magic:

Sometimes by night, when a glowing fire of crimson
coals was suspended in the iron basket in the
fireplace, and the lights were turned out, and the moon
streamed dimly through the glass roof, splashing like a
noiseless silver violin, or something on the organ, and
the talk mellowed and modulated from sociological
arguments to a more meditative mood, then it seemed as
if some influence sweet and pensive, friendly and
melting, flowed like incense over and through us all:;
and for a while we could dream that our dreams could
and would be realized--and the Socialist lived for the
moment in his co-operative commonwealth, and the
anarchist in Egoland, and the spiritualists divined the
presence of their departed friends in the swaying
shadows by the fountain, and all the ideals and dreams
and fantasies, and all the impossible illusions of that
assemblage of mocdern dreams seemed to materialize,
seemed to be real things, and the world of fact
evaporated quite out of existence.!!

The colony’s one Christmas celebration stood out in
Edith Summers’s memory "as the most truly Christmassy
Christmas" she had ever known. Colonists decorated the
house with fir boughs, played billiards, danced, and sang
Christmas carols. The children stayed up late, and everyone

received a present purchased through the dollar contribution

"Wlewis and Updegraff, "Two Yale Men."

"Williams, Book of the High Romance, 143.
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of each adult. Acting as master of ceremonies, Edwin
Bjorkman handed out jocular gifts to adults that were
intended to "point a little friendly ridicule at each
recipient’s pet foible or folly"” and read the verses
composed for the occasion. For example, the woman who hated
dogs received a toy animal with a note reading, "He prayeth
best who loveth best / all dogs, both great and small:; / For
the dear Lord who loveth us / He loves them, fleas and
all.n'2

Outside recreational activities included bobsledding
and walks along the "leaf-strewn, spicy smelling rééds
through the woods, its rocky Palisades." As there were no
tennis courts for his favorite sport, Sinclair rode a pony
over to New York City for exercise. He would "ride down to
the ferry . . . across on the ferry boat . . . down
Riverside Drive and over into Central Park," boarding the
horse while he attended to business in the city.'

On Sundays the colonists were "fairly swamped" with

visitors, while more than forty letters arrived daily from

2gelley, "Helicon Hall," 41-42;: Sanborn, "At Upton
Sinclair’s." This may have been one of the few times
Sinclair celebrated Christmas as an adult. He preferred to
write and told reporters "I am one of those unusual
Christians who think every day ought to be Christmas. That
is to say, the spirit of love and service which we celebrate
on that day ought to apply to all our lives" (Upton
Sinclair, National Magazine, 19 November 1929, quoted in

Harris, Upton Sinclair, 266).

_ '®gelley, "Helicon Hall," 40; Upton Sinclair, interview
with Ronald Gottesman.
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"people who are a little dusty in their upper story [and)]
seem to think that Helicon Hall keeps open house for them,"
claimed Sinclair.' ®Being freaks ourselves, we naturally
attracted other freaks," wrote Edith Summers, who recalled
"besmocked young women and men with long hair and flowing
ties, the artists and actors and dilettanti of all sorts. .
. - [S]erious minded educators and philanthropists and young
Socialist workmen and elderly ladies who were interested in
spiritualism or New Thought." Michael Williams counted
"lecturers and writers on Sex, on Sociology, on Anarchism,
on Dress Reform, Child Training, Vegetarianism, Fléfcherism,
Socialism, and all the other modes and manifestations of the
restless mind of the age . . . defil[ing] through Helicon
Hall."'® An Englewood Press society column made note of

one Englewood resident’s visit to the colony.!

Despite their satiric comments about the colony’s
open-door visiting policy, the colonists wanted to attract
those seriously interested in living at Helicon Hall. They
reserved one room for prospective residents, limiting

occupancy to three days if someone else was interested in

"“nHelicon Hall Cold to Visiting Trio," New York Times,
17 February 1907, pt. 5, p. 13.

®Relley, "Helicon Hall," 41; "Helicon Hall Has Taken
to Bloomers," New York Times, 14 February 1907, p. 16;

Williams, Book of the High Romance, 146.

"énpersonal and Social," Englewood Press, 15 December
1906.
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trying colony life.'"” Sinclair regularly invited friends
and acquaintances to join. One invitee was Harry Kemp, a
struggling young poet with whom Sinclair had corresponded.
A University of Kansas student at the time, Kemp did not
wish to work for the colony, preferring to "fight my way up
out j e world." He had lived at Elbert Hubbard’s
Roycroft Colony and Bernarr MacFadden’s Physical Culture
City and did not care for "the companionship of other young
literary men. They are, as a rule, insincere . . . and
mistaken as to their calling." ZLuckily for the colony’s
reputation, the fire destroyed Kemp’s plans to joiﬁ'in
October 1907. By 1911 Kemp had moved east and begun an
affair with Meta Sinclair, which led directly to her
scandal-ridden divorce from Upton.'"®

Sinclair also invited poet Edwin Markham; millionaire
socialist J. G. Phelps Stokes; and childhood sweetheart
Laura Stedman to join the colony. Sinclair told Markham,
author of "The Man with the Hoe," that he had heard Markham
had not joined because he did not receive a personal
invitation. sinclair was convinced that Markham would want
to join as soon as he saw the colony and Englewood’s blue

skies; he had picked out a room for him that could easily

"Weolony customs, Sinclair Collection.

"®Harry Kemp to Upton Sinclair, n.d., Sinclair Papers:

William Brevda, Harry Kemp: The Last Bohemian (Lewisburg,

Penn.: Bucknell University Press, 1986), 57.
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hold five to six thousand books.'" Sinclair was convinced
Stokes also would want to move in once he saw the colony.

He wrote to Stokes after he saw a newspaper article in which
Stokes complained about living expenses and the difficulty
finding a quiet place to write.!®

Among the guests who stayed at the colony was Mrs. L.
H. Harris, who wrote a slightly negative article for The
Independent. Describing the building as "beautiful and
clean," she believed colonists were "straining too [hard]
for happiness" and wore the "obviously redeemed look, much
too bright to last" that one saw at revivals. She'éhided
her fellow journalists for reporting on aspects of colony
life that had nothing to do with the experiment’s
significance. !

Among the better known visitors to Helicon Home Colony
were anarchist Emma Goldman, whose niece Stella Cominsky was
a member; journalist Lincoln Steffens; William James, who
was in his last year of teaching at Harvard University:; and

John Coryell, an anarchist who became wealthy writing the

"gpton Sinclair to Edwin Markham, 22 January 1906, and
Upton Sinclair to Edwin Markham, 31 January 1907, Wagner
College Library, Staten Island, N.¥Y. Sinclair may have
invited Markham because he wanted the publicity and prestige
his membership would bring. Linda Simon, "“Socialism at
Home:' The Case of Upton Sinclair," New Jersey History 107
(Spring/Summer 1989): 54.

¥%pton Sinciair to J. G. Phelps Stokes, 21 January
1907 and Upton Sinclair to J. G. Phelps Stokes, 24 January
1907, Butler Library, Columbia University, New York, N.Y.

2'Harris, "Upton Sinclair and Helicon Hall," 712.
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Nick Carter adventure stories under the pseudonyr Bertha M.
Clay. Charlotte Perkins Gilman may have visited with her
husband Houghton, who became the colony lawyer.'? John
Dewey was a frequent guest, despite his wife’s veto of his
plan to move in once she had seen the colony.

Visitors were sometimes affiliated with the communal
movement. Will Durant, a senior at St. Peter’s College in
Jersey City when he first met Sinclair at Helicon Home
Colony, later became associated with the anarchist Ferrer
Colony, as did Goldman and Coryell. He remembered thinking
of Sinclair at the time, "here . . . was an honest'énd
dedicated man" and never forgot "his handsome, almost
girlish face, his modest manners, his quiet voice."'®
Another frequent guest was real estate developer and social
critic Bolton Hall, founder of Free Acres, a single-tax
community established in Berkeley Heights Township, New
Jersey in 1910.1%

Art critic Sadakichi Hartmann--the self-styled "King of
Bohemia"--was the colony’s most infamous guest. He arrived

the evening of February 16, 1907, accompanied by sculptor Jo

2ginclair, Autobiography, 133; Martin A. Bierbaum,
"Bolton Hall’s Free Acres Experiment: The Single Tax and
Anarchism in New Jersey," Communal Societies 6 (Fall 1986):
65; Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 41.

'ZWwill and Ariei Durant, Interpretations of Life: A
Survey of Contemporary Literature (New York: Simon and

Schuster, 1970), 47.

%Bierbaum, "Bolton Hall’s Free Acres Experiment," 65.

0
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Davidson and Bessie Lhevinne, who identified herself as a
"teacher in elementary things." Earlier that day Sinclair
had received a telegram stating that Sadakichi Hartmann
would arrive at 6:00 p.m. "It had the tone of a monarch
notifying a subject that he is about to be honored by a
royal visitor," Sinclair told a New York Times reporter. He
insisted he had never heard of Hartmann, whose fame, another
reporter opined, "spreads thickly from Nagasaki to New York.
+ « « [He comes] with a stick and a half full of
alphabetical disarrangements in ‘Who’s Who.’"1&

A complex character, Hartmann had achieved soﬁé
notoriety by this time but was not listed in Who’s who.
Born in Japan in 1867 to a German trader and a Japanese
woman who died in childbirth, Hartmann had been raised by a
wealthy uncle in Hamburg. His rebellious behavior led his
father to disown him and send him to Philadelphia to work at
age thirteen. In the 1880s he returned to Europe to study
the visual and performing arts. Back again in the United
States, Hartmann began writing art and photographic
criticism for magazines and newspapers. By 1906 he
regularly traveled around the United States, lecturing and
working with museums and young artists. Biographers Harry
Lawton and George Knox credit Hartmann with being the first

to promote both Winslow Homer and Ezra Pound, among others,

Bupiscord in Helicon Hall," New York Sun, 17 February
1907, p. 11.
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and championing photography as a fine art before Stieglitz.
In contrast to the "aristocratic studiousness" he affected
in art circles was his erratic, gypsy-like behavior that
inspired the Bohemian culture at the turn of the

century. 12

It was this more flamboyant Hartmann who appeared on
the colony doorsteps in mid-February. The colonists invited
the trio to dinner, although the residents who had
supposedly invited them were not at home. Davidson later
complained that the meal consisted only of "hash with more
bread than meat in it," baked beans, an indescribaﬁie
pudding, and bitter tea.'?

Sinclair informed Hartmann and his friends that they
could not stay at the colony that night unless residents
allowed them to sleep in their rooms; he had turned awvay
twenty-five families because of lack of space and did not
have any extra rooms available. A colony committee met
while the three visitors gathered at the fireplace to wait

the return of the residents who had invited them. Davidson

1%6gadakichi Hartmann, White Chrysanthemums: Literary
Fragments and Pronouncements, ed. George Knox and Harry

Lawton, with a foreword by Kenneth Rexroth (New York: Herder
and Herder, 1971), viii-xxiv; Sadakichi Hartmann, The
Valiant Knights of Daquerre: Selected Critical Essays on
Photography and Profiles of Photographic Pioneers, ed. Harry
W. Lawton and George Knox (Berkeley: University of
California Press, 1978), 1-3.

'“Hartmann, The Valiant Knights, 1; "Discord in Helicon
Hall," New York Sun, 17 February 1907, P. 11; Sinclair,
Autobiography, 133; "Helicon Hall Cold to Visiting Trio,"

New York Times, 17 February 1907, pt. 5, p. 13.
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claimed that if not for their presence, the colonists would
have died of ennui. Soon after midnight the committee
meeting adjourned, and the housekeeper and others asked the
visitors to leave. Although Lhevinne had been invited to
stay by a woman resident, she chose to leave with Davidson
and Hartmann.'2

The next day Hartmann contacted newspapers to
indignantly report that they had been thrown out in the snow
and forced to spend the night in a shanty waiting for the
morning trolley. Sinclair countered that the group had been
drunk and could have gone to a hotel he had recomméﬁded or
caught the 1:00 a.m. trolley, which did not leave for nearly
an hour. Sinclair gave the press a letter he had received
after the incident in which Hartmann claimed to have been
hired by a leading magazine to write a humorous article on
the colony, with Davidson providing the illustrations.®

Soon after the publication of Sinclair’s first
autobiography in 1932, Hartmann sent a postcard demanding,
"Why don’t you get things right!" He admitted that they had
been carrying a bottle of liguor but had not drunk any until
after they left the colony, when it proved to be a

"lifesaver" from the cold. Three Years later Hartmann

2ypton Sinclair to the Editor, New York Times, 20
February 1907, p. 10; "Helicon Hall Cold to Visiting Trio,"
New York Times, 17 February 1907, pt. 15, p. 13.
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proclaimed, "0ld feuds are forgotten."'"°

One researcher speculates that Hartmann hay have been
responsible for the colony fire. Another sees nothing
peculiar in Hartmann’s continuing interest in the colony and
scrapbook of articles on the fire. In a foreword to a
volume of Hartmann’s writings, Kenneth Rexroth writes that
the author "seemed to have been a great jumper of gates,
crasher of doors and pusher aside of maids and secretaries.
He always assumed he would be welcomed and accepted at his
own evaluation, that of an equal. Since he was one of the
great conversationalists of the time, once he got iﬁ he
almost always was accepted." Hartmann editor Harry Lawton
is uncertain as to whether or not the author was on
assignment when he visited Helicon Hall but notes that he
had an "abiding interest in communal colonies," especially
Elbert Hubbard’s Roycroft Colony and occasionally served as
Hubbard’s ghost writer. Lawton surmises that Hartmann "may
have simply been checking out the action at Helicon as a
lark. When Hartmann was drunk, he usually caused
commotions--almost anywhere he went."'3!

While the incident itself had no effect on colony

policy toward visitors, it became another example for

1”S§dakichi Hartmann to Upton Sinclair, 5 May 1932, and
Sadakichi Hartmann to Upton Sinclair, 31 January 1935,
Sinclair Papers.

BlHartmann, White Chrysanthemums, ix; Harry W. Lawton,
letter to author, 29 June 1989.
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Sinclair of how the press ignored the true significance of
the colony and concentrated on sensational stories.
Biographer Floyd Dell also expressed annoyance that it was
not news when Dewey and James came to discuss philosophy,
but it was when members danced with Irish serving girls (a
reference to the Sinclair Lewis and Allan Updegraff story
about Professor Montague) .3 Throughout his tenure as
colony impresario, Sinclair had a love/hate relationship
with the press: the colony needed the publicity that would
attract serious-minded residents, but suffered from the
taint of socialism, free love, and general radicaliém that
often permeated even the briefest mention of its activities.
In his autobiographies and The Brass Check he wrote bitterly
of his association with the press at this time.

Sinclair was especially angered by the charges of free
love that were leveled at the colony. "It was generally
taken for granted among the newspapermen of New York that
the purpose for which I had started this colony was to have
pPlenty of mistresses ready," wrote Sinclair. He claimed not
to have even heard the term "free love" until a frequent
visitor, "himself, I suspect, strictly monogamous in
practice," argued his free love theories around the colony
fireplace. He further insisted, "I do not know of any

assemblage of forty adult persons where a higher standard of

Y¥2Floyd Dell, Upton Sinclair: A Studv in Socia
Protest. (1927; reprint, New York: AMS Press, 1970), 124.
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sexual morals prevailed than at Helicon Hall." He did,
however, note that one departing colonist had "tried to take
our dining room maid as his mistress, but without success"
and a worker was asked to leave after annoying two young
serving girls with his sexual theories.™

Charges of free love were nothing new for socialists,
who often found themselves identified with free love
advocates. While the general public associated free love
with promiscuity, its proponents championed equality and
freedom in sexual relations, a concept not despicable to
some socialists. Many socialists cpntinued to beliéve in
monogamous marriages, although they did emphasize that the
economic relations between husbands and wives would change
under socialism. 3

Edith Summers’s assessment of colony life may come
closer to the truth than Sinclair’s adamant denials. Noting
that they had little time for sexual relations, she wrote,
"I don’t say that nobody ever fell in love at Helicon Hall.
Remember we were all young; and what a strange lot of young
people we would have been if nothing like that had happened.

The newspapers would have been quite justified in calling us

Bsinclair, Autobiography, 130-31; idem, "To Marry or
Not to Marry?" Physical Culture 31 (March 1914): 223-28;
idem, Brass Check, 70.

’“Nary Jo Buhle, Women and American Socialism, 1870-

1920 (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1981), 251;
Bruce Dancis, "Socialism and Women in the United States,

1900-1917," Socialist Revolution 6 (January/March 1976): 90.
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freaks." Claiming no personal knowledge of people’s private
affairs, Meta Sinclair wrote, "Doubtless the human nature of
its occupants was not different from that of less
conspicuous people."'3

Nevertheless, both Upton and Meta describe each other’s
colony love affairs in their autobiographical novels. The
details are similar; both agree that Upton had a brief
affair with married colonist Anna Noyes, and Meta, possibly
in retaliation, with single colonist John-Armistead Collier.
In Love’s Progress, Sinclair portrays Anna Noyes as
Hildegarde Vance, the star of his opera. She becoﬁés his
"valuable assistant," and he admires her "perfection."
Thrysis, Sinclair’s name for himself, also realizes it is
the first time he has known a happy woman and one who meant
something other than "pain and sacrifice" for him. He
fights the attraction out of respect for their friendship
and his admiration of her husband. When Thrysis finally
confesses his love, Hildegarde quickly assesses the
situation and decides that she too is in love. They break
into a cabin in the woods and- consummate their love, Thrysis
realizing he had never felt such overpowering emotions
toward his wife. They soon decide it would be best for all
involved to break off thé affair.but continue their working

relaticnship. Thrysis is worried that Corydon mignt commit

PRelley, "Helicon Hall," 39; Sinclair, Synopsis~-

Corydon and Thrysis, p. 17, Stone Papers.
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suicide, and both he and Hildegarde fear that the
ever-present reporters will hear rumors of the affair.'

Not surprisingly, Meta Sinclair describes Thrysis and
Hildegarde’s affair with much less passion. In her novel,
they call her to the colony office where she is stunned to
learn that they are "in love"™ and also would be notifying
Mr. Vance of the fact. Two weeks later, she continues,
Thrysis tells her that the experiment is over and that they
"had been lovers during this period but had decided that it
were [sic] best to discontinue the relationship."¥

At the same time both Sinclairs note the arrival of
"John the Baptist," the colony nickname for John-Armistead
Collier, called Jonathan Harland by Sinclair, and Paul
Rivers by Meta. Sinclair writes that Jonathan "had nothing
to do all day but to analyze the problems of the universe
with Corydon and to write poetry about their mutual
soul-states." Collier similarly depicts his relationship
with Meta in his unpublished autobiographical novel, The
Search. He maintains, however, that he was not "wooing her"
but only sharing social theories and an innocent kiss on the
cheek. Further, the other colonists did not appreciate his
Southern chivalry and reverence toward women. Likewise, in

Corydon and Thrysis, Meta insists that Corydon and Paul

. t%sinclair, Love’s Progress--Early Draft, p. 281-321,
Sinclair Papers.

¥’sinclair, Synopsis--Corydon and Thrysis, p. 16, Stone
Papers.
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Rivers became involved only in "petting parties." In her
"biochronicle" of her husband and list of his "sweethearts,"
Phyllis Collier calls Meta "probably the first real love"
and notes "1907? love affair with Meta."'3

While not directly related to colony administration,
the Sinclairs’ affairs are a curious anomaly in the picture
of domestic bliss the colonists attempted to present to
reporters. Important enough to include in their
autobiographical novels, the affairs also apparently were
important enough to them personally to risk exposure by the
press--a result that would have seriously damaged fﬁe
colony’s reputation among its supporters, who could easily
ignore the mundane innuendoes that reqularly appeared in
articles. Descriptions by both Sinclairs make it clear that
other colonists could have easily surmised what was going on
(thus making them accomplices in an effort to shield the
Sinclairs’ activities from the press). Upton’s affair shows
a hypocritical side of the author that was seldom so
blatantly revealed in his actions and contrasts sharply with
the puritanical image that many had for him. (In fact, his
fear of impregnating Meta and his second wife Mary Craig

often drove him to long periods of abstinence.) Meta’s

¥sinclair, Love’s Progress, Early Draft, 328-29,
Sinclair Papers; Collier, The Search, volume 3, p. 10,
Collier Collection; Meta Sinclair, Synopsis--Corydon and
Ihrysis, p. 17, Stone Papers; Phyllis Feningston, "A few
identifying names of wives, sweethearts, friends, etc.,"
Collier Collection.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



145

affair also marks the beginnings of her later infidelities,
contributing factors in the breakup of their marriage and
continuing hostile disagreements on their son’s upbringing.

Despite such intrigues, the seven to eighteen children
who resided at the colony at various times were having a
"gala experience." Throughout his life, Sinclair
steadfastly maintained that the colony’s greatest success
was with the children. 1In his February 1907 Independent
article, he listed the children’s happiness and friendships,
the reduction of child care costs and concerns, the hygienic
nursery environment provided by the fresh air pump;'and the
care of children by friends, among the colony’s
accomplishments to date.™?

The colony provided what Sinclair had missed as a child
in Baltimore and New York City and what he craved most for
his son David: plenty of free space to play and explore and
the companionship of other children. He considered neither
the cheap boardinghouses of his childhood nor the city flats
he and his colleagues had previously rented as suitable
environments for children. Curiously, he had little comment
on the opulence of the children’s surroundings at the
colony, although he had always considered his wealthy

uncle’s home part of his youthful puzzlement over why some

1”Siqc1air, Synopsis--Corydon and Thrysis, p. 18, Stone
Papers; Sinclair, "A New Helicon Hall," 580-83; iden,

Autobiography, 129; idem, "The Home Colony: Six Months
After," 310.
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people were rich and others poor.'

The decision to allow children at the colony had not
been unanimous, although most colonists considered their
care an essential element in solving household difficulties.
Although the colony could not afford a resident physician or
kindergarten teacher, Anna Noyes told a reporter in early
November 1906 that a woman who had held prominent positions
with the New York City schools would be living at the colony
and assisting with child care. Most of the time mothers
took turns caring for the children, earning credit
applicable toward room and board. The basic childféising
theory was to allow children "no more freedom than was
consistent with the happiness and peace of others."%!

Sinclair was especially pleased with the "lessons in
practical cooperation" such a theory engendered. He proudly
reported that the children voted on issues of importance to
them, recounting that five-year-old David had called for
consensus on whether early risers should be allowed to wake
others in the dormitory. The child care arrangements also
encouraged independence. Edith Summers wrote that the

"children had their world and we had ours and the two went

%Harris, Upton Sinclair, 6-10; Sinclair, The Brass

Check, 62; Sinclair, interview with Ronald Gottesman.

“Ingelicon Hall Has Taken to Bloomers," New York Times,
14 February 1907, p. 16; "Upton Sinclair’s Colony As It
Really Is," Englewood Press, 3 November 1906, p. 3:
Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 313; idem,
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on side by side but not interfering with each cther." She
believed such separation aided familial feelings and
eliminated potential friction among the colonists by
providing mothers with a chance for peace and cuiet and
grown-up conversation. "How many and many a harassed mother
has sighed in vain for just such an arrangement as that,"
Summers wrote in 1934, after her own experience of raising
two children as a single mother after the breakup of her
first marriage.'4?

Most of the children slept on cots in the ground floor
theater, which had been temporarily converted into.é
dormitory; the woman in charge of the children’s department
and her husband slept in an adjoining room. children also
could stay with their families in their private rooms. John
Dewey planned to rent rooms for his children and, at the
time of the fire, newspapers reported that David Sinclair
had been asleep in his mother’s third-floor bedroom and the
Bowles children were with their parents as they were new to
the colony and not yet accustomed to the dormitory. The
children ate their meals in their own dining room with

furniture and food suited to their needs. 3

. ‘¥2sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 310;
ldem, Industrial Republic, 283-284:; Kelley, "Helicon Hall,"
40.

“3nThe Household Experiment on the Palisades,"
Charities and the Commons, 3 November 1906, p. 186; "Fire
Wipes Out Helicon Hall,"™ New York Times, 17 March 1907, p.
1; Sinclair, Autobiography, 130.
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Reporters expressed surprise that the children were

allowed normal childhoods: the colonists’ theories neither
outlawed such classics as Little Red Riding Hood and
Goldilocks and the Three Bears nor prevented an outbreak of

chicken pox in February 1907.%* The children’s nightly
airbaths--a chance to romp and play naked in the playroom
before their actual baths--also was dutifully reported in
the press. As explained by Anna Noyes: "Children raised in
cities are altogether too much hampered by the clothes that
conventionality compels them to wear. When we decided to
admit them to the hall we also resolved to give théﬁ as much
freedom as possible."'® Mary Tayloe Gwathmey’s memory of
the airbaths was simply, "what bliss!n1% |

"It was a beautiful, a glorious sight, which no
child-lover could fail to appreciate," rhapsodized Boston
Transcript reporter Alvan Sanborn on visiting the playroom.
At the same time, the effect was spoiled for him when he
learned he was observing "paid mothers" playing with the
children.™’

By early spring 1907 the: courtyard fig tree was in

bloom, and colonists began'making plans for expansion,

Ysanborn, "at Upton Sinclair’s."

wHelicon Hall Has Taken to Bloomers," New York Times,
14 February 1907, p. 16.

“Mary Tayloe Gwathmey to Upton Sinclair, 28 October
1932, Sinclair Papers.
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satisfied they had straightened out earlieé administrative
difficulties. Sinclair pledged that such expansion would
help reduce expenses by using the real estate investment to
its full advantage. The colony planned to alter the roof of
the main building, enlarging the third floor area and
creating thirty-one more rooms. Colonists estimated the
remodeling would cost ten thousand dollars and bring in an
additional two thousand dollars per year in income. They
anticipated paying for the alterations with a second issue
of Home Colony Company stock.

Sinclair also promoted the cottage plan he had.
initially intended for the colony. A one-page flier invited
prospective colonists to visit the colony on Sunday,
February 10, 1907 "to look over the proposed sites and talk
out the plan." A brochure claimed that the colony received
dozens of cottage applications weekly and expected to sign
contracts in March, with construction completed by May. The
Home Colony Company would allow rustic cottages, tents, and
bungalows on the northern grounds but require stone, cement,
or stucco cottages near the main building to ensure their
architectural compatibility. The cempany estimated building
costs for a three- or four-room cottage with bath, made out
of cement blocks manufactured in Englewood, to be one

thousand dollars. It also planned two-, three-, and

“gelley, "Helicon Hall," 42; The Home Colony Company,

8 pg. brochure, n.d., Sinclair Collection.
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four-party buildings.™

Occupants would subscribe to Home Colony Company stock
equal to the building costs of their own cottages. They
also would lease the site for three years, at a cost of one
hundred to two hundred dollars, depending on its size and
location. The company would charge an additional annual fee
of one-and-a-half percent of the cottage worth to cover
taxes and approximately fifty cents per week per adult for
recreational use of the main building and grounds. an
additional five dollars a week charge for board was
optional, but cottage residents would not be allowéé to have
their own servants or kitchens.!®

Sinclair anticipated arranging colony finances to
ensure independence from all outside sources. The colony
planned to continue its for-profit private laundry and
purchase a local farm on which to raise its own food. 1In
his February 1907 Independent article, Sinclair detailed the
establishment of a colony store, which would purchase goods
at wholesale prices for sale at retail costs. The profits

would be shared by both the colony and the residents, with

“Helicon Home Colony, Englewood, New Jerse , Collier

Collection; Helicon Home Colony Cottage Plans, Sinclair

Collection.
*’Helicon Home Colony Cottage Plans, Sinclair
Collection.
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rebates determined by the amount of purchases.'!s!

A short news item in the March 9, 1907 Englewood Press
foreshadowed the colony’s future:

A monster boiler was drawn on skids from the depot to

Helicon Hall on Thursday. It has capacity enough to

make things warmer for the Co-operative Home

Colony. 132

A week later, on March 16, 1907, at 3:00 a.m., the
colony dreams came to an abrupt end when a fire broke out
near the furnace and quickly spread through the building.
Fleeing to the barnyard, the colonists huddled together,
watching their home collapse into its central courtyard. By
sunrise one man was dead, and the building was almost
completely destroyed. Only the magnificent fireplace and
part of the rear foundation, including the room that housed
the indoor pool, were left standing.'s

Commenting on the colony’s future plans, colonist

William Noyes told a reporter, "We look forward with dread .
. -« to a return to our discarded mode of living, with the

inconveniences from which for five months we have been

totally free. Our life in Helicon Hall, I fear, has spoiled

®lsinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After," 312;

The Helicon Home Colony, Englewood. N.J., Oneida Community

Records.

*2nHome and Vicinity" column, Englewood Press, 9 March
1907, p. 5.

3wpire Wipes Out Helicon Hall," New York Times, 17
Mgrch 1967, p. 1; "Helicon Hall Before and After the Fire,"
Wilshire’s, April 1907, p. 21.
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us for any other way of life."®

%nsinclair’s Colony Plans," New York Post, 19 March
1907, p. 9.
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CHAPTER FOUR
HELICON HOME COLONY DESTRUCTION AND ITS AFTERMATH

At approximately 3:00 a.m. on Saturday, March 16, 1907,
three loud explosions awakened several Helicon Home Colony
residents. Engineer Charles Hilliker rushed downstairs to
investigate, concerned there might be a problem with the new
boiler he had just installed. Reaching the first floor, he
discovered thick smoke and fire racing through the courtyard
and hurried back upstairs to warn the others. Colonists
opened their doors to find the courtyard and one set of
stairs in flames. Terrified screams could be heard
throughout the building as some colonists wrapped themselves
in blankets and made their way down the other staircase to
safety, while others jumped out of second- and third-story
windows. i

In less than an hour the colony’s main building was
completely destroyed. Only the magnificent fireplace and
indodf swimming pool remained. In their hurry to escape,
residents abandoned everything: clothes, manuscripts,
personal possessions. For the many colonists who pursued

153
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independent livelihoods, the fire destroyed not only their
home but many months’ labor.! The devastation contrasted
sharply with the optimistic remarks Sinclair recently had
written as the colony prepared for the second phase of its
operations: building individual kitchenless cottages.?

Awakened by Meta, who had heard the explosions, Upton
ran through the third floor hall, banging on doors to awaken
sleeping residents. Meta hurried downstairs with David and
helped shepherd the other children out of the dormitory,
stopping only to make sure that they all had on shoes.3
Sinclair had not taken this precaution. He soon jéined his
family outside, his bare feet badly cut by fallen glass from
the courtyard roof.

As flames engulfed both staircases, the remaining

lseveral colonists dug through the ruins in an attempt
to locate lost items. Upton Sinclair found a tightly-
wrapped manuscript with little fire damage that he
speculated had fallen in the pond. Meta Sinclair to John-
Armistead Collier, n.d., John and Phyllis Collier
Collection, Archives of Labor and Urban Affairs, Wayne State
University, Detroit, Mich. (hereafter cited as Collier
Collection).

2Upton Sinclair, "The Home Colony: Six Months After,"
Independent (7 February 1907): 306-13.

35amidst the colony’s tragedy, Sinclair could not resist
once again championing its success with the children. He
told Wilshire’s that on fleeing the burning building the
occupants of the children’s dormitory were well-protected
from the cold and snow while those who had been staying with
their parents had to face the freezing conditions without
overcoats or blankets. He failed to mention that David was
sleeping with Meta the night of the fire, although
hewspapers reported that he was in her room. "Helicon Hall
Before and After the Fire," Wilshire’s, April 1907, p. 21.
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colonists had no choice but to exit through second- and
third-story windows. Sinclair, B. H. Nadal, and Edith
Summers held a blanket to catch trapped residents as they
jumped. Charles Hilliker helped others climb out windows
onto the portico roof and down to the ground. Edwin Potter
and his family escaped down a ninety-cent rope he had
purchased in town the day before.®

Colonists, nearly all in night clothes and most
barefoot, watched in shock as their home burned down, the
walls collapsing into the much-admired courtyard. Anna
Noyes sprinted to a nearby fire alarm to signal thé-Hillside
Fire Company and climbed the pole to ring the bell when the
ropes would not work.’

The fire alarm was too late. Before the fire truck

“Local and New York City newspapers ran detailed
reports on the fire, which were picked up by wire services
and reprinted across the country. Especially useful are
"Fire Wipes Out Helicon Hall," New York Times, 17 March
1907, p. 1 and "Helicon Hall Burned Down," New York Sun, 17
March 1907, p. 5, as is Edith Summers’s memory of the fire
in Edith Summers Kelley, "Helicon Hall: An Experiment in
Living," 1934, Edith Summers Kelley Papers, Morris Library,
Southern Illinois University,.Carbondale; ed., Mary Byrd

Davis, The Kentucky Review 1 (Spring 1980): 43-44.

*Anna Noyes was most often credited with this act of
heroism although some newspapers attributed it to Frances
Maule Bjorkman or even the critically-injured Grace MacGowan
Cooke:. The difficulty Noyes had in sounding the alarm was
initially thought to be possible proof that the fire had
been deliberately set. It was later reported that the
double-clappered bell could only be rung from the ground if
a person alternately pulled its two ropes; because the two
ropes had become twisted together the bell could not be
easily rung. "Fire Destroys Helicon Hall," Englewood Press,
23 March 1907, p. 3.
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could reach the property, the building was burneq to the
ground. After taking a head count, colonists realized that
carpenter Lester Briggs was missing and directed
firefighters to aim their hose on the spot where they
believed his bedroom would have collapsed in the rubble. By
4:18 a.m. Briggs’s body had been found, and the coroner had
ordered an inquest.® Financial superintendent Emma Erskine
Hahn appointed two colony members to watch over the ruins at
all times to ensure that no potential evidence was lost or
destroyed.

Residents of the fashionable houses that bordered the
colony property escorted the cold and shocked residents to
their homes, where they provided food and comfort and
offered clothes from their own closets as well as those of
their servants. Two days later colonists formally thanked
their neighbors in a statement released to the press:

To the people of Englewood--The colonists, residents,

and workers of Helicon Hall at a meeting held in

Englewood, on March 18, 1907, unanimously voted that a

resolution of heartfelt thanks be tendered to the

residents of Englewood, who, during and ever since the
fire, which destroyed our home, have acted toward us

with such notable friendliness and generosity.’

Meanwhile an ambulance transported six burned and

®Englewood, N.J. Police Log, 16 March 1907, p. 88.

"mCard of Thanks," Englewood Press, 23 March 1907, p.
3. In addition, William Noyes thanked the churches for
taking collections to aid colony members. "Sinclair’s
Colony Plans," New York Post, 19 March 1907, p. 9. An agent
for the Erie Railroad also offered to replace all commuter
tickets destroyed in the fire. "Hint at Secrets in Sinclair

Fire," Newark Evening News, 18 March 1907, p. 2.
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injured residents to Englewood Hospital.® The most
critically injured were writers Grace MacGowan Cooke and her
sister Alice MacGowan. Jumping from a second-story window,
they had proved too heavy to support in the blanket held by
Sinclair and others and had hit the frozen ground, injuring
their backs. Early newspaper reports listed Cooke’s
injuries as probably fatal. After fifteen days she was
released from the hospital in improved condition, although
she continued to suffer leg and back pains. MacGowan
checked out the same day as her sister, with prescriptions
for codeine and morphine.? :

Colony cook Leonie Fichtenberg spent twenty-two days in
the hospital, the longest stay. She had been badly burned
on her face and body and hurt her back when she jumped from
a second-story window. Helen Knoll, the colony’s assistant -
housekeeper; James McNiff, colony engineer; and Margaret
Hogue, a waitress, also suffered burns. Newspapers called
Knoll’s survival miraculous as she had chosen not to Jump
out her third floor window, but instead jumped over the

balcony into the burning courtyard, her fall broken by the

8Newspapers offer sketchy information on the colonists’
injuries. Admission records and daily reports uncovered at
Englewood Hospital, Englewood, N.J. by the author provide
details on the injured colonists and their treatment and

progress.

Despite their release from the hospital, the MacGowan
sisters continued to suffer from their injuries. Two months
after the fire they were still recuperating, and the Cooke
children were living with the Sinclairs. Meta Sinclair to
John-Armistead Collier, 29 May 1907, Collier Collection.
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fig tree. She spent two days in the hospital.' Hogue
stayed overnight in the hospital only because she had no
clothes to wear and had to wait for donations.'' -McNiff
had run barefoot down the burning staircase and suffered
smoke inhalation as well as burns on his hands and face,
requiring a fourteen-day hospital stay.

Newspapers reported that Edith Summers and Henrietta D.
Kimball were treated for shock at the hospital, although no
record of this was found. Two days after the fire, colonist
Emma Taber was admitted suffering from nervous exhaustion
and was released three days later. Other colonisté.were
most likely treated by private physicians and did not
require hospitalization. Sinclair, for one, was treated by
a surgeon and spent several days at Gaylord Wilshire’s New
York City apartment recovering from infected burns and cuts
on his feet.

Scandal and intrigue quickly surrounded the fire, as
news of the colony’s demise temporarily pushed the
sensational Thaw trial off the front pages of newspapers

across the country. A local paper reported that

“Fellow employee Dora Steinlein also had jumped from
the balcony but landed in the fishpond and did not require
hospitalization. "Helicon Hall Burned Down," New York Sun,
17 March 1907, p. 5.

"wEnglewood Fire a Mystery," Evening Record and Bergen

County Herald, 18 March 1907, p- 1.
2By mid-March the nearly twelve-week trial of wealthy

playpoy Harry K. Thaw, for the June 15, 1906 murder of
architect Stanford White, was more than half over. Thaw’s
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thousands had driven from around the state and New York to
view the colony ruins.”™ Five days after the fire,
smoldering rubble continued to shoot sparks dangerously
close to the nearby barn, warranting another visit from the
fire company.

Speculation on the cause of the fire was immediate,
with opinion divided among those who thought it was the work
of an arsonist and those who blamed faulty equipment.
Colonists revealed that a stick of dynamite had been
discovered in the basement when the new boiler was installed
and had been turned over to the police. Sinclair éﬁeculated
that the fire was connected to his research on the Steel
Trust. He claimed to have lost papers in the fire
documenting the Carnegie Steel Company’s armor-plate frauds
against the U.S. government, including original shop records
of poor quality plates used in the battleship Oregon.
Although Sinclair noted these facts twelve years later in

The Brass Check, he told at least one reporter at the time

wife, former chorine Evelyn Nesbit, became known as "the
girl in the red velvet swing" for her testimony. She
scandalized the country with revelations of her seduction
and subsequent affair at age sixteen with White, a partner
in the prestigious firm of McKim, Mead & White and designer
of Madison Square Garden, where he was shot pointblank by
Thaw.  Paul R. Baker, Stanny: The Gilded Life of Stanford
White (New York: The Free Press, 1989), 385-91.

BwEnglewood Fire A Mystery," Evening Record and Bergen

County Herald, 18 March 1907, p. 1.

%"Home and Vicinity," Englewood Press, 23 March 1907,
p. 3.
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that he had been misquoted and personally believed the fire
was an accident.®

Rumors abounded that a mysterious man had been seen
lurking around the colony property. Some colonists
identified him as a disgruntled colonist who had been
threatened with dismissal for his violent temper (his
identity was not given in the newspaper reports). There
were also claims that one resident was fully dressed on
leaving the burning building. Colonists told reporters that
his room was near that of Emma Erskine Hahn, a light sleeper
known as the colony "watchdog;" on the night of thé’fire she
was in New York buying a portable fire escape for the
colony. Others stated that two fully~-dressed people had
been seen entering the building around 2:00 a.m.; Sinclair
later revealed them to be Edith Summers and John-Armistead
Collier, returning from dinner and the theater in New York

City."

Bupire Wipes Out Helicon Hall," New York Times, 17
March 1907, p. 1 and Upton Sinclair, The Brass Check: A
Study of American Journalism (Pasadena, Calif.: By the
Author, 1919; reprint, New York: Arno & The New York Times,
1970), 68-69. sinclair is quoted as denying he ever made
the charge against U.S. Steel in "Hint at Secrets in
Sinclair Fire," Newark Evenin News, 18 March 1907, p. 2.
In 1908 the U.S. Navy acknowledged that Sinclair’s
description of defective armor plate in The Moneychangers
was accurate. "U.S. Navy Admits Rotten Armor, New York
American, 6 September 1908, p. 1=2.

¥wpynamite Found at Helicon Hall," New York Herald, 18
March 1907, p. 3; "Did Bomb Fire Helicon Hall?" Newark
Eveninag News, 18 March 1907, p. 1. Summers remembered with
sad irony a remark Collier had made when she complained of
the bitterly-cold wind on the ferry ride home, "Cheer up,
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Attention also focused on the new boiler and the
explosions that had been heard. Colonists Edwin Bjorkman
and Ernest Eberlein believed a gas leak had caused the
fire.” charles Hilliker had reported seeing flames
shooting out of the organ pipes, raising speculation that
gas had collected in the pipes and ignited because of the
organ’s close proximity to the courtyard fireplace. The
coroner dismissed this charge, believing that an explosion
in the organ pipes could not have started the rapidly-spread
fire, although acknowledging it could have occurred after
the building had been on fire for some time. B

The colony’s financial status came under close
scrutiny, with special attention given to who would benefit
from the insurance (the colony’s three policies all favored
the mortgage). Reporters claimed that the colony board of
directors had recently voted an increase in room and board

and that Sinclair had planned to sell four acres to reduce

Cherub . . . You might be worée off. Suppose you were
running around barefoot in the snow and had no home to go
to" (Kelley, "Helicon Hall," 43).

7nPo Investigate Helicon Fire," New York Times, 18
March 1907, p. 16. Eberlein family lore blamed the steel
trust for the fire. Family friend Laurel Hessing speculates
that Eberlein’s comments were an intentional ruse. She has
written a play on Helicon Hall, based on the Eberleins’
remembrances, which conjectures that steel trust spies were
posing as residents and had set the fire. Laurel Hessing,
"Dream of a Summer Night," unpublished; Laurel Hessing to
author, 4 March 1992.
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the mortgage.’ sinclair also had been charged the day
before the fire with failing to pay a painting bill. He
explained that the colony had not paid the bill because
painter James Harris had demanded an hourly rate when it had
been agreed that payment would be based on the number of
rooms painted. For three months the colony had refused to
pay the bill because it averaged out to twenty-three dollars
a room rather than the contracted twelve dollars a room.
Sinclair insisted that "the colony was prosperous
financially [and] had refused money." A July 19, 1907 memo
from Sinclair to Home Colony Company stockholders iﬁdicates
that Harris eventually was paid seven hundred dollars.'
Despite Sinclair’s remarks to the contrary, some
colonists were worried about Helicon’s financial conditions.
After the fire, Grace MacGowan Cooke labeled the colony’s

aims inchoate, and Frances and Edwin Bjorkman claimed to

®rDynamite Found at Helicon Hall," New York American,
18 March 1907, p. 3; "Did Bomb Fire Helicon Hall?" Newark
Evening News, 18 March 1907, p. 1.

¥Ynpid Bomb Fire Helicon Hall?" Newark Evening News, 18
March 1907, p. 1. Sinclair was later summoned to appear
before the N.J. Supreme Court to answer Harris’s suit for
$898 against the colony, although no record of this
appearance was located, probably because the $700 had been
paid. Baltimore Sun, 4 April 1907, P. 11; Upton Sinclair to
Charles H. Castle and Frederick W. Sparks, 19 July 1907,
Upton Sinclair Papers, Lilly Library, Indiana University,
Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Sinclair Papers).
Lilly Library houses the Sinclair Papers, which include his
personal papers, and the Sinclair Collection, which includes
printed works.
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have seen rough times ahead.?® Meta Sinclair was more
blunt. While she accused Sinclair of arson during their
bitter divorce battle, she also prepared a more clinical
dissection of the colony’s problems for her unpublished

autobiographical novel Corydon and Thrysis:

The affairs of H.H. were taking a very bad turn. They
were beginning to run behind and it seemed impossible
to make it pay for itself. Apparently it was doomed to
failure. Everyone was paying as much as he could or
thought he should and yet the responsibility fell upon
Thrysis. There was always a deficit which he had to
make up.?

Bergen County Coroner Archibald Lees scheduled an
inquest into Briggs’s death for March 21, 1907, five days
after the fire. He contributed to speculation on the
colony’s demise by freely commenting on any and all rumors.
Lees sent detectives to interrogate colonists and appointed
six prominent Englewood residents to the jury: Donald
Mackay, Englewood mayor and millionaire banker; G. L.
Miller, city assessor; William Conklin, city councilman; J.
H. Tillotson, owner and editor of Englewood Press; F. W.
Bergendahl, grocer; and T. S. Treadwell, doctor.

During the inquest the coroner and jury members queried

Sinclair and other colonists. According to newspaper

®Grace MacGowan Cooke to My Dear Nautilus Friends, 21
March 1907, in The Nautilus 5 (May 1907): 10-11l; Frances
Maule Bjorkman, "Practical Experiment in Fletcherism,"
World’s Work 15 (February 1908): 9877-78.

?'Meta Sinclair, Synopsis--Corydon and Thrysis, p. 18,
Meta Fuller Stone Papers, Lilly Library, Indiana University,

Bloomington, Ind. (hereafter cited as Stone Papers).
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reports, they focused on conditions at the colony rather
than the cause of the fire. Financial superintendent Emma
Erskine Hahn claimed that she personally had decided not to
buy five thousand dollars worth of Home Colony Company stock
because of poor administration.? Further, she stated:

I told Mr. Sinclair that the project would never be a

success because we were running behind in money and

because of dissentions among the colonists. . . .

Things were in a bad state.

Newspapers reported that the jurors "grilled" Sinclair,
who arrived on crutches. Often badgering him with
aggressive and sarcastic questions, they asked for .a
description of the temporary quarters constructed for
employees in the third floor studio and why there were locks
on neither the front door nor on individual rooms.
Additional questions focused on financial matters and the
building’s lack of fire escapes. Sinclair admitted that
kerosene and explosive powders usually stored in the barn
were in the main building as painting and excavating were in

progress. Only one newspaper reported that Sinclair

admitted that the colony had monetary concerns.2

Zugjinclair Colony Censured," New York Times, 22 March
1907{ sec. 3, p. 2; "Censure for the Colony Managers, "
Evening Record and Bergen County Herald, 22 March 1907, p.
1.

Bwsinclair Colony Censured," New York Times, 22 March
1907, sec. 3, p. 2.

%ncrills Author at Coroner’s Inquest," New York World,
22 March 1907, p. 7. Because the colony’s accounting books
were destroyed, it is difficult to assess its financial
status at the time of the fire.
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During the questioning a mail carrier delivered an
anonymous letter to the coroner:

If you want to get the truth, probe. Find who is to

gain by the fire. The plan miscarried. Therefore, a

life was lost. Force the Hahn woman to tell all. Put

Sinclair on the rack. Edwin Bjorkman can give some

facts if forced. One who knows.® .

The jury decided to ignore the letter and proceed with the
inquest.

Sinclair left immediately after the jurors finished
questioning him. The coroner reminded the jurors of the
colony directors’ disregard "for the care and safety of all
these persons piled in one place."® Five minutes later
the jury returned with its verdict:

We hereby severely censure the board of managers of

Helicon Hall Colony and the corporation for not making

any adequate provision for the saving of life from fire

in a building containing sixty-two souls.?
The coroner announced that Assistant Prosecutor John S.

Mackay would present the case to the Bergen County Grand

Jury in April.® He indicated that he believed the fire

#nGrills Author at Coroner’s Inquest," New York World,
22 March 1907, p. 7.

¥nginclair Colony Blamed for Fire," New York Herald,
22 March 1907, p. 3.

InFire Destroys Helicon Hall," Englewood Press, 23
March 1907, p. 3.

81t is unlikely that any Grand Jury investigation was
ever made of the fire and Briggs’s death. No newspaper
reports of the investigation could be located, nor does
Sinclair, or anyone else, make any reference to this.
Bergen County records do not list any hearing on the colony;
according to the office of the court administrator, minutes
of Grand Jury hearings are destroyed after six years.
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might have been caused by a lighted match dropped by a
careless student. The mysterious student is not identified,
and it is unclear to whom the coroner is referring.
Curiously, at least one scholar blamed Yale undergraduate
Sinclair Lewis for the fire, an allegation he implies was
commonly held. However, Lewis is not listed among colony
survivors in newspaper articles and had left the colony in
early December, according to biographer Mark Schorer.?

The inquest did not determine why no one had been able
to rouse Lester Briggs from a deep sleep. Margaret Hogue
thought she had heard him respond when she banged 65 his
door and was surprised that he had not escaped. Sinclair
later charged that the only one who had ever drunk liquor at
the colony was Briggs the night of the fire. Several
newspapers reported that Briggs, an apprentice carpenter,
had been initiated into the local union a few hours before
the fire.¥® others speculated that Briggs may have been
suffering the effects of an anesthesia administered the
previous afternoon when he had stitches removed from his

eyes following surgery a week earlier; colonists remembered

29George Kummer, Harry leon Wilson (Cleveland: Press of
Western Reserve University, 1963), 69; Mark Schorer,
Sinclair Tewis: An American Life (New York: McGraw-Hill Book
Co., 1%61), 11s.

Bnpire Destroys Upton Sinclair’s Colony Home," New
York World, 17 March 1907, p. 4.
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him complaining of drowsiness and going to bed early.>

No new evidence has come to light substantiating either
the arson or accidental theories offered to explain the
Helicon Home Colony fire. The fact that the colony may have
been having financial difficulties does not appear
significant, as the insurance policies did not benefit any
one person. The coroner’s supposition that the fire was
caused by a careless smoker may have been closer to the
truth. 1In Love’s Progress, a car driven by Jonathan Hariand
(Sinclair’s fictional name for John-Armistead Collier) skids
off the road, killing Mrs. Huntley Sheldon, one of'ﬁis
passengers. Mrs. Sheldon’s estate refuses to continue
financing Thrysis’s proletarian opera, forcing him to move
out of her house in the Adirondacks. After the car accident
Thrysis describes Harland as,

a much saddened and chastened evangelist. Pitiful

it was to see his humility. ‘It is I who have

wrecked everything,’ he seemed to say.3
While no direct evidence has been found to link Collier with
the colony fire, it is at least possible that Sinclair
thought he was somehow involved, especially since he knew
Collier had been awake only an hour before the blaze was
discovered.

Ensconced once again in New York City, Sinclair

Snginclair’s Colony May Not Be Rev1ved " Brooklyn
Daily Eagle, 17 March 1907, p. 5.

%sinclair, Love’s Progress--Early Draft, p. 378,
Sinclair Papers.
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attacked the jurors’ line of questioning and attempted to
explain his answers. He resented questions related to keys
and accommodations, which he believed implied that the
colonists were immoral. Their doors were unlocked because
they trusted their friends, and the employees’ quarters
offered "as much privacy . . . as in any Pullman car."
Sinclair insisted that the colonists had not socialized with
Englewood residents because they "were ashamed of our mode
of living," but because they were busy and "did not care to
take the time to go outside of our own circle." He
speculated that the jurors were angry because theré-had been
some delays in paying bills due to former financial
superintendent Stephen Randall’s illness and subsequent
recuperation in Cuba, where he had taken the accounting
books. According to Sinclair, these bills had been paid
upon Randall’s return prior to the fire. He concluded that
the colony would be reestablished, although not in Englewood
because of the "psychologicai obstacles" such a decision
would create.®

The Englewood Press disputed Sinclair’s claim that the
colony had done business with the jurors and asserted that
he was lying again, just as he had in The Jungle. 1In
contrast, the nearby Hackensack Republican criticized the

jury for trying "to bait" Sinclair and "drag from their

BwHelicon Hall’s Morals Good," New York Sun, 23 March
1907, p. 3.
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lurking places a choice aggregation of skeletons with which
the gossips had peopled the Bohemian house of the
dreamers. "3

Twelve years after the fire, Sinclair cynically
criticized the jurors as "the village horse-doctor and the
village barber and the village grocer." He again praised
the colonists’ morals, although he admitted that every hotel
manager--even one running a co-operative hotel--considers
himself lucky when only a few indiscretions occur.® The
jurors’ accusations continued to infuriate Sinclair. BHis
autobiography rails against their charges of "free'iove“ and
emphasizes their inconsistency in censuring the colony both
for failing to purchase fire escapes before the fire and for
voting to purchase fire escapes the week of the fire.3

In the days following the colony destruction, residents
took stock of their personal situations. Most scattered to
the homes of friends and relatives in the area, while a few
camped out on the Englewood property. They met several
times in the colony barn to discuss plans for a new site and
for re-establishing the colony. Emma Erskine Hahn and Anna

and William Noyes distributed donations of food and clothes.

4npress Observation," Englewood Press, 30 March 1907;
Untitled Editorial, Hackensack Republican, 28 March 1907, p.
4,

¥sinclair, Brass Check, 69-71.

*Upton sinclair, The Autobjography of Upton Sinclai
(New York: Harcourt, Brace & World, Inc., 1962), 135.
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In separate interviews Sinclair, Wiliiam Noyes, and Michael
Williams stated that the fire was only a temporary setback
and had not destroyed the colony’s drive. They claimed that
donations and sympathy would soon rebuild the colony,
possibly at Hahn’s Stamford, Connecticut estate.3

The amused and tolerant tone that had characterized
reports of colony life was missing from much of the coverage
of the fire and its aftermath. Editorialists blamed
Sinclair personally for Briggs’s death and criticized him
for endangering the lives of the other colonists. Many
characterized him as a hypocrite--eager to expose déngerous
conditions in the meatpacking industry but unwilling to
safeguard the lives of those for whom he had responsibility.
"In the light of the flames of Helicon Hall it is
interesting to glance through the frantic pages of ‘The
Jungle’ a second time," commented Pearson’s Magazine. An
American Magazine writer cited selfishness and a lack of
"proper intelligence" for both the colony fire and the beef

trust, adding that The Jungle would have had another

357For discussion of colonists’ immediate plans, see
"Sinclair Colony to Try Tent Life," New York Times, 19 March
1907, p. 16; "Sinclair Colony’s Plans," New York Post, 19
March 1907, p. 9; "Sinclair Colony May Not Be Revived,"
Brooklyn Daily Eagle, 17 March 1907, P- 5; "Helicon Hall
Destroyed,™ Appeal to Reason, 30 March 1907, p. 3; and "The
Burning of Helicon Hall," The Reader 9 (May 1907): 678-79.
In May 1907 Frances Maule Bjorkman wrote Meta Sinclair that
she and Edwin had no money left “thanks to our Stamford
adventure." This may have been a reference to an attempt by
some colonists to reorganize at Hahn’s estate; no other
mention or record was located. Frances [Maule Bjorkman] to
Meta Sinclair, 30 May 1907, Stone Papers.
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"thrilling" chapter had Sinclair discovered employers
crowding workers into one house and "“as negligent of their
lives and property" as he had been with those of the
colonists.3®

Other journalists cynically used the fire "to prove"
that socialists were not as morally superior as they acted.
"Human nature in Socialists is very human," read a New York
World editorial that likened the colony destruction to any
other failed capitalistic venture. The Newark Evening News
ran a front-page editorial cartoon of a burning Helicon Hall
with the caption, "For All Such Dreams Must End in'.
Smoke."” A number of favorable articles written before
the fire but a